
pds1311 

Page 1 of 22 

Wacks & Hartmann, LLC 
Attorneys at Law 
55 Madison Avenue, Suite 320A   
Morristown, NJ 07960-7397 
Telephone:  (973) 644-0770 
Attorneys for Plaintiff, Christine M. Nicholas 
 
 
 

 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
DISTRICT OF NEW JERSEY 

 
 
CHRISTINE M. NICHOLAS, an 
individual; on behalf of herself and all 
others similarly situated, 
 
  Plaintiffs, 
 
 vs. 
 
CMRE FINANCIAL SERVICES, INC., 
a California Corporation; and JOHN 
AND JANE DOES NUMBERS 1 
THROUGH 25, 
 
  Defendants. 
 

Civil Action No. _________________ 
 

 
 
 

CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT 
and 

DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL 

 
 Plaintiff, Christine M. Nicholas, on behalf of herself and all others similarly 

situated, by way of Complaint against the Defendants, says: 

I.  PARTIES 

1. CHRISTINE M. NICHOLAS (“NICHOLAS”) is a natural person 

who, at all times relevant to this complaint, resided in the Borough of Upper 

Saddle River, Bergen County, New Jersey. 
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2. At all times relevant to this complaint, CMRE FINANCIAL 

SERVICES, INC. (“CMRE”) is a for-profit corporation existing pursuant to the 

laws of the State of California. CMRE maintains its principal business address at 

3075 East Imperial Highway, Suite 200, City of Brea, Orange County, California. 

3. Defendants, JOHN AND JANE DOES NUMBERS 1 THROUGH 25, 

are sued under fictitious names as their true names and capacities are yet unknown 

to Plaintiffs. Plaintiffs will amend this complaint by inserting the true names and 

capacities of these DOE defendants once they are ascertained.  

II.  JURISDICTION & VENUE 

4. With respect to Plaintiff’s claims under the Fair Debt Collection 

Practices Act, 15 U.S.C. §§ 1692 et seq. (“FDCPA”), jurisdiction of this Court 

arises under 15 U.S.C. § 1692k(d) and 28 U.S.C. § 1331.  

5. With respect to Plaintiff’s claims under the Telephone Consumer 

Protection Act, 47 U.S.C. § 227 et seq. (“TCPA”), jurisdiction is proper under 28 

U.S.C. § 1332(d)(2) because Plaintiff seeks up to $1,500.00 in damages for each 

telephone call in violation of the TCPA, which, when aggregated among a 

proposed class number in the tens of thousands, exceeds the $5,000,000.00 

threshold required for federal court jurisdiction. Additionally, Plaintiff has alleged 

a national class, which will result in at least one class member belonging to a 

different state.  Therefore, both elements of diversity jurisdiction under the Class 
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Action Fairness Act of 2005 are present, and this Court has jurisdiction.  

6. Declaratory relief is available pursuant to under 28 U.S.C. §§ 2201, 

2202. 

7. Venue is appropriate in this federal district pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 

1391(b) because a substantial part of the events giving rise to Plaintiffs’ claims 

occurred within this federal judicial district, and because CMRE resides in the 

State of New Jersey within the meaning of 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b) and (c). 

III.  PRELIMINARY STATEMENT 

8. Plaintiff, on her own behalf and on behalf of the class she seeks to 

represent, and demanding a trial by jury, brings this action for the illegal practices 

of the Defendants who used false, deceptive and misleading practices, and other 

illegal practices, in connection with their attempts to collect alleged debts from the 

Plaintiff and others. The Plaintiff alleges that the Defendants’ collection practices 

violate the FDCPA. 

9. Such practices include, inter alia: 

(a) Leaving telephonic voice messages for consumers, which fail to 

provide meaningful disclosure of Defendants’ identity;  

(b) Leaving telephonic voice messages for consumers, which fail to 

disclose that the call is from a debt collector; and 

(c) Leaving telephonic voice messages for consumers, which fail to 
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disclose the purpose or nature of the communication (i.e. an attempt to 

collect a debt).  

10. The FDCPA regulates the behavior of collection agencies attempting 

to collect a debt on behalf of another. The United States Congress has found 

abundant evidence of the use of abusive, deceptive, and unfair debt collection 

practices by many debt collectors, and has determined that abusive debt collection 

practices contribute to a number of personal bankruptcies, marital instability, loss 

of jobs, and invasions of individual privacy. Congress enacted the FDCPA to 

eliminate abusive debt collection practices by debt collectors, to ensure that those 

debt collectors who refrain from using abusive debt collection practices are not 

competitively disadvantaged, and to promote uniform State action to protect 

consumers against debt collection abuses. 15 U.S.C. § 1692(a) - (e).  

11. The FDCPA is a strict liability statute, which provides for actual or 

statutory damages upon the showing of one violation. The Third Circuit has held 

that whether a debt collector’s conduct violates the FDCPA should be judged from 

the standpoint of the “least sophisticated consumer.” Graziano v. Harrison, 950 

F.2d 107, 111, fn5 (3d Cir. 1991). 

12. To prohibit harassment and abuses by debt collectors the FDCPA, at 

15 U.S.C. § 1692d, provides that a debt collector may not engage in any conduct 

the natural consequence of which is to harass, oppress, or abuse any person in 
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connection with the collection of a debt and names a non-exhaustive list of certain 

per se violations of harassing and abusive collection conduct. 15 U.S.C. § 

1692d(1)-(6). Among the per se violations is the placement of telephone calls 

without meaningful disclosure of the caller’s identity, 15 U.S.C. § 1692d(6). 

13. To prohibit deceptive practices, the FDCPA, at 15 U.S.C. § 1692e, 

outlaws the use of false, deceptive, and misleading collection letters and names a 

non-exhaustive list of certain per se violations of false and deceptive collection 

conduct. 15 U.S.C. § 1692e(1)-(16). Among these per se violations are: the failure 

by debt collectors to disclose in initial oral communications that the debt collector 

is attempting to collect a debt and that any information obtained will be used for 

that purpose, and the failure to disclose in subsequent oral communications with 

consumers that the communication is from a debt collector, 15 U.S.C. § 1692e(11). 

14. Additionally, the Plaintiff, on her own behalf and on behalf of the 

class she seeks to represent, and demanding a trial by jury, also brings this action 

for the illegal practices of the Defendants who negligently, knowingly, and/or 

willfully contacted Plaintiff and other persons on their cellular telephones in 

violation of the Telephone Consumer Protection Act, 47 U.S.C. § 227 et seq. 

(“TCPA”) thereby invading the privacy of Plaintiff and others. 

15. The Plaintiff, on behalf of herself and all others similarly situated, 

seeks statutory damages, attorney fees, costs, and all other relief, equitable or legal 
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in nature, as deemed appropriate by this Court, pursuant to the FDCPA, TCPA, and 

all other common law or statutory regimes. The Plaintiff, on behalf of herself and 

all others similarly situated, requests that she and the class members be awarded 

statutory, common law, or actual damages payable by the Defendants. 

IV.  FACTS CONCERNING PLAINTIFF 

16. Sometime prior to October 2007, NICHOLAS allegedly incurred a 

financial obligation arising out of a transaction in which the money, property, 

insurance, or services which are the subject of the transaction are primarily for 

personal, family, or household purposes and defaulted on that obligation 

(“Nicholas Obligation”). 

17. The alleged Nicholas Obligation is a “debt” as defined by 15 U.S.C. 

§1692a(5). 

18. NICHOLAS is, at all times relevant to this complaint, a “consumer” 

as that term is defined by 15 U.S.C. § 1692a(3). 

19. NICHOLAS is informed and believes, and on that basis alleges, that 

sometime prior to October 2007, the creditor of the Nicholas Obligation either 

directly or through mesne transactions assigned, placed, transferred, or sold the 

debt to CMRE for collection. 

20. At all times relevant to this complaint, NICHOLAS is a “person” as 

defined by 47 U.S.C. § 153(32). 
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21. At all times relevant to this complaint, CMRE is a “person” as defined 

by 47 U.S.C. § 153(32). 

A. Facts Related to FDCPA Claims 

22. Within the one year immediately preceding the filing of this 

complaint, CMRE contacted NICHOLAS numerous times via telephone in an 

attempt to collect the alleged Nicholas Obligation.  

23. Within the one year immediately preceding the filing of this 

complaint, NICHOLAS received numerous “pre-recorded” telephonic voice 

messages on her cellular telephone (“Messages”).  

24. Each of the Messages was left by persons employed by CMRE in an 

attempt to collect the alleged Nicholas Obligation. 

25. Each of the Messages is a “communication” as defined by 15 U.S.C. § 

1692a(2). 

26. Each of the Messages uniformly failed to: 

(a) Provide meaningful disclosure of CMRE’s identity as the 

 caller; 

(b) Disclose that the communication was from a debt collector; and 

(c) Disclose the purpose or nature of the communication (i.e., an 

 attempt to collect a debt). 
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27. Each of the Messages is false, deceptive, and misleading in that the 

natural consequence of these communications is to harass, oppress, or abuse the 

least sophisticated consumer and other persons in violation of the FDCPA. 

28. Each of the Messages is false, deceptive, and misleading insofar as 

CMRE failed to give meaningful disclosure of its identity, disclose the purpose of 

its call, or disclose that CMRE is a debt collector, thereby circumventing 

Congress’s intent to deprive NICHOLAS of the ability to make an informed 

decision as to whether she wished to speak with a debt collector. 

B. Facts Related to Plaintiffs’ TCPA Claims    

29. On multiple occasions over numerous days, all prior to the date this 

Complaint was filed, but sometime after four years prior to the date this Complaint 

was filed, CMRE also contacted NICHOLAS on her cellular telephone via an 

“automatic telephone dialing system,” as defined by 47 U.S.C. § 227(a)(1) (“TCPA 

Calls”).   

30. NICHOLAS is informed and believes, and on that basis alleges, that 

during these TCPA Calls placed by CMRE to her cellular telephone, CMRE used 

“an artificial or prerecorded voice” as prohibited by 47 U.S.C. § 227 (b)(1)(A). 

31. At all times relevant to this complaint, NICHOLAS’s telephone 

number, to which CMRE placed its TCPA Calls, were assigned to a cellular 

telephone service for which NICHOLAS incurred charges for incoming calls 
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pursuant to 47 U.S.C. § 227(b)(1)(A)(iii). 

32. The TCPA Calls placed by CMRE to NICHOLAS constituted calls 

that were not for “emergency purposes” as contemplated by 47 U.S.C. § 

227(b)(1)(A). 

33. All of the CMRE artificial and prerecorded telephone messages left 

for NICHOLAS as a result of the TCPA Calls failed to state, at the beginning of 

the message, the identity of the business, individual, or other entity initiating the 

call. 

34. At no time did NICHOLAS ever provide CMRE with “prior express 

consent” to make any calls to her on her cellular telephone using an “automatic 

telephone dialing system” or an “artificial or prerecorded voice”.  

35. The TCPA Calls placed by CMRE to NICHOLAS’S cellular 

telephone were in violation of 47 U.S.C. § 227(b)(1)(A)(iii). 

XI.  POLICIES AND PRACTICES COMPLAINED OF 

36. It is CMRE’s policy and practice to leave telephonic voice messages 

for consumers and other persons, such as the Messages, that violate the FDCPA by 

uniformly failing to: 

(a) Provide meaningful disclosure of CMRE’s identity as the 

 caller; 

(b) Disclose that the communication is from a debt collector; and 
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(c) Disclose the purpose or nature of the communication. 

37. On information and belief, the Messages, as alleged in this complaint 

under the Facts Concerning Plaintiff, number at least in the thousands.  

38. It is also CMRE’s policy and practice to make calls to cellular 

telephones, such as the TCPA Calls, for non-emergency purposes and without the 

prior express consent of the called party, using automatic telephone dialing 

systems and artificial or prerecorded voices all in violation of 47 U.S.C. § 

227(b)(1)(A)(iii). 

39. On information and belief, the TCPA Calls, as alleged in this 

complaint under the Facts Concerning Plaintiff, number at least in the thousands.  

IX.  CLASS ALLEGATIONS 

40. This action is brought as a class action. Plaintiff brings this action on 

behalf of herself and on behalf of all other persons similarly situated pursuant to 

Rule 23 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure and seeks to certify two classes. 

41. The First Plaintiff Class consists of all persons with addresses in the 

United States of America who received a telephonic voice message from CMRE 

left after one-year immediately preceding the commencement of this civil action up 

through and including the date of preliminary class certification, which message 

failed to meaningfully identify CMRE as the caller, disclose that the 

communication was from a debt collector, or state the purpose or nature of the 
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communication. 

42. The Second Plaintiff Class consists of all persons with addresses in 

the United States of America who received a call from CMRE to their cellular 

telephone(s), for non-emergency purposes and without the prior express consent of 

the called party, wherein CMRE used an automatic telephone dialing system and 

artificial or prerecorded voices after four years immediately preceding the 

commencement of this civil action up through and including the date of 

preliminary class certification. 

43. The identities of all class members are readily ascertainable from the 

records of CMRE and those companies and governmental entities on whose behalf 

CMRE attempts to collects debts and places such telephone calls in violation of the 

TCPA. 

44. Excluded from the Plaintiff Classes are the Defendants and all 

officers, members, partners, managers, directors, and employees of CMRE, 

Defendants, and their respective immediate families, and legal counsel for all 

parties to this action and all members of their immediate families. 

45. With respect to Plaintiff’s FDCPA claims, the class period is one year 

prior to the filing of the initial complaint in this action and continues up to and 

including the date of preliminary class certification. 
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46. With respect to the Plaintiff’s TCPA claims, the class period is four 

years prior to the filing of the initial complaint in this action and continues up to 

and including the date of preliminary class certification. 

47. The Plaintiff and members of the Second Plaintiff Class, as defined 

supra, were harmed by the Defendants’ violative acts in at least the following 

ways: (i) by illegally contacting the Plaintiff and class members via their cellular 

telephones thereby causing Plaintiff and class members to incur certain cellular 

telephone charges or reduce the cellular telephone time for which Plaintiff and 

class members previously paid; (ii) by causing Plaintiff and class members to 

retrieve or administer illegal telephonic voice messages left by Defendants during 

those violative telephone calls; and (iii) by invading the privacy of Plaintiff and 

class members. 

48. With respect to the First Plaintiff Class, there are questions of law and 

fact common to the class, which common issues predominate over any issues 

involving only individual class members. Those principal issues are: whether the 

Defendants’ telephonic voice messages, such as the Messages, violate 15 U.S.C. 

§§ 1692d(6) and 1692e(11). 

49. With respect to the Second Plaintiff Class, there are questions of law 

and fact common to the class, which common issues predominate over any issues 

involving only individual class members.  
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50. Those principal issues are: 

(a) Whether, within the four years prior to the filing of this 

 Complaint,  Defendants made any call (other than a call  made 

 for emergency purposes or made with the prior express consent 

 of the called party) using an automatic telephone dialing system 

 or an artificial or prerecorded voice to any telephone number 

 assigned to a cellular telephone service in violation of 47 

 U.S.C. § 227(b)(1)(A)(iii); 

(b) Whether Plaintiff and members of the Second Plaintiff Class 

 were damaged by the Defendants’ violation of 47 U.S.C. § 

 227(b)(1)(A)(iii), and the extent of damages for such 

 violations; and 

(c) Whether the Defendants should be enjoined from engaging 

 in future conduct that violates 47 U.S.C. § 227(b)(1)(A)(iii).   

51. With respect to the Second Plaintiff Class, this lawsuit seeks only 

damages and injunctive relief for recovery of economic injury on behalf of the 

Plaintiff and the members of the Plaintiff Class she seeks to represent.  This 

lawsuit is expressly not intended to request any recovery for personal injury claims 

related to Defendants’ violations of the TCPA.  Plaintiff reserves the right, 

however, to expand the Second Class definition to seek recovery on behalf of 
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additional persons as warranted by facts that are learned through further 

investigation and discovery. 

52. The Plaintiff’s claims are typical of the class members, as all are 

based upon the same facts and legal theories. 

53. The Plaintiff will fairly and adequately protect the interests of the 

Plaintiff Classes defined in this complaint. The Plaintiff has retained counsel with 

experience in handling consumer lawsuits, complex legal issues, and class actions, 

and neither the Plaintiff nor her attorneys have any interests, which might cause 

them not to vigorously pursue this action. 

54. This action has been brought, and may properly be maintained, as a 

class action pursuant to the provisions of Rule 23 of the Federal Rules of Civil 

Procedure because there is a well-defined community interest in the litigation: 

(a) Numerosity: The Plaintiff is informed and believes, and on that basis 

alleges, that the classes defined above are so numerous that joinder of 

all members would be impractical. 

(b) Common Questions Predominate: Common questions of law and 

fact exist as to all members of the Plaintiff Classes and those 

questions predominate over any questions or issues involving only 

individual class members. The principal issues are: 

(i)  Whether the Defendants’ telephonic voice messages, 
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 such as the Messages, violate 15 U.S.C. §§ 1692d(6); 

(ii)  Whether the Defendants’ telephonic voice messages, 

 such as the  Messages, violate 15 U.S.C. §§ 1692e(11); 

(iii) Whether, within the four years prior to the filing of this 

 Complaint, Defendants made any call (other than a call 

 made for emergency purposes or made with the prior 

 express consent of the called party), such as the TCPA 

 Calls, using an automatic telephone dialing system or an 

 artificial or prerecorded voice to any telephone number 

 assigned to a cellular telephone service in violation of 47 

 U.S.C. § 227(b)(1)(A)(iii); 

(iv) Whether Plaintiff and the members of Plaintiff Classes 

 were  damaged by the Defendants’ violation of 47 U.S.C. 

 § 227(b)(1)(A)(iii), and the extent of damages for such 

 violations; and 

(v)  Whether the Defendants should be enjoined from 

 engaging in  future conduct that violates 47 U.S.C. § 

 227(b)(1)(A)(iii). 

(c) Typicality: The Plaintiff’s claims are typical of the claims of the class 

members. Plaintiff and all members of the Plaintiff classes have 

Case 2:08-cv-04857-JLL-CCC     Document 1      Filed 09/30/2008     Page 15 of 22



pds1311 

Page 16 of 22 

claims arising out of the Defendants’ common uniform course of 

conduct complained of herein. 

(d) Adequacy: The Plaintiff will fairly and adequately protect the 

interests of the class members insofar as Plaintiff has no interests that 

are adverse to the absent class members. The Plaintiff is committed to 

vigorously litigating this matter. Plaintiff has also retained counsel 

experienced in handling consumer lawsuits, complex legal issues, and 

class actions. Neither the Plaintiff nor her counsel has any interests 

which might cause them not to vigorously pursue the instant class 

action lawsuit. 

(e) Superiority: A class action is superior to the other available means 

for the fair and efficient adjudication of this controversy because 

individual joinder of all members would be impracticable. Class 

action treatment will permit a large number of similarly situated 

persons to prosecute their common claims in a single forum efficiently 

and without unnecessary duplication of effort and expense that 

individual actions would engender. An important public interest will 

be served by addressing the matter as a class action, substantial 

expenses to the litigants and to the judicial system will be realized, 

and the potential inconsistent or contradictory adjudications will be 
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avoided as contemplated by Rule 23(b)(1) of the Federal Rules of 

Civil Procedure. 

55. Certification of a class under Rule 23(b)(3) of the Federal Rules of 

Civil Procedure is also appropriate in that: 

(a) The questions of law and fact common to members of the Plaintiff 

Classes predominate over any questions affecting an individual 

member; and 

(b) A class action is superior to other available methods for the fair and 

efficient adjudication of the controversy. 

56. Plaintiff requests certification of a hybrid class combining the 

elements of Rule 23(b)(2) for equitable relief and Rule 23(b)(3) for monetary 

damages. 

X.  FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION  
VIOLATIONS OF THE FAIR DEBT COLLECTION PRACTICES ACT 

(AGAINST ALL DEFENDANTS) 
 

57. Plaintiff realleges and incorporates by reference the allegations in the 

preceding paragraphs of this Complaint. 

58. Defendants violated the FDCPA. Defendants’ violations with respect 

to the Messages include, but are not limited to, the following: 

(a) Placing telephone calls without providing meaningful 

 disclosure of CMRE’s identity as the caller in violation of 15 
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 U.S.C. § 1692d(6). 

(b) Failing to disclose in its initial communication with the 

 consumer that CMRE is  attempting to collect a debt and that 

 any information obtained will be used for that purpose, which 

 constitutes a violation of 15 U.S.C. § 1692e(11). 

(c) Failing to disclose in all oral communications that CMRE is a 

 debt collector in violation of 15 U.S.C. § 1692e(11). 

XI.  SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION  
NEGLIGENT VIOLATIONS OF THE TELEPHONE CONSUMER  

PROTECTION ACT, 47 U.S.C. § 227(b)(1)(A)(iii) 
(AGAINST ALL DEFENDANTS) 

 
59. Plaintiff realleges and incorporates by reference the allegations in the 

preceding paragraphs of this Complaint. 

60. The Defendants’ foregoing acts and omissions, as set forth and 

described at length above in the Facts Concerning Plaintiff, constitute numerous 

and multiple negligent violations of the TCPA, including but not limited to 47 

U.S.C. § 227(b)(1)(A)(iii). 

61. As a result of the Defendants’ negligent violations of 47 U.S.C. § 

227(b)(1)(A)(iii), Plaintiff and the members of the Second Plaintiff Class are 

entitled to an award of $500.00 in statutory damages, for each and every violation, 

pursuant to 47 U.S.C. § 227(b)(3)(B),(C). 
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62. As a result of the Defendants’ negligent violations of 47 U.S.C. § 

227(b)(1)(A)(iii), Plaintiff and the members of the Second Plaintiff Class are 

entitled to, and seek, injunctive relief pursuant to 47 U.S.C. § 227(b)(3)(A),(C) to 

enjoin Defendants from engaging in such violative conduct in the future. 

XII.  THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION  
KNOWING AND/OR WILLFUL VIOLATIONS OF THE TELEPHONE  

CONSUMER PROTECTION ACT, 47 U.S.C. § 227(b)(1)(A)(iii) 
(AGAINST ALL DEFENDANTS) 

 
63. Plaintiff realleges and incorporates by reference the allegations in the 

preceding paragraphs of this Complaint. 

64. The Defendants’ foregoing acts and omissions, as set forth and 

described at length above in the Facts Concerning Plaintiff, constitute numerous 

and multiple knowing and willful violations of the TCPA, including but not limited 

to 47 U.S.C. § 227(b)(1)(A)(iii). 

65. As a result of the Defendants’ knowing and willful violations of 47 

U.S.C. § 227(b)(1)(A)(iii), Plaintiff and the members of the Second Plaintiff Class 

are entitled to an award of treble damages, as provided by statute, up to $1,500.00 

for each and every violation, pursuant to 47 U.S.C. § 227(b)(3),(B),(C). 

66. As a result of the Defendants’ knowing and willful violations of 47 

U.S.C. § 227(b)(1)(A)(iii), Plaintiff and the members of the Second Plaintiff Class 

are entitled to, and seek, injunctive relief pursuant to 47 U.S.C. § 227(b)(3)(B),(C) 

to enjoin Defendants from engaging in such violative conduct in the future. 
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XIII.  PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

67. WHEREFORE, Plaintiff respectfully requests that the Court enter 

judgment in her favor and in favor of the putative classes as follows: 

A. For the FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION: 

(a) An order certifying that the First Cause of Action may be maintained 

 as a class pursuant to Rule 23 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure 

 and appointing NICHOLAS and the undersigned counsel to represent 

 the First Plaintiff Class as previously set forth and defined above. 

(b) An award of the maximum statutory damages for NICHOLAS and 

 the First Plaintiff Class pursuant to 15 U.S.C. § 1692k(a)(B); 

(c) Attorney’s fees, litigation expenses, and costs pursuant to 15 U.S.C. § 

 1692k(a)(B)(3); and 

(d) For such other and further relief as may be just and proper. 

B. For the SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION: 

(a) An order certifying that the Second Cause of Action may be 

 maintained as a class pursuant to Rule 23 of the Federal Rules of Civil 

 Procedure and appointing NICHOLAS and undersigned counsel to 

 represent the Second Plaintiff Class as previously set forth and 

 defined above. 
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(b) An award of $500.00 in statutory damages for NICHOLAS and each 

 member of the Second Plaintiff Class, as previously set forth and 

 defined above, for each and every negligent violation of the TCPA 

 pursuant to 47 U.S.C. § 227(b)(3)(B);  

(c) Injunctive relief for NICHOLAS and the members of the Second 

 Plaintiff Class pursuant to 47 U.S.C. § 227(b)(3)(A),(C) to enjoin the 

 Defendants from engaging in future violations of 47 U.S.C. § 

 227(b)(1)(A)(iii) as complained of herein;  

(d) An award of costs and disbursements incurred by NICHOLAS and the 

 Second Plaintiff Class in connection with this action, including 

 reasonable attorneys’ fees, expert witness fees, and other costs; and 

(e) For such other and further relief as the Court deems just and proper. 

C. For the THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION: 

(a) An order certifying that the Third Cause of Action may be maintained 

 as a class pursuant to Rule 23 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure 

 and appointing Plaintiffs and undersigned counsel to represent the 

 Second Plaintiff Class as  previously set forth and defined above. 

(b) An award of treble damages of up to $1,500.00, as provided by 

 statute, in for Plaintiffs and each member of the Second Plaintiff 

 Class, as previously set forth and defined above, for each and every 
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 willful and/or knowing violation of the TCPA pursuant to 47 U.S.C. § 

 227(b)(3)(B);  

(c) Injunctive relief for Plaintiffs and the members of the Second Plaintiff 

 Class pursuant to 47 U.S.C. § 227(b)(3)(A),(C) to enjoin the 

 Defendants from engaging in future violations of 47 U.S.C. § 

 227(b)(1)(A)(iii) as complained of herein;  

(d) An award of costs and disbursements incurred by Plaintiffs and the 

 Second Plaintiff Class in connection with this action, including 

 reasonable attorneys’ fees, expert witness fees, and other costs; and 

(e) For such other and further relief as the Court deems just and proper. 

 WACKS & HARTMANN, LLC 
 

/s/ Philip D. Stern 
Dated: September 30, 2008 PHILIP D. STERN 

Attorney for Plaintiff, Christine M. Nicholas 
 

XVI.  DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL 
 

 PLEASE TAKE NOTICE THAT Plaintiff demands a trial by jury against 

the Defendants, and each of them, for each cause of action so triable.  

 WACKS & HARTMANN, LLC 
 

/s/ Philip D. Stern 
Dated: September 30, 2008 PHILIP D. STERN 

Attorney for Plaintiff, Christine M. Nicholas 
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
District of

SUMMONS IN A CIVIL ACTION
V.

CASE NUMBER:

TO: (Name and address of Defendant)

YOU ARE HEREBY SUMMONED and required to serve on PLAINTIFF’S ATTORNEY (name and address)

an answer to the complaint which is served on you with this summons, within days after service
of this summons on you, exclusive of the day of service.  If you fail to do so, judgment by default will be taken against you
for the relief demanded in the complaint.  Any answer that you serve on the parties to this action must be filed with the
Clerk of this Court within a reasonable period of time after service.

CLERK DATE

(By) DEPUTY CLERK
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RETURN OF SERVICE 

Service of the Summons and complaint was made by me(1)
DATE

NAME OF SERVER (PRINT) TITLE

     Check one box below to indicate appropriate method of service

G Served personally upon the defendant.  Place where served:

G Left copies thereof at the defendant’s dwelling house or usual place of abode with a person of suitable age and
discretion then residing therein.

Name of person with whom the summons and complaint were left:

G Returned unexecuted:

G Other (specify):

STATEMENT OF SERVICE FEES
TRAVEL SERVICES TOTAL

DECLARATION OF SERVER

I declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of the United States of America that the foregoing information 
contained in the Return of Service and Statement of Service Fees is true and correct.

Executed on
Date Signature of Server

Address of Server

(1) As to who may serve a summons see Rule 4 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure.
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BUDD LARNER, P.C.
150 John F. Kennedy Parkway
Short Hills, New Jersey 07078
973-379-4800
Attorneys for Defendant
CMRE Financial Services, Inc.

IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF NEW JERSEY

CHRISTINE M. NICHOLAS,
an individual; on behalf of
herself and all others similarly
situated,

Plaintiffs,

- against -

CMRE FINANCIAL SERVICES, INC.,
a California Corporation; and
JOHN AND JANE DOES NUMBERS 1
THROUGH 25,

Defendants.

TO: ALL COUNSEL OF RECORD

Civ. Action No.
08-4857 (JLL)

NOTICE OF MOTION FOR
MORE DEFINITE STATEMENT
WITH CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

MOTION RETURN DATE:
DECEMBER 1, 2008

PLEASE TAKE NOTICE, that on Monday, December 1, 2008, at

9:00 A.M. or as soon thereafter as counsel may be heard, the

at torneys for defendant, CMRE Financial Services, Inc., shall

apply, by way of motion, before the United States District Court

for the District of New Jersey for an Order pursuant to Fed. R.

Civ. P. 12 (e), compelling plaintiff to provide a more definite

statement of the claims asserted in her Complaint and granting

such other relief as is just and equitable.

BUDD LARNER, P.C. 
150 John F. Kennedy Parkway 
Short Hills, New Jersey 07078 
973-379-4800 
Attorneys for Defendant 
CMRE Financial Services, Inc. 

IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE DISTRICT OF NEW JERSEY 

CHRISTINE M. NICHOLAS, 
an individual; on behalf of 
herself and all others similarly 
situated, 

Plaintiffs, 

- against -

CMRE FINANCIAL SERVICES, INC., 
a California Corporation; and 
JOHN AND JANE DOES NUMBERS 1 
THROUGH 25, 

Defendants. 

TO: ALL COUNSEL OF RECORD 

Civ. Action No. 
08-4857 (JLL) 

NOTICE OF MOTION FOR 
MORE DEFINITE STATEMENT 
WITH CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

MOTION RETURN DATE: 
DECEMBER 1, 2008 

PLEASE TAKE NOTICE, that on Monday, December 1, 2008, at 

9: 00 A. M. or as soon thereafter as counsel may be heard, the 

at torneys for defendant, CMRE Financial Services, Inc., shall 

apply, by way of motion, before the United States District Court 

for the District of New Jersey for an Order pursuant to Fed. R. 

Civ. P. 12 (e), compelling plaintiff to prov ide a more definite 

statement of the claims asserted in her Complaint and granting 

such other relief as is just and equitable . 
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PLEASE TAKE FURTHER NOTICE that defendant shall rely upon

the Memorandum of Law, Affidavit of David A. Niles, and proposed

form of Order submitted herewith.

~-....

~~C.~~A
Virginia A. Pallotto
David A. Niles
BUDD LARNER, P.C.
Attorneys for Defendant
CMRE Financial Services, Inc.

Dated: November 6, 2008

- 2 -

PLEASE TAKE FURTHER NOTICE that defendant shall rely upon 

the Memorandum of Law, Affidav it of David A. Niles, and proposed 

form of Order submitted herewith. 

Dated: Nov ember 6, 2008 

~~C.~~A 
Virginia A. Pallotto 
David A. Niles 
BUDD LARNER, P.C. 
Attorney s for Defendant 
CMRE Financial Services, Inc. 

- 2 -
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I hereby certify that on this 6th day of November, 2008, I
caused one copy of the foregoing NOTICE OF MOTION FOR A MORE
DEFINITE STATEMENT, along with copies of an accompanying
MEMORANDUM OF LAW IN SUPPORT OF MOTION, AFFIDAVIT OF COUNSEL and
a PROPOSED FORM OF ORDER to be:

(1 ) Electronically filed with the U.S. District Court
for the District of New Jersey;

(2) Served via regular mail upon
plaintiff at the following address:

Philip D. Stern
Wacks & Hartmann, LLC
55 Madison Avenue, Suite 320A
Morristown, NJ 07960-7397; and

counsel for

(3 )

694489w

Sent via regular mail, as a courtesy copy
pursuant to Chambers' standing practices, to:

Honorable Jose L. Linares, U.S.D.J.
Martin Luther King, Jr. Federal
Building &
U.S. Courthouse
50 Walnut Street, Room 5054
Newark, NJ 07101-0999

- 3 -

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I hereby certify that on this 6th day of November, 2008, I 
caused one copy of the foregoing NOTICE OF MOTION FOR A MORE 
DEFINITE STATEMENT, along with copies of an accompanying 
MEMORANDUM OF LAW IN SUPPORT OF MOTION, AFFIDAVIT OF COUNSEL and 
a PROPOSED FORM OF ORDER to be: 

(1 ) 

(2) 

(3 ) 

694489w 

Electronically filed with the u.S. District Court 
for the District of New JerseYi 

Served via regular mail upon 
plaintiff at the following address: 

Philip D. Stern 
Wacks & Hartmann, LLC 
55 Madison Avenue, Suite 320A 
Morristown, NJ 07960-7397i and 

counsel for 

Sent via regular mail, as a courtesy copy 
pursuant to Chambers' standing practices, to: 

Honorable Jose L. Linares, U.S.D.J. 
Martin Luther King, Jr. Federal 
Building & 
u.S. Courthouse 
50 Walnut Street, Room 5054 
Newark, NJ 07101-0999 

- 3 -



Case 2:08-cv-04857-JLL-CCC     Document 5-2      Filed 11/06/2008     Page 1 of 21

BUDD LARNER, P.C.
150 John F. Kennedy Parkway
Short Hills, New Jersey 07078
973-379-4800
Attorneys for Defendant
CMRE Financial Services, Inc.

IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF NEW JERSEY

CHRISTINE M. NICHOLAS,
an individual; on behalf of
herself and all others similarly
situated,

Plaintiffs,

- against -

CMRE FINANCIAL SERVICES, INC.,
a California Corporation; and
JOHN AND JANE DOES NUMBERS 1
THROUGH 25,

Defendants.

Civ. Action No.
o8 - 4 8 57 (JLL)

MOTION RETURN DATE:
December 1, 2008

MEMORANDUM OF LAW IN SUPPORT OF DEFENDANT'S MOTION FOR A MORE
DEFINITE STATEMENT PURSUANT TO FED. R. CIV. P. 12(e)

BUDD LARNER, P . C . 
150 John F. Kennedy Parkway 
Short Hills, New Jersey 07078 
973-3 79 -4800 
Attorney s for Defendant 
CMRE Financial Services, Inc . 

IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE DISTRICT OF NEW JERSEY 

CHRISTINE M. NICHOLAS, 
an individual; on behalf of 
herself and all others similarly 
situated, 

Plaintiffs, 

- against -

CMRE FINANCIAL SERVICES, INC., 
a California Corporation; and 
JOHN AND JANE DOES NUMBERS 1 
THROUGH 25, 

Defendants. 

Civ. Action No. 
08-4857 (JLL) 

MOTION RETURN DATE: 
December I, 2008 

MEMORANDUM OF LAW IN SUPPORT OF DEFENDANT'S MOTION FOR A MORE 
DEFINITE STATEMENT PURSUANT TO FED. R. CIV. P. 12{e) 
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PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

On September 30, 2008, plaintiff Christine M. Nicholas

("Plaintiff" or "Nicholas") filed this class action against

defendant CMRE Financial Services, Inc. ("CMRE") and twenty-five

unidentified, fictitious defendants. Plaintiff seeks damages

for alleged violations of the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act

("FDCPA") and the Telephone Consumer Protection Act ("TCPA").

Although Plaintiff repeatedly cites to these statutes, the

complaint does not provide sufficient factual detail to allow

CMRE to determine what defenses apply and frame a responsive

pleading.

CMRE, therefore, moves pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil

Procedure 12(e) to compel plaintiff to amend her complaint and

set forth a more definite statement of her claims and

allegations so that CMRE may frame defenses to both Plaintiff's

individual claim and her class allegations.

As to Plaintiff's individual claims under the FDCPA and

TCPA, Plaintiff fails to provide any meaningful information

regarding: (1) when the messages were placed, (2) where she

received the messages, (3 ) her residence and state of

citizenship at the time the messages were received and her

current residence and state of citizenshipi (4) the timing,

content and number of all messages and communications to

Plaintiffi (5) whether any of the messages were initial

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT 

On September 30, 2008, plaintiff Christine M. Nicholas 

("Plaintiff" or "Nicholas") filed this class action against 

defendant CMRE Financial Serv ices, Inc. ( "CMRE" ) and t wenty - fi v e 

unidentified, fictitious defendants. Plaintiff seeks damages 

for alleged v iolations of the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act 

("FDCPA") and the Telephone Consumer Protection Act ("TCPA"). 

Although Plaintiff repeatedly cites to these statutes, the 

complaint does not prov ide sufficient factual detail to allow 

CMRE to determine what defenses apply and frame a responsiv e 

pleading. 

CMRE, therefore, moves pursuant to Federal Rule of Civ il 

Procedure 12 (e ) to compel plaintiff to amend her complaint and 

set forth a more definite statement of her claims and 

allegations so that CMRE may frame defenses to both Plaintiff's 

individual claim and her class allegations. 

As to Plaintiff's individual claims under the FDCPA and 

TCPA, Plaintiff fails to provide any meaningful information 

regarding: (1) when the messages were placed, (2) where she 

received the messages, (3 ) her residence and state of 

citizenship at the time the messages were receiv ed and her 

current residence and state of citizenship; (4) the timing, 

content and number of all messages and communications to 

Plaintiff; (5 ) whether any of the messages were initial 



Case 2:08-cv-04857-JLL-CCC     Document 5-2      Filed 11/06/2008     Page 6 of 21

communications; or (6) the current status of her debt. This

information is necessary to raise substantive defenses under the

FDCPA and the TCPA and to credibly evaluate jurisdiction and

venue.

As to the alleged "national class," Plaintiff fails to

specify: (1) the factual basis for the allegation that a class

exists; (2) the identity, number and place of residence of the

currently known class members; (3) the timing, number, manner

and content of the communications directed to the currently

known class members; (4 ) the location where each of the

currently known class members received any telephone calls that

allegedly violate the FDCPA and the TCPA; and (5) the status of

underlying debts of the known class members. This information

is required to determine the potential defenses to the claims of

the known members of the alleged class and whether a defense to

the class allegations can be properly asserted pursuant to Rule

12(b) (6) on the grounds that the class facially fails to satisfy

the requirements of Rule 23 (b) (3) . The facts also go to venue,

jurisdiction and potential defenses under the Class Action

Fairness Act ("CAFA").

Absent these essential factual allegations, CMRE will

either have to guess at Plaintiff's factual allegations or

potentially waive defenses to CMRE's detriment. To avoid this

potential prej udice, the Court should grant an order directing
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Plaintiff to amend her pleadings to provide a more definite

statement.

PLAINTIFF'S COMPLAINT

Plaintiff filed her Complaint on September 30, 2008. See

Affidavit of Counsel submitted herewith, Exhibit 1, Complaint. 1

The Complaint asserts, both individually and on behalf of

purported class, one cause of action under the FDCPA (Count

One) and two causes of action the TCPA (Counts Two and Three) .

Plaintiff identifies herself only as "a natural person who,

at all times relevant to this complaint, resided in the Borough

of Upper Saddle River, Bergen County, New Jersey. (Complaint, ~

1.)

Plaintiff alleges that "sometime prior to October 2007,

NICHOLAS allegedly incurred a financial obligation arising out

of a transaction in which the money, property, insurance, or

services which are the subject of the transaction are primarily

for personal, family, or household purposes and defaulted on

that obligation." (Complaint, ~ 16.)

Per the Complaint, Plaintiff subsequently received

"numerous 'pre-recorded' telephonic voice messages on her

cellular telephone" within one year of the filing of complaint.

(Complaint, ~ 23.) She alleges that the messages "uniformly

1 Plaintiff's Complaint is attached to the Affidavit of counsel as Exhibit 1,
submitted herewith. For brevity, we cite herein simply to the "Complaint H

•
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failed to: (a) Provide meaningful disclosure of CMRE's identity

as the caller i (b) Disclose that the communication was from a

debt collector; and (c) Disclose the purpose or nature of the

communication (i. e. , an attempt to collect a debt) ."

(Complaint, ~ 25.) Plaintiff makes no further allegations as to

the number of alleged phone messages, the date(s) and content of

the messages, whether the messages constituted initial

communications, where she was when she received those messages,

or whether there were other communications besides the messages. 2

Similarly, as to her TCPA claims, Plaintiff alleges only

that "[0] n multiple occasions over numerous days, all prior to

the date this Complaint was filed, CMRE also contacted NICHOLAS

on her cellular telephone via an 'automatic telephone dialing

system, ' as defined by 47 U.S.C. § 227 (a) (1) " (Complaint,

29. ) Plaintiff makes no further allegations as to the actual

number of messages, dates of the messages and content of the

messages, her location where she received those messages,

whether the messages constituted initial communications, or

whether there were other communications besides the messages.

Plaintiff's Complaint also includes so-called "Class

Allegations" . Without any citation to specific facts, Plaintiff

2 Informally, Plaint if f has provided electronic recordings of two alleged
telephone messages. However, these recordings have not yet been
authenticated, and Plaintiff has not provided information regarding when and
where they were received and how these communications related to prior or
subsequent efforts to collect her underlying debt.
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posits the existence of a "national class", which consists of

two sub-classes: (1) a class consisting "of all persons with

addresses in the United States of America who received a

telephonic voice message from CMRE left after one-year

immediately preceding the commencement of this civil action up

through and including the date of preliminary class

certification, which message failed to meaningfully identify

CMRE as the caller, disclose that the communication was from a

debt collector, or state the purpose or nature of the

communication;" and (2) a class composed "of all persons with

addresses in the United States of America who received a call

from CMRE to their cellular telephone(s), for non-emergency

purposes and without the prior express consent of the called

party, wherein CMRE used an automatic telephone dialing system

and artificial or prerecorded voices after four years

immediately preceding the commencement of this civil action up

through and including the date of the preliminary class

certification." (Complaint, ~~ 41-42) (emphasis added) .

Plaintiff proposes that the class periods be one year for

the FDCPA claim and four years for the TCPA claim, yet she

provides no factual allegations that would support an alleged

four year period for the TCPA claims, or that she is a proper

class representative, when she alleges facts in the most general

way, which only date back one-year.

5
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Plaintiff alleges that jurisdiction for her FDCPA claims

arise under 15 U.S.C.

(Complaint, ~ 4.)

§ 1692k (d) , and 28 U.S.C. § 1331.

Plaintiff also contends that with respect to her TCPA

claims, "jurisdiction is proper because Plaintiff seeks up to

$1,500.00 in damages for each telephone call in violation of the

TCPA, which, when aggregated among a proposed class number in

the tens of thousands, exceeds the $5,000,000.00 threshold

required for federal court jurisdiction." (Complaint, ~ 5.)

Plaintiff also alleges contradictory facts, however, when she

states that "[0] n information and belief, that TCPA Calls, as

alleged in this complaint under the facts concerning plaintiff,

number at least in the thousands." (Complaint, ~ 39.)

Plaintiff further asserts without any factual detail that

venue is appropriate in the District of New Jersey "because a

substantial part of the events giving rise to Plaintiffs' claims

occurred within this federal judicial district, and because CMRE

resides in the State of New Jersey within the meaning of 28

U.S.C. § 1391(b) and (c)." (Complaint, ~ 7.)3

3 And yet nowhere in the Complaint does Plaintiff allege basic facts about the
events giving rise to this litigation, such as where she incurred the debt or
where the phone messages were sent or received. Indeed, Plaintiff alleges
contradictory facts about CMRE in her Complaint by alleging that it is a
California corporation with its principal place of business in California.
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Similarly, Plaintiff alleges, without any facts that the

"national class will result in at least one class member

belonging to a different state." (Complaint, ~ 5.)

Plaintiff asserts three causes of action, both individually

and as the proposed class representative. Count One alleges

that CMRE violated the FDCPA by: "(a) Placing telephone calls

wi thout providing meaningful disclosure of CMRE' s identity as

the caller in violation of 15 U.S.C. § 1692d(6) ; (b) Failing to

disclose in its initial communication with the consumer that

CMRE is attempting to collect a debt and that any information

obtained will be used for that purpose, which constitutes a

violation of 15 U.S.C. § 1692e(11) ; and (c) Failing to disclose

in all oral communications that CMRE is a debt collector in

violation of 15 U.S.C. § 1692e(11) " (Complaint, ~ 58.)

Count Two asserts that CMRE negligently violated the TCPA

protections found at 47 U.S.C. § 227(b) (1) (A) (iii).

Count Three alleges knowing and/or willful violations of 47

U.S.C. § 227(b) (1) (A) (iii). (Complaint, ~ 58.) Counts Two and

Three also seek injunctive relief pursuant to 47 U.S.C. §

227(b)(3)(A)

7
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ARGUMENT

POINT I

STANDARD FOR RULE 12(e)

Plaintiff's Complaint warrants relief under Fed. R. Civ. P.

12(e), which provides:

A party may move for a more definite statement of a
pleading to which a responsive pleading is allowed but
which is so vague or ambiguous that the party cannot
reasonably prepare a response. The motion must be made
before filing a responsive pleading and must point out
the defects complained of and the details desired. If
the court orders a more definite statement and the
order is not obeyed within 10 days after notice of the
order or within the time the court sets, the court may
strike the pleading or issue any other appropriate
order.

Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(e). Whether to grant a Rule 12(e) motion is

a matter within the discretion of the trial court. Wright &

Miller, Federal Practice and Procedure: Civil 3d ("Wright &

Miller") § 1377. See also Crawford-EI v. Britton, 523 U.S. 574,

596-598 (1998); Old Time Enters. v. International _Coffee Corp.,

862 F. 2d 1213, 1217 (5th Cir. 1989). "Moreover, the generally

accepted current construction of Rule 12(e) is that the

movant's ability to prepare a responsive pleading is to be

measured in terms of the minimal duty imposed on him by the

federal pleading rules and the possibility that he might be

prejudiced by attempting to answer the pleading in its existing

vague or ambiguous form." Wright & Miller § 1377.
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Absent the information specified below, CMRE cannot

adequately frame its defenses I and, therefore, any good faith

attempt to respond to Plaintiff's Complaint will prejudice CMRE

within the meaning of Rule 12(e). Thus, the Court should grant

CMRE's request for an order compelling the Plaintiff to amend

her Complaint to provide a more definite statement of the

factual bases for her claims, and cure the Complaint's material

defects.

POINT II

THE COMPLAINT IS DEFICIENT AND
SHOULD ISSUE AN ORDER COMPELLING
TO FILE A MORE SPECIFIC COMPLAINT

THE COURT
PLAINTIFF

A. The Complaint Does
Facts Necessary to
Frame its Defenses

Not Provide Sufficient Notice
Assert a Class Action or for

of the
CMRE to

The Complaint's most glaring defect is the lack of basic

factual allegations about the voice messages upon which

plaintiff bases her claims. Count One seeks relief for alleged

violations of 15 U.S.C. § 1692d(6) I which prohibits

communications without meaningful disclosure of the caller's

identity. To meet her pleading burden as to this claim,

Plaintiff relies on her statements that the messages "uniformly

failed to: (a) Provide meaningful disclosure of CMRE's identity

as the caller; (b) Disclose that the communication was from a

debt collector; and (c) Disclose the purpose or nature of the
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communication (i. e. , an attempt to collect a debt) /I

(Complaint, ~ 25).

These conclusory statements do not satisfy Plaintiff's

burden to provide CMRE with sufficient notice of her claims.

Plaintiff says nothing about the number or content of the

messages, the dates on which those messages were placed, or

whether any of the messages constitute an initial communication.

Plaintiff's allegations with respect to the dates the messages

were placed are necessary, for example, to determine not only

whether a statute of limitations defense lies under 15 U.S.C. §

1692k (d) (which provides that FDCPA claims must be brought

within one year of the violation), but also whether plaintiff's

allegations are similar to those of other potential class

members.

Similarly, the factual allegations concerning the number

and content of messages go to whether the Complaint on its face

even makes out claims under the FDCPA and the TCPA, and whether

Plaintiff, as the purported class representative, would be able

to satisfy class action requirements that, for example, common

questions predominate, typicality, adequacy, and superiority.

Count One also seeks relief under 15 U. S. C. § 16 92e (11) ,

which makes the following a violation of the FDCPA:

The failure to disclose in the initial written
communication with the consumer and, in addition, if
the initial communication with the consumer is oral,
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in that initial oral communication, that the debt
collector is attempting to collect a debt and that any
information obtained will be used for that purpose,
and the failure to disclose in subsequent
communications that the communication is from a debt
collector, except that this paragraph shall not apply
to a formal pleading made in connection with a legal
action.

15 U.S.C. § 1692e(l1). Plaintiff has brought claims under this

provision, but nowhere in her Complaint does she even hint at

how CMRE violated section 1692e(11). Liability under this

section depends on whether the communications constitute an

initial communication and whether there was sufficient

disclosure. Plaintiff does not indicate whether any of the

alleged messages constitute an "initial" communication or what

was allegedly disclosed or not disclosed.

The Complaint in its current state is deficient because it

gives CMRE no idea of the nature of the allegedly violative

messages other than the fact that the plaintiff thinks those

messages violated the FDCPA and the TCPA. See, ~, MTV

Networks v. Curry, 867 F. Supp. 207 (S.D.N.Y.

1994) (defendant's Rule 12 (e) motion granted because plaintiff's

complaint stated that defendant misappropriated the fruits of

plaintiff's labors and expenditures without specifying what

defendants misappropriated and how defendants committed unfair

competition) .
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Because Plaintiff's Complaint omits the factual allegations

that go to CMRE's potential defenses, including ones under Rule

12 (b) (6), the Court should enter an order compelling Plaintiff

to amend her Complaint.

B. The Complaint Does
Facts Necessary to
Defenses.

Not Provide
Assert Any

Sufficient Notice of the
of the Rule 12 (b) (2) - (3)

The Complaint also fails to make the factual allegations

that the defendant would need to determine whether to assert any

of the Rule 12(b) (2)-(3) defenses in a responsive pleading.

"When a complaint does not provide a defendant notice of the

facts underlying the plaintiff's claim(s), the defendant cannot

adequately frame a proper response and the \Rule 12 (e) motion

for a more definite statement is perhaps the best procedural

tool available to the defendant to obtain the factual basis

underlying [the] plaintiff's claim for relief. '" Millman v.

Subaru of America, Inc., 2008 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 17257, *5 (D.N.J.

March 6, 2008) (Linares, J.). Rules 12(g) and 12(h) require that

a responsive pleading to a complaint consolidate all Rule 12

defenses and objections "then available" to the defendant. Rule

12 (b) (2) - (5) defenses that are not asserted in the responsive

pleading are waived. 4 The current state of the Complaint is such

4 Rules 12 (h) (2) and 12 (h) (3), however, provide that this blanket rule does
not apply to the defenses available under Rules 12(b) (6), 12(b) (7), and
12 (f), or to subject matter grounds under Rule 12 (b) (1) . See also Wright &

Miller §1392.
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that CMRE will be forced to either waive those defenses or play

a guessing game to assert those defenses.

The Complaint fails to advance a single factual allegation

with respect to where the Plaintiff received the messages, where

the transaction that resulted in the debt occurred, the current

status of debt, or whether the messages were the full extent of

the communications between the parties. These facts bear

directly on jurisdictional defenses, as well as Plaintiff's

capacity to act as a class representative. Likewise, the

absence of those facts prejudices CMRE by precluding the

opportunity to advance those defenses in a responsive pleading.

See, ~, Venta, Inc. v. Frontier oil & Ref. Co., 827 F. Supp.

1526, 1530 (D. Colo. 1993) (Rule 12 (e) motion granted because

plaintiffs should allege with greater particularity the period

of the alleged conspiracy and, more generally, the actions taken

to effectuate it). Because Plaintiff's Complaint here omits the

factual allegations that go to jurisdiction and other Rule 12(b)

defenses, the Court should enter an order compelling her to

amend the Complaint to include factual allegations regarding

where the messages were received, where the debt was incurred,

the current status of debt, and whether there were other

communications between the parties and where those transactions

took place.
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C. The Complaint Does Not Provide Sufficient Notice of the
Facts Necessary to Determine Whether Diversity
Jurisdiction Exists for the TCPA Claims.

Plaintiff also states that the Court may properly exercise

diversity jurisdiction under 28 U.S.C. § 1332(d) (2) with respect

to the TCPA claims because "Plaintiff seeks up to $1,500.00 in

damages for each telephone call in violation of the TCPA, which,

when aggregated among a proposed class number in the tens of

thousands, exceeds the $5,000,000.00 threshold required for

federal court jurisdiction." (Complaint, ~ 5.)

Plaintiff's Complaint is silent as to her factual basis for

the proposed TCPA class, other than the four-year time-period,

and thus unfairly deprives CMRE of any opportunity to address

jurisdiction, under 28 U.S.C. § 1332(d) (4)5 or otherwise, in a

responsive pleading. Because Plaintiff's Complaint omits

factual allegations that go to whether there is diversity

jurisdiction here, including whether she is a citizen of New

Jersey or some other state, the Court should enter an order

compelling her to amend her Complaint to cure such deficiencies,

including where the other members of the proposed class may be

located and where their calls were received.

5 28 U.S.C. § 1332(d) (4) provides that federal courts must decline federal
subject matter jurisdiction when more than 2/3 of the class members are from
the forum state and either the primary defendant is from that state or a
significant defendant is from that state, the principal injuries were
incurred in-state, and no other class action on the issue has been filed in
the preceding 3 years.

14
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D. The Complaint Does Not Provide Sufficient Notice of the
Facts Necessary to Determine Whether to Assert a 12 (b) (6)
Defense Based on Rule 23(b) (3).

wi th respect to the two classes, Plaintiff's Complaint is

silent as to the factual basis for her assertions that the class

numbers in the "tens of thousands" and that it is a "national"

class. These absent factual allegations go to potential

12 (b) (6) grounds for failure to state a claim with respect to

the FDCPA claims. Fed. R. civ. P. 23(b) (3) governs class

certification and requires that a class action be "superior to

other available methods for the fair and efficient adjudication

of the controversy."

Under the FDCPA, if the class members were to bring suit

individually, statutory damages could amount to $1,000 per

person. 15 U.S.C. § 1692k(a) (1) (A) But in a class action,

each member of the proposed class could only recover their

proportion of "the lesser of $500,000 or 1 per centum of the net

worth of the debt collector." 15 U.S.C. § 1692k (a)(2)(B).

Assuming for the moment, Plaintiff's assertion that the class

numbers in the "tens of thousands, /I even a $500,000 maximum

recovery among so many would result in a de minimis recovery for

each member. This would fail to satisfy the Rule 23 (b) (3)

requirement of superiority of having a class action versus

individual lawsuits and preclude Plaintiff from continuing this

suit as a class action for the FDCPA claims.
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Plaintiff's factual predicate for proposing a "national"

class that numbers in the "tens of thousands" is absent.

Because Plaintiff's Complaint omits key factual allegations to

enable CMRE to determine whether to assert a potential Rule

12(b) (6) motion for failure to state a claim under Rule 23, the

Court should enter an order compelling Plaintiff to amend her

Complaint.

16
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CONCLUSION

Plaintiff's Complaint omits basic factual allegations

necessary for CMRE to frame a responsive pleading. As such, the

Court should grant CMRE's Rule 12(e) motion for a more definite

statement and enter an order compelling Plaintiff to cure the

defects complained of herein.

Respectfully Submitted,

Pallotto /

BUDD LARNER, P.C.
Attorneys for Defendant
CMRE Financial Services, Inc.

DATED: November 6, 2008
694488w
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BUDD LARNER, P.C.
150 John F. Kennedy Parkway
Short Hills, New Jersey 07078
973-379-4800
Attorneys for Defendant
CMRE Financial Services, Inc.

IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF NEW JERSEY

CHRISTINE M. NICHOLAS,
an individual; on behalf of
herself and all others similarly
situated,

Plaintiffs,

- against -

CMRE FINANCIAL SERVICES, INC.,
a California Corporation; and
JOHN AND JANE DOES NUMBERS 1
THROUGH 25,

Defendants.

STATE OF NEW JERSEY
ss:

COUNTY OF ESSEX

civ. Action No.
o8 - 4 8 57 ( JLL)

AFFIDAVIT OF DAVID A. NILES
IN SUPPORT OF MOTION FOR A
MORE DEFINITE STATEMENT

I, DAVID A. NILES, being duly sworn, depose and say:

1. I am a member of the bar of this Court and an

associate with the firm of Budd Larner, P. C., attorneys for

defendant CMRE Financial Services, Inc. in this matter. As

such, I am familiar with the facts and proceedings described

herein.

BUDD LARNER, P.C. 
150 John F. Kennedy Parkway 
Short Hills, New Jersey 07078 
973-379-4800 
Attorneys for Defendant 
CMRE Financial Services, Inc. 
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2. I make this Affidavit in support of defendant's motion

for a more definite statement.

3. At tached hereto as Exhibit 1 is a true and correct

copy of plaintiff's complaint, which was filed in the above-

captioned matter.

~t!AJc£~
DAVID A. NILES

;," y1~otary Public)
/

V

Sworn to before me this
6th day of November, 2008

,')
../.,

! ~ /

-/U/--l ( ~~

FRANces c. COCO
A Notary Public of New Jersey

My CommissltJ!'1 Ellplras Jan. 30, 2009

694934w
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Wacks & Hartmann, LLC
Attorneys at Law

55 Madison Avenue, Suite 320A
Morristown, NJ 07960-7397
Telephone: (973) 644-0770
Attorneys for Plaintiff, Christine M. Nicholas

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
DISTRICT OF NEW JERSEY

CHRISTINE M. NICHOLAS, an
individual; on behalf of herself and all
others similarly situated,

Civil Action No. --------
Plaintiffs,

vs.

CMRE FINANCIAL SERVICES, INC., :
a California Corporation; and JOHN
AND JANE DOES NUMBERS 1
THROUGH 25,

Defendants.

CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT
and

DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL

pds1311

Plaintiff, Christine M. Nicholas, on behalf of herself and all others similarly

situated, by way of Complaint against the Defendants, says:

I. PARTIES

1. CHRISTINE M. NICHOLAS ("NICHOLAS") is a natural person

who, at all times relevant to this complaint, resided in the Borough of Upper

Saddle River, Bergen County, New Jersey.

Page 1 of 22
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2. At all times relevant to this complaint, CMRE FINANCIAL

SERVICES, INC. ("Cl\1RE") is a for-profit corporation existing pursuant to the

laws of the State of California. CMRE maintains its principal business address at

3075 East Imperial Highway, Suite 200, City of Brea, Orange County, California.

3. Defendants, JOHN AND JANE DOES NUMBERS 1 THROUGH 25,

are sued under fictitious names as their true names and capacities are yet unknown

to Plaintiffs. Plaintiffs will amend this complaint by inserting the true names and

capacities of these DOE defendants once they are ascertained.

II. JURISDICTION & VENUE

4. With respect to Plaintiff's claims under the Fair Debt Collection

Practices Act, 15 U.S.C. §§ 1692 et seq. ("FDCPA"), jurisdiction of this Court

arises under 15 U.S.C. § 1692k(d) and 28 U.S.C. § 1331.

5. With respect to Plaintiff's claims under the Telephone Consumer

Protection Act, 47 U.S.C. § 227 et seq. ("TCPA"), jurisdiction is proper under 28

U.S.C. § 1332(d)(2) because Plaintiff seeks up to $1,500.00 in damages for each

telephone call in violation of the TCPA, which, when aggregated among a

proposed class number in the tens of thousands, exceeds the $5,000,000.00

threshold required for federal court jurisdiction. Additionally, Plaintiff has alleged

a national class, which will result in at least one class member belonging to a

different state. Therefore, both elements of diversity jurisdiction under the Class

Page 2 of22
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Action Fairness Act of 2005 are present, and this Court has jurisdiction.

6.

2202.

7.

Declaratory relief is available pursuant to under 28 U.S.C. §§ 2201,

Venue is appropriate in this federal district pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §

pds1311

1391(b) because a substantial part of the events giving rise to Plaintiffs' claims

occurred within this federal judicial district, and because CMRE resides in the

State ofNew Jersey within the meaning of28 U.S.C. § 1391(b) and (c).

III. PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

8. Plaintiff, on her own behalf and on behalf of the class she seeks to

represent, and demanding a trial by jury, brings this action for the illegal practices

of the Defendants who used false, deceptive and misleading practices, and other

illegal practices, in connection with their attempts to collect alleged debts from the

Plaintiff and others. The Plaintiff alleges that the Defendants' collection practices

violate the FDCPA.

9. Such practices include, inter alia:

(a) Leaving telephonic voice messages for consumers, which fail to

provide meaningful disclosure of Defendants' identity;

(b) Leaving telephonic voice messages for consumers, which fail to

disclose that the call is from a debt collector; and

(c) Leaving telephonic voice messages for consumers, which fail to

Page 3 of 22
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disclose the purpose or nature of the communication (i.e. an attempt to

collect a debt).

10. The FDCPA regulates the behavior of collection agencies attempting

to collect a debt on behalf of another. The United States Congress has found

abundant evidence of the use of abusive, deceptive, and unfair debt collection

practices by many debt collectors, and has determined that abusive debt collection

practices contribute to a number of personal bankruptcies, marital instability, loss

of jobs, and invasions of individual privacy. Congress enacted the FDCPA to

eliminate abusive debt collection practices by debt collectors, to ensure that those

debt collectors who refrain from using abusive debt collection practices are not

competitively disadvantaged, and to promote uniform State action to protect

consumers against debt collection abuses. 15 U.S.C. § 1692(a) - (e).

11. The FDCPA is a strict liability statute, which provides for actual or

statutory damages upon the showing of one violation. The Third Circuit has held

that whether a debt collector's conduct violates the FDCPA should be judged from

the standpoint of the "least sophisticated consumer." Graziano v. Harrison, 950

F.2d 107, Ill, fn5 (3d Cir. 1991).

12. To prohibit harassment and abuses by debt collectors the FDCPA, at

15 U.S.C. § 1692d, provides that a debt collector may not engage in any conduct

the natural consequence of which is to harass, oppress, or abuse any person in
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connection with the collection of a debt and names a non-exhaustive list of certain

per se violations of harassing and abusive collection conduct. 15 U.S.C. §

1692d(l )-(6). Among the per se violations is the placement of telephone calls

without meaningful disclosure of the caller's identity, 15 U.S.C. § 1692d(6).

13. To prohibit deceptive practices, the FDCPA, at 15 U.S.C. § 1692e,

outlaws the use of false, deceptive, and misleading collection letters and names a

non-exhaustive list of certain per se violations of false and deceptive collection

conduct. 15 U.S.C. § 1692e(l)-(16). Among these per se violations are: the failure

by debt collectors to disclose in initial oral communications that the debt collector

is attempting to collect a debt and that any information obtained will be used for

that purpose, and the failure to disclose in subsequent oral communications with

consumers that the communication is from a debt collector, 15 U.S.C. § 1692e( 11).

14. Additionally, the Plaintiff, on her own behalf and on behalf of the

class she seeks to represent, and demanding a trial by jury, also brings this action

for the illegal practices of the Defendants who negligently, knowingly, and/or

willfully contacted Plaintiff and other persons on their cellular telephones in

violation of the Telephone Consumer Protection Act, 47 U.S.C. § 227 et seq.

("TCPA") thereby invading the privacy of Plaintiff and others.

15. The Plaintiff, on behalf of herself and all others similarly situated,

seeks statutory damages, attorney fees, costs, and all other relief, equitable or legal
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in nature, as deemed appropriate by this Court, pursuant to the FDCPA, TCPA, and

all other common law or statutory regimes. The Plaintiff, on behalf of herself and

all others similarly situated, requests that she and the class members be awarded

statutory, common law, or actual damages payable by the Defendants.

IV. FACTS CONCERNING PLAINTIFF

16. Sometime prior to October 2007, NICHOLAS allegedly incurred a

financial obligation arising out of a transaction in which the money, property,

insurance, or services which are the subject of the transaction are primarily for

personal, family, or household purposes and defaulted on that obligation

("Nicholas Obligation").

17. The alleged Nicholas Obligation is a "debt" as defined by 15 U.S.C.

§1692a(5).

18. NICHOLAS is, at all times relevant to this complaint, a "consumer"

as that term is defined by 15 U.S.C. § 1692a(3).

19. NICHOLAS is informed and believes, and on that basis alleges, that

sometime prior to October 2007, the creditor of the Nicholas Obligation either

directly or through mesne transactions assigned, placed, transferred, or sold the

debt to CMRE for collection.

20. At all times relevant to this complaint, NICHOLAS is a "person" as

defined by 47 U.S.C. § 153(32).
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21. At all times relevant to this complaint, CMRE is a "person" as defined

by 47 U.S.C. § 153(32).

A. Facts Related to FDCPA Claims

22. Within the one year immediately preceding the filing of this

complaint, CMRE contacted NICHOLAS numerous times via telephone in an

attempt to collect the alleged Nicholas Obligation.

23. Within the one year immediately preceding the filing of this

complaint, NICHOLAS received numerous "pre-recorded" telephonic voice

messages on her cellular telephone ("Messages").

24. Each of the Messages was left by persons employed by CMRE in an

attempt to collect the alleged Nicholas Obligation.

25. Each of the Messages is a "communication" as defined by 15 U.S.C. §

1692a(2).

26. Each of the Messages uniformly failed to:

(a) Provide meaningful disclosure of CMRE's identity as the

caller;

(b) Disclose that the communication was from a debt collector; and

(c) Disclose the purpose or nature of the communication (i.e., an

attempt to collect a debt).
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27. Each of the Messages is false, deceptive, and misleading in that the

natural consequence of these communications is to harass, oppress, or abuse the

least sophisticated consumer and other persons in violation of the FDCPA.

28. Each of the Messages is false, deceptive, and misleading insofar as

CMRE failed to give meaningful disclosure of its identity, disclose the purpose of

its call, or disclose that CMRE is a debt collector, thereby circumventing

Congress's intent to deprive NICHOLAS of the ability to make an informed

decision as to whether she wished to speak with a debt collector.

B. Facts Related to Plaintiffs' TCPA Claims

29. On multiple occasions over numerous days, all prior to the date this

Complaint was filed, but sometime after four years prior to the date this Complaint

was filed, CMRE also contacted NICHOLAS on her cellular telephone via an

"automatic telephone dialing system," as defined by 47 U.S.c. § 227(a)(l) ("TCPA

Calls").

30. NICHOLAS is informed and believes, and on that basis alleges, that

during these TCPA Calls placed by CMRE to her cellular telephone, CMRE used

"an artificial or prerecorded voice" as prohibited by 47 U.S.C. § 227 (b)(1)(A).

31. At all times relevant to this complaint, NICHOLAS's telephone

number, to which CMRE placed its TCPA Calls, were assigned to a cellular

telephone service for which NICHOLAS incurred charges for incoming calls
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pursuant to 47 U.S.C. § 227(b)(l)(A)(iii).

32. The TCPA Calls placed by CMRE to NICHOLAS constituted calls

that were not for '"emergency purposes" as contemplated by 47 U.S.C. §

227(b)( 1)(A).

33. All of the CMRE artificial and prerecorded telephone messages left

for NICHOLAS as a result of the TCPA Calls failed to state, at the beginning of

the message, the identity of the business, individual, or other entity initiating the

call.

34. At no time did NICHOLAS ever provide CMRE with "prior express

consent" to make any calls to her on her cellular telephone using an "automatic

telephone dialing system" or an "artificial or prerecorded voice".

35. The TCPA Calls placed by CMRE to NICHOLAS'S cellular

telephone were in violation of 47 U.S.C. § 227(b)(1)(A)(iii).

XI. POLICIES AND PRACTICES COMPLAINED OF

36. It is CMRE's policy and practice to leave telephonic voice messages

for consumers and other persons, such as the Messages, that violate the FDCPA by

uniformly failing to:

(a) Provide meaningful disclosure of CMRE's identity as the

caller;

(b) Disclose that the communication is from a debt collector; and
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(c) Disclose the purpose or nature of the communication.

37. On information and belief, the Messages, as alleged in this complaint

under the Facts Concerning Plaintiff, number at least in the thousands.

38. It is also CMRE's policy and practice to make calls to cellular

telephones, such as the TCPA Calls, for non-emergency purposes and without the

prior express consent of the called party, using automatic telephone dialing

systems and artificial or prerecorded voices all in violation of 47 U.S.C. §

227(b)( 1)(A)(iii).

39. On information and belief, the TCPA Calls, as alleged in this

complaint under the Facts Concerning Plaintiff, number at least in the thousands.

IX. CLASS ALLEGATIONS

40. This action is brought as a class action. Plaintiff brings this action on

behalf of herself and on behalf of all other persons similarly situated pursuant to

Rule 23 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure and seeks to certify two classes.

41. The First Plaintiff Class consists of all persons with addresses in the

United States of America who received a telephonic voice message from CMRE

left after one-year immediately preceding the commencement of this civil action up

through and including the date of preliminary class certification, which message

failed to meaningfully identify CMRE as the caller, disclose that the

communication was from a debt collector, or state the purpose or nature of the
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42. The Second Plaintiff Class consists of all persons with addresses in

the United States of America who received a call from CMRE to their cellular

telephone(s), for non-emergency purposes and without the prior express consent of

the called party, wherein CMRE used an automatic telephone dialing system and

artificial or prerecorded voices after four years immediately preceding the

commencement of this civil action up through and including the date of

preliminary class certification.

43. The identities of all class members are readily ascertainable from the

records of CMRE and those companies and governmental entities on whose behalf

CMRE attempts to collects debts and places such telephone calls in violation of the

TCPA.

44. Excluded from the Plaintiff Classes are the Defendants and all

officers, members, partners, managers, directors, and employees of CMRE,

Defendants, and their respective immediate families, and legal counsel for all

parties to this action and all members oftheir immediate families.

45. With respect to Plaintiffs FDCPA claims, the class period is one year

prior to the filing of the initial complaint in this action and continues up to and

including the date of preliminary class certification.
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46. With respect to the Plaintiffs TCPA claims, the class period is four

years prior to the filing of the initial complaint in this action and continues up to

and including the date of preliminary class certification.

47. The Plaintiff and members of the Second Plaintiff Class, as defined

supra, were harmed by the Defendants' violative acts in at least the following

ways: (i) by illegally contacting the Plaintiff and class members via their cellular

telephones thereby causing Plaintiff and class members to incur certain cellular

telephone charges or reduce the cellular telephone time for which Plaintiff and

class members previously paid; (ii) by causing Plaintiff and class members to

retrieve or administer illegal telephonic voice messages left by Defendants during

those violative telephone calls; and (iii) by invading the privacy of Plaintiff and

class members.

48. With respect to the First Plaintiff Class, there are questions of law and

fact common to the class, which common issues predominate over any issues

involving only individual class members. Those principal issues are: whether the

Defendants' telephonic voice messages, such as the Messages, violate 15 U.S.C.

§§ 1692d(6) and 1692e(1l).

49. With respect to the Second Plaintiff Class, there are questions of law

and fact common to the class, which common issues predominate over any issues

involving only individual class members.
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50. Those principal issues are:

(a) Whether, within the four years pnor to the filing of this

Complaint, Defendants made any call (other than a call made

for emergency purposes or made with the prior express consent

of the called party) using an automatic telephone dialing system

or an artificial or prerecorded voice to any telephone number

assigned to a cellular telephone service in violation of 47

U.S.C. § 227(b)(l)(A)(iii);

(b) Whether Plaintiff and members of the Second Plaintiff Class

were damaged by the Defendants' violation of 47 U.S.C. §

227(b)( 1)(A)(iii), and the extent of damages for such

violations; and

(c) Whether the Defendants should be enjoined from engaging

in future conduct that violates 47 U.S.C. § 227(b)(l)(A)(iii).

51. With respect to the Second Plaintiff Class, this lawsuit seeks only

damages and injunctive relief for recovery of economic injury on behalf of the

Plaintiff and the members of the Plaintiff Class she seeks to represent. This

lawsuit is expressly not intended to request any recovery for personal injury claims

related to Defendants' violations of the TCPA. Plaintiff reserves the right,

however, to expand the Second Class definition to seek recovery on behalf of
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additional persons as warranted by facts that are learned through further

investigation and discovery.

52. The Plaintiffs claims are typical of the class members, as all are

based upon the same facts and legal theories.

53. The Plaintiff will fairly and adequately protect the interests of the

Plaintiff Classes defined in this complaint. The Plaintiff has retained counsel with

experience in handling consumer lawsuits, complex legal issues, and class actions,

and neither the Plaintiff nor her attorneys have any interests, which might cause

them not to vigorously pursue this action.

54. This action has been brought, and may properly be maintained, as a

class action pursuant to the provisions of Rule 23 of the Federal Rules of Civil

Procedure because there is a well-defined community interest in the litigation:

(a) Numerosity: The Plaintiff is informed and believes, and on that basis

alleges, that the classes defined above are so numerous that joinder of

all members would be impractical.

(b) Common Questions Predominate: Common questions of law and

fact exist as to all members of the Plaintiff Classes and those

questions predominate over any questions or issues involving only

individual class members. The principal issues are:

(i) Whether the Defendants' telephonic VOIce messages,
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such as the Messages, violate 15 U.S.C. §§ 1692d(6);

(ii) Whether the Defendants' telephonic voice messages,

such as the Messages, violate 15 U.S.C. §§ 1692e(11);

(iii) Whether, within the four years prior to the filing of this

Complaint, Defendants made any call (other than a call

made for emergency purposes or made with the prior

express consent of the called party), such as the TCPA

Calls, using an automatic telephone dialing system or an

artificial or prerecorded voice to any telephone number

assigned to a cellular telephone service in violation of 47

U.S.C. § 227(b)(1 )(A)(iii);

(iv) Whether Plaintiff and the members of Plaintiff Classes

were damaged by the Defendants' violation of 47 U.S.C.

§ 227(b)( 1)(A)(iii), and the extent of damages for such

violations; and

(v) Whether the Defendants should be enjoined from

engaging in future conduct that violates 47 U.S.C. §

227(b)( 1)(A)(iii).

(c) Typicality: The Plaintiffs claims are typical of the claims of the class

members. Plaintiff and all members of the Plaintiff classes have
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claims arISIng out of the Defendants' common uniform course of

conduct complained of herein.

(d) Adequacy: The Plaintiff will fairly and adequately protect the

interests of the class members insofar as Plaintiff has no interests that

are adverse to the absent class members. The Plaintiff is committed to

vigorously litigating this matter. Plaintiff has also retained counsel

experienced in handling consumer lawsuits, complex legal issues, and

class actions. Neither the Plaintiff nor her counsel has any interests

which might cause them not to vigorously pursue the instant class

action lawsuit.

(e) Superiority: A class action is superior to the other available means

for the fair and efficient adjudication of this controversy because

individual joinder of all members would be impracticable. Class

action treatment will permit a large number of similarly situated

persons to prosecute their common claims in a single forum efficiently

and without unnecessary duplication of effort and expense that

individual actions would engender. An important public interest will

be served by addressing the matter as a class action, substantial

expenses to the litigants and to the judicial system will be realized,

and the potential inconsistent or contradictory adjudications will be
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avoided as contemplated by Rule 23(b)(1) of the Federal Rules of

Civil Procedure.

55. Certification of a class under Rule 23(b)(3) of the Federal Rules of

Civil Procedure is also appropriate in that:

(a) The questions of law and fact common to members of the Plaintiff

Classes predominate over any questions affecting an individual

member; and

(b) A class action is superior to other available methods for the fair and

efficient adjudication of the controversy.

56. Plaintiff requests certification of a hybrid class combining the

elements of Rule 23(b)(2) for equitable relief and Rule 23(b)(3) for monetary

damages.

x. FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION
VIOLATIONS OF THE FAIR DEBT COLLECTION PRACTICES ACT

(AGAINST ALL DEFENDANTS)

57. Plaintiff realleges and incorporates by reference the allegations in the

preceding paragraphs of this Complaint.

58. Defendants violated the FDCPA. Defendants' violations with respect

to the Messages include, but are not limited to, the following:

(a) Placing telephone calls without providing meaningful

disclosure of CMRE's identity as the caller in violation of 15
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U.S.C. § 1692d(6).

(b) Failing to disclose In its initial communication with the

consumer that CMRE is attempting to collect a debt and that

any information obtained will be used for that purpose, which

constitutes a violation of 15 U.S.C. § 1692e(11).

(c) Failing to disclose in all oral communications that CMRE is a

debt collector in violation of 15 U.S.C. § 1692e(11).

XI. SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION
NEGLIGENT VIOLATIONS OF THE TELEPHONE CONSUMER

PROTECTION ACT, 47 U.S.C. § 227(b)(1)(A)(iii)
(AGAINST ALL DEFENDANTS)

59. Plaintiff realleges and incorporates by reference the allegations in the

preceding paragraphs of this Complaint.

60. The Defendants' foregoing acts and omISSIOns, as set forth and

described at length above in the Facts Concerning Plaintiff, constitute numerous

and multiple negligent violations of the TCPA, including but not limited to 47

U.S.C. § 227(b)(1 )(A)(iii).

61. As a result of the Defendants' negligent violations of 47 U.S.C. §

227(b)(1)(A)(iii), Plaintiff and the members of the Second Plaintiff Class are

entitled to an award of $500.00 in statutory damages, for each and every violation,

pursuant to 47 U.S.C. § 227(b)(3)(B),(C).
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62. As a result of the Defendants' negligent violations of 47 U.S.C. §

227(b)(1 )(A)(iii), Plaintiff and the members of the Second Plaintiff Class are

entitled to, and seek, injunctive relief pursuant to 47 U.S.C. § 227(b)(3)(A),(C) to

enjoin Defendants from engaging in such violative conduct in the future.

XII. THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION
KNOWING AND/OR WILLFUL VIOLATIONS OF THE TELEPHONE

CONSUMER PROTECTION ACT, 47 U.S.C. § 227(b)(1)(A)(iii)
(AGAINST ALL DEFENDANTS)

63. Plaintiff realleges and incorporates by reference the allegations in the

preceding paragraphs of this Complaint.

64. The Defendants' foregoing acts and omISSiOns, as set forth and

described at length above in the Facts Concerning Plaintiff, constitute numerous

and multiple knowing and willful violations of the TCPA, including but not limited

to 47 U.S.C. § 227(b)(1)(A)(iii).

65. As a result of the Defendants' knowing and willful violations of 47

u.S.C. § 227(b)(1)(A)(iii), Plaintiff and the members of the Second Plaintiff Class

are entitled to an award of treble damages, as provided by statute, up to $1,500.00

for each and every violation, pursuant to 47 U.S.C. § 227(b)(3),(B),(C).

66. As a result of the Defendants' knowing and willful violations of 47

U.S.C. § 227(b)(1 )(A)(iii), Plaintiff and the members of the Second Plaintiff Class

are entitled to, and seek, injunctive relief pursuant to 47 U.S.C. § 227(b)(3)(B),(C)

to enjoin Defendants from engaging in such violative conduct in the future.
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XIII. PRAYER FOR RELIEF

67. WHEREFORE, Plaintiff respectfully requests that the Court enter

judgment in her favor and in favor of the putative classes as follows:

A. For the FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION:

(a) An order certifying that the First Cause of Action may be maintained

as a class pursuant to Rule 23 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure

and appointing NICHOLAS and the undersigned counsel to represent

the First Plaintiff Class as previously set forth and defined above.

(b) An award of the maximum statutory damages for NICHOLAS and

the First Plaintiff Class pursuant to 15 U.S.C. § 1692k(a)(B);

(c) Attorney's fees, litigation expenses, and costs pursuant to 15 U.S.C. §

1692k(a)(B)(3); and

(d) For such other and further relief as may be just and proper.

B. For the SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION:

(a) An order certifying that the Second Cause of Action may be

maintained as a class pursuant to Rule 23 of the Federal Rules of Civil

Procedure and appointing NICHOLAS and undersigned counsel to

represent the Second Plaintiff Class as previously set forth and

defined above.
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(b) An award of $500.00 in statutory damages for NICHOLAS and each

member of the Second Plaintiff Class, as previously set forth and

defined above, for each and every negligent violation of the TCPA

pursuant to 47 U.S.C. § 227(b)(3)(B);

(c) Injunctive relief for NICHOLAS and the members of the Second

Plaintiff Class pursuant to 47 U.S.C. § 227(b)(3)(A),(C) to enjoin the

Defendants from engaging in future violations of 47 U.S.C. §

227(b)(1 )(A)(iii) as complained of herein;

(d) An award of costs and disbursements incurred by NICHOLAS and the

Second Plaintiff Class in connection with this action, including

reasonable attorneys' fees, expert witness fees, and other costs; and

(e) For such other and further relief as the Court deems just and proper.

C. For the THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION:

(a) An order certifying that the Third Cause of Action may be maintained

as a class pursuant to Rule 23 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure

and appointing Plaintiffs and undersigned counsel to represent the

Second Plaintiff Class as previously set forth and defined above.

(b) An award of treble damages of up to $1,500.00, as provided by

statute, in for Plaintiffs and each member of the Second Plaintiff

Class, as previously set forth and defined above, for each and every
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willful and/or knowing violation of the TCPA pursuant to 47 U.S.C. §

227(b)(3)(8);

(c) Injunctive relief for Plaintiffs and the members of the Second Plaintiff

Class pursuant to 47 U.S.C. § 227(b)(3)(A),(C) to enjoin the

Defendants from engaging in future violations of 47 U.S.C. §

227(b)( 1)(A)(iii) as complained of herein;

(d) An award of costs and disbursements incurred by Plaintiffs and the

Second Plaintiff Class in connection with this action, including

reasonable attorneys' fees, expert witness fees, and other costs; and

(e) For such other and further relief as the Court deems just and proper.

WACKS & HARTMANN, LLC

Dated: September 30,2008
lsi Philip D. Stern
PIDLIP D. STERN

Attorney for Plaintiff, Christine M. Nicholas

XVI. DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL

PLEASE TAKE NOTICE THAT Plaintiff demands a trial by jury against

the Defendants, and each of them, for each cause of action so triable.

WACKS & HARTMANN, LLC

pds1311

Dated: September 30, 2008
lsi Philip D. Stern
PIDLIP D. STERN

Attorney for Plaintiff, Christine M. Nicholas
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BUDD LARNER, P.C.
150 John F. Kennedy Parkway
Short Hills, New Jersey 07078
973-379-4800
Attorneys for Defendant
CMRE Financial Services, Inc.

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
DISTRICT OF NEW JERSEY

CHRISTINE M. NICHOLAS,
an individual; on behalf of
herself and all others similarly
situated,

Plaintiffs,

- against -

CMRE FINANCIAL SERVICES, INC.,
a California Corporation; and
JOHN AND JANE DOES NUMBERS 1
THROUGH 25,

Defendants.

Civ. Action No.
08-4857 (JLL)

ORDER

THIS MATTER having come before the Court upon the motion of

defendant CMRE Financial Services, Inc. for a more definite

statement pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 12 (e); the Court having

considered the motion and supporting documents,

papers, if any; and for good cause shown,

opposition

IT IS on this ___ day of ______ , 2008

ORDERED that defendant's motion for a more definite

statement is granted; and it is further

BUDD LARNER, P.C. 
150 John F. Kennedy Parkway 
Short Hills, New Jersey 07078 
973-379-4800 
Attorneys for Defendant 
CMRE Financial Services, Inc. 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
DISTRICT OF NEW JERSEY 

CHRISTINE M. NICHOLAS, 
an individual; on behalf of 
herself and all others similarly 
situated, 

Plaintiffs, 

- against -

CMRE FINANCIAL SERVICES, INC., 
a California Corporation; and 
JOHN AND JANE DOES NUMBERS 1 
THROUGH 25, 

Defendants. 

Civ. Action No. 
08 - 4 8 57 ( JLL) 

ORDER 

THIS MATTER having come before the Court upon the motion of 

defendant CMRE Financial Services, Inc. for a more definite 

statement pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 12 (e); the Court having 

considered the motion and supporting documents, opposition 

papers, if any; and for good cause shown, 

IT IS on this ___ day of ________ , 2008 

ORDERED that defendant's motion for a more definite 

statement is granted; and it is further 
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ORDERED that plaintiff shall file an amended complaint

within ten days from the date of this Order.

Honorable Jose L. Linares, U.S.D.J.

694493w

- 2 -

ORDERED that plaintiff shall file an amended complaint 

within ten days from the date of this Order. 

Honorable Jose L. Linares, U.S.D.J. 

694493w 

- 2 -



 
 Attorneys at Law       

 Wacks & Hartmann, LLC 
 55 Madison Avenue, Suite 320A   
 Morristown, New Jersey 07960 
 (973) 644 0770   
  Fax: (973) 644 2224  
 pstern@WacksLaw.net 
Managing Members:       Essex County Office:   
New Jersey Office       75 Main Street, Suite 101, Millburn 
Edward Wacks +       Counsel: 
Christopher E. Hartmann+

 Beth C. Manes+
  

 National Academy of Elder Law Attorneys 
New York Office Diane M. Weber+ 
Rio Guerrero Richard H. Beilin+ 
Member, NY & NJ Bars Philip D. Stern# 
404 Park Ave. South, 16th Floor Catherine Sloane*  
New York, New York 1001 + Member, NJ Bar Only 
(212) 481-2744   Fax: (212) 481-2746 # Member, NJ & DC Bars 
E-mail: rio@guerrerolawfirm.com * Member, NY Bar Only 
 
Please reply to: Morristown November 17, 2008 
 
U.S. District Court 
District of New Jersey 
Newark Vicinage Clerk’s Office 
Martin Luther King, Jr. Federal Building & U.S. Courthouse 
50 Walnut Street 
Newark, New Jersey 07102 
 
RE: Christine M. Nicholas, et al. v. CMRE Financial Services, Inc. 

Civil Action No.:  2:08-cv-04857-JLL-CCC 
 
Dear Madam/Sir, 
 
This letter is sent invoking the provisions of Local Civil Rule 7.1(d)(5) with respect to the 
pending Fed R. Civ. P. 12(e) Motion for a More Definite Statement [Doc. 5], originally 
returnable on Monday, December 1, 2008. The new motion date is Monday, December 15, 2008. 
 
Very truly yours, 

 
Philip D. Stern 
via ECF 
cc: Joseph J. Schiavone, Esq., Budd Larner, PC, via ECF Notice 
 David A. Niles, Esq., Budd Larner, PC, via ECF Notice 
 Virginia A. Pallotto, Esq., Budd Larner, PC, via ECF Notice 
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DISCUSSION 

THE COMPLAINT PROPERLY SETS FORTH A “SHORT AND PLAIN 
STATEMENT” OF PLAINTIFF’S CLAIMS. DEFENDANT FAILS TO 
IDENTIFY ANY ALLEGATION WHICH IS “SO VAGUE AND 
AMBIGUOUS” THAT IT IS UNABLE TO RESPOND TO THE 
COMPLAINT. CONSEQUENTLY, THE MOTION FOR A MORE 
DEFINITE STATEMENT SHOULD BE DENIED. 

 
Defendant’s Motion for a more definite statement does not identify a single 

allegation which is either vague or ambiguous. Instead, the Motion seeks more 

information – in effect, early discovery. There is no justifiable reason why 

Defendant cannot answer the Complaint. Its Motion should be denied. 

 A complaint is not the place for the presentation of a plaintiff’s entire case. 

Instead, it should merely contain “a short and plain statement of the claim showing 

that the pleader is entitled to relief.” F.R.Civ.P. 8(a)(2). The Complaint here 

satisfies this requirement. Indeed, Defendant’s Brief reflects a clear understanding 

of the claims.  

 A motion for a more definite statement “must point out the defects 

complained of and the details desired.” F.R.Civ.P. 12(e). Defendant’s Motion 

identifies eleven purported defects, none of which demonstrate any allegation 

“which is so vague or ambiguous that the party cannot reasonably prepare a 

response.” F.R.Civ.P. 12(e). Each are addressed below. 
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Defect #1: The number and content of the messages. Dkt. 5-2 at 13. 

The Complaint alleged that Defendant’s employees left numerous pre-

recorded messages. Dkt 1, page 7, paragraph 23. To sustain its Motion, 

Defendant would have to argue that the absence of the number and content 

of the messages renders the allegation so “vague or ambiguous” that 

Defendant is unable to respond. Instead, Defendant contends that supplying 

the number and content of the messages is necessary to give it “sufficient 

notice of her claims.” Dkt. 5-2 at 14. 

Defendant fails to submit an affidavit stating, for example, that it has 

no record of ever communicating with Plaintiff, or that it has records of so 

many different messages that it does not know which ones are the basis for 

the claims, or that it cannot determine which pre-recorded messages from its 

message library were left. Even if Defendant proffered one of these 

explanations, there is no basis for concluding that it is unable to admit or 

deny the allegations. 

Although the requested information will be detailed in disclosures and 

discovery, it is hard to conceive how the Complaint’s allegations are so 

vague or ambiguous that Defendant is unable to respond without knowing 

the number or content of the messages. 
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Defect #2: Dates messages were left. Dkt. 5-2 at 13. 

Defendant argues that the message dates are necessary “to determine 

not only whether a statute of limitations defense lies under 15 U.S.C. 

§1692k(d) (which provides that FDCPA claims must be brought within one 

year of the violation), but also whether plaintiff's allegations are similar to 

those of other potential class members.” Dkt. 5-2 at 14. 

Plaintiff alleged that the messages were left within the one year period 

prior to filing the Complaint.  Dkt 1, page 7, paragraph 23. Defendant can 

admit or deny this allegation. If disclosures or discovery ultimately reveal 

that the messages were over one year old, then an appropriate motion may 

be made. For purposes of this Motion, however, there is no reason why 

Defendant is unable to simply allege the statute of limitations as an 

affirmative defense to any messages left more than one year before the 

complaint was filed. 

Furthermore, it is difficult to understand how the message dates are 

essential to Defendant’s ability to respond to the allegation concerning the 

similarity of Plaintiff’s claims to the putative class claims – which, like 

Plaintiff’s claims, are limited to messages left within the statute of 

limitations. 
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Defect #3: Whether a message was an initial communication. Dkt. 5-2 at 13. 

As Defendant correctly notes, 15 U.S.C. § 1692e(11) requires a debt 

collector to identify itself as a debt collector in all communications. In 

addition, that statute requires, in initial communications, disclosing “that the 

debt collector is attempting to collect a debt and that any information 

obtained will be used for that purpose that the purpose of the communication 

is to collect.” Id. 

Defendant should know whether its pre-recorded messages – both 

initial and subsequent communications – contain the required disclosures. If 

Defendant was unsure whether a message was the initial or a subsequent 

communication, it could answer by either admitting or denying, whichever 

would be appropriate, that it gave the required disclosures in initial 

communications as well as giving them in subsequent disclosures.  

 

Defects #4-#7: 

 Where the messages were received. Dkt. 5-2 at 17. 
 Where the transaction that resulted in the debt occurred. Dkt. 5-2 at 17. 

The current status of the debt. Dkt. 5-2 at 17. 
Whether the messages were the full extent of the parties’ communications 
and, if not, what were the other communications. Dkt. 5-2 at 17. 
 

Defendant argues that items 4 to 7 “bear directly on jurisdictional 

defenses, as well as Plaintiff’s capacity to act as a class representative. 

Case 2:08-cv-04857-JLL-CCC     Document 7      Filed 12/01/2008     Page 7 of 12



pds1311 

Page 8 of 12 

Likewise, the absence of those facts prejudices CMRE by precluding the 

opportunity to advance those defenses in a responsive pleading.” [Dkt 5-2 at 

17.]  

Whether there is information which is relevant to those issues does 

not mean that the failure to allege them in a complaint renders the 

complaint’s allegations vague or ambiguous such that a defendant cannot 

respond. Defendant merely needs to assert any jurisdictional defenses and 

discovery will bear out their merit. These issues do not require a more 

specific statement. 

Plaintiff alleged federal question jurisdiction over the FDCPA claim. 

Dkt. 1 at page 2, paragraph 4. Plaintiff alleged diversity jurisdiction and the 

amount in controversy for jurisdiction over the TCPA claim pursuant to 

CAFA, 28 U.S.C. §1332(d)(2)(A) (one class member and the defendant are 

from different States and amount in controversy exceeds $5,000,000) . Dkt. 

1 at page 2, paragraph 5. Although not expressly alleged, the Court also has 

supplemental jurisdiction over the TCPA claims under 28 U.S.C. §1367(a) 

because the FDCPA and TCPA claims arise under the same facts –

Defendant’s telephone messages. 

If Defendant contends that Plaintiff failed to allege the facts requisite 

to jurisdiction, it is free to plead or file the appropriate motion. However, 
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Defendant’s failure to show that the jurisdictional allegations are so vague or 

ambiguous that it is unreasonable to expect Defendant to respond, 

necessitates a denial of its Motion. 

Finally, Defendant argues that it needs to know the status of the 

alleged debt to determine whether Plaintiff is a worthy class representative. 

Plaintiff alleged that she will fairly and adequately protect the interests of 

the class. Dkt. 1, page 14, paragraph 53. Whether she is a proper class 

representative is a matter for further discovery. There is nothing ambiguous 

about this allegation. The status of the debt may be one of many issues 

relevant to her ability to be the class representative. Plaintiff is not required 

to plead the absence of every disability which could bar her from becoming 

the class representative. 

Again, in the absence of a vague or ambiguous allegation, 

Defendant’s Motion should be denied.  

 

Defect #8: Whether Plaintiff is a citizen of New Jersey. Dkt. 5-2 at 18. 

Defendant argues that this is necessary to determine diversity 

jurisdiction. The FDCPA claim falls within the Court’s federal question 

jurisdiction. 15 U.S.C. § 1692k(d) and 28 U.S.C. § 1331. The Court lacks 

federal question jurisdiction over the TCPA claims. 47 U.S.C. §227(b)(3). 
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Plaintiff alleged diversity under the Class Action Fairness Act of 2005. See, 

28 U.S.C. §1332(d)(2)(A) (one class member and the defendant are from 

different States and amount in controversy exceeds $5,000,000). Moreover, 

Plaintiff alleged that she is a resident of New Jersey, Dkt. 1 at page 1, 

paragraph 1, and that Defendant is a resident of California, Dkt. 1 at page 2, 

paragraph 2. While it may have been more appropriate to allege citizenship, 

as opposed to residency, there is nothing about these allegations which 

create such confusion that Defendant is unable to respond. There is nothing 

ambiguous or vague about these allegations. If Defendant disputes diversity 

jurisdiction, it is free to deny the jurisdictional allegations and raise 

affirmative defenses. In the absence of a vague or ambiguous allegation, 

however, the Motion for a more definite statement should be denied. 

Defendant, at Dkt. 5-2 at 18n5, suggests that Plaintiff must 

specifically allege the absence of facts which would require the Court to 

decline jurisdiction under CAFA.  See, 28 U.S.C. §1332(d)(4). Defendant is 

free to raise any one of those bases for withholding jurisdiction but the 

Complaint’s failure to expressly allege facts eliminating them is no basis for 

asserting a vague or ambiguous allegation necessitating the need for a more 

definite statement.   
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Defects #9-11 

 Where the putative class members are be located. Dkt. 5-2 at 18. 
Where were the putative class members received calls. Dkt. 5-2 at 18. 
Factual basis for seeking a class action. Dkt. 5-2 at 19. 
 

In response to items 9 to 11, there is no uncertainty about the 

allegations concerning the location of the putative class, place of receipt of 

calls, or the basis for a class action such that Defendant cannot respond. 

Plaintiff alleged a national class. If Defendant suspects that there is no basis 

for a national class because putative class members are not located 

nationally, then Defendant can so respond in its Answer. Likewise, 

Defendant can respond if it contends that there is some issue concerning the 

place of receipt or the basis for a class action. 

 

Defendant also suggests that Plaintiff needs to allege more facts as to venue. 

Dkt. 5-2 at 10.  Plaintiff alleged that “a substantial part of the events giving rise to 

Plaintiffs’ [sic] claims occurred within this federal district.” Dkt. 1, at page 3, 

paragraph 7.  The receipt of a debt collector’s communication is a proper venue. 

Bates v. C & S Adjusters, Inc., 980 F.2d 865 (2nd Cir. 1992). If Defendant disputes 

that a substantial part of the events occurred in New Jersey, it is free to file the 

appropriate response – but, yet again, there is no showing that the allegation is so 

vague or ambiguous to prevent Defendant from responding. 
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CONCLUSION 
 

 For the foregoing reasons, Defendant’s Motion for a more definite statement 

should be denied. 

 Wacks & Hartmann, LLC 
 
 
 

Dated: December 1, 2008 Philip D. Stern 
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NOT FOR PUBLICATION

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
DISTRICT OF NEW JERSEY

____________________________________
CHRISTINE M. NICHOLAS, )

)
Plaintiff, )

) Civil Action No.: 08-4857 (JLL)
v. )

)                OPINION
CMRE FINANCIAL SERVICES, INC., )
et al., )

)
Defendants. )

____________________________________)

For Plaintiff: Philip D. Stern (Wacks & Hartmann, LLC)

For Defendant: Joseph J. Schiavone (Budd Larner, PC)
 David A. Niles (Budd Larner, PC)
 Virginia A. Pallotto (Budd Larner, PC)
    

LINARES, District Judge.

This matter comes before the Court on Defendant CMRE Financial Services, Inc.’s

(“Defendant” or “CMRE”) motion for a more definite statement [CM/ECF #5].  No oral

argument was held.  Fed. R. Civ. P. 78.  For the reasons set forth in this Opinion, Defendant’s

motion is granted.

In her Complaint, Plaintiff Christine M. Nicholas (“Plaintiff” or “Nicholas”) alleges that

CMRE acquired rights to a personal debt she had incurred.  (Compl. ¶¶ 16, 19.)  CMRE then

telephonically contacted Nicholas numerous times subsequent to September, 2007, in an attempt

to collect the debt.  (Id. ¶¶ 22-23.)  At least some of these communications were in the form of

pre-recorded voice messages to Nicholas’s cellular phone.  (Id. ¶ 23.)  According to Plaintiff, the

1
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messages uniformly and deceptively failed to adequately disclose CMRE’s identity, mention that

the calls were from a debt collector, or provide information on the purpose of the call. (Id. ¶¶ 22-

28.)  Plaintiff further alleges that CMRE used artificial or prerecorded dunning calls at some

point after September, 2004; that she was charged by her cellular phone for these incoming calls;

and that she did not consent to CMRE making such calls to her cellular phone.  (Id. ¶¶ 29-34.)

Plaintiff filed her class action Complaint in this Court on September 30, 2008, asserting

the federal question and diversity jurisdiction of this Court.  28 U.S.C. §§ 1331, 1332; Compl. ¶

4-5.  The instant motion followed.

DISCUSSION

Rule of Civil Procedure 12(e) permits a defendant to make a motion for a more definite

statement “[i]f a pleading . . . is so vague and ambiguous that a party cannot reasonably be

required to frame a responsive pleading.”  Such a motion “shall point out the defects complained

of and the details desired.”  Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(e).  Whether to grant such a motion is soundly

within the district court's discretion.  Clark v. McDonald's Corp., 213 F.R.D. 198, 232 (D.N.J.

2003).  When a complaint does not provide a defendant notice of the facts underlying the

plaintiff's claim(s), the defendant cannot adequately frame a proper response.  The “Rule 12(e)

motion for a more definite statement is perhaps the best procedural tool available to the

defendant to obtain the factual basis underlying [the] plaintiff's claim for relief.”  Thomas v.

Independence Twp., 463 F.3d 285, 301 (3d Cir. 2006).  With this framework in mind, the Court

turns now to Defendant’s motion.

CMRE argues that the Complaint is deficient on several grounds: that it does not

sufficiently state the elements of a claim under 15 U.S.C. § 1692d(6) of the Fair Debt Collection

2
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Practices Act (“FDCPA”), does not indicate how Defendant actually violated 15 U.S.C. §

1692e(11), does not provide sufficient detail for Defendant to raise jurisdictional defenses under

Rule 12, fails to demonstrate that Plaintiff is an appropriate class plaintiff, prevents Defendant

from framing defenses to Plaintiff’s Telephone Consumer Protection Act (“TCPA”) claims, and

fails to set forth class action allegations sufficiently to permit defenses based on Rule 23.  (Def.

Br. at 10-16.)

A. Plaintiff’s FDCPA Claims

“The Fair Debt Collection Practices Act . . . provides a remedy for consumers who have

been subjected to abusive, deceptive, or unfair debt collection practices by debt collectors.” 

Pollice v. National Tax Funding, L.P., 225 F.3d 379, 400 (3d Cir. 2000).  Plaintiff’s claims under

the FDCPA must be pled in compliance with the general rule for pleadings set forth in Federal

Rule of Civil Procedure 8(a).  See Jones v. Select Portfolio Servicing, Inc., No. 08-972, 2008 WL

1820935, at *3-4 (E.D. Pa. Apr. 22, 2008) (finding that Rule 8(a) applies to claims under the

FDCPA).  

Although Rule 8(a) does not require detailed factual pleadings, the Third Circuit Court of

Appeals has clarified the level of detail required in an initial pleading: 

The Supreme Court’s Twombly formulation of the pleading
standard can be summed up thus: “stating . . . a claim requires a
complaint with enough factual matter (taken as true) to suggest”
the required element.  This “does not impose a probability
requirement at the pleading stage,” but instead “simply calls for
enough facts to raise a reasonable expectation that discovery will
reveal evidence of” the necessary element.

3
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Phillips v. County of Allegheny, 515 F.3d 224, 234 (3d Cir. 2008).  In Phillips, the Third Circuit

also emphasized that “some complaints will require at least some factual allegations” in order to

make the necessary context-sensitive “showing” under Rule 8(a).  Phillips, 515 F.3d at 232.  

The Supreme Court has recently elaborated on Twombly’s requirement for some factual

content in an initial pleading, and specifically addressed pleadings that do not contain sufficient

facts to add plausibility to legal conclusions contained therein.  Ashcroft v. Iqbal, — S. Ct. —,

2009 WL 1361536, slip op. at 14 (2009).  Specifically, the Court found that “bare assertions”

merely reciting the elements of a cause of action are not entitled to an assumption of truth in a

Rule 12(b)(6) motion, and that a Court must instead look at the facts actually pled by a party to

determine if they meet the plausibility requirement imposed by Twombly.  Iqbal, 2009 WL

1361536, slip op. at 14.

The Complaint before the Court fails to satisfy the requirements of Rule 8(a).  The

pleadings set forth by Nicholas recite that CMRE attempted to collect on a debt through

telephonic communications, but describe CMRE’s actions only in language derived from the

statutory causes of action.  Nicholas’s pleading addresses her debt in language derived from 15

U.S.C. § 1692a(5) as “a financial obligation arising out of a transaction in which the money,

property, insurance, or services which are the subject of the transaction are primarily for

personal, family, or household purposes.”  (Compl. ¶ 16.)  The time frame during which Nicholas

received the telephone calls is described purely in terms of the one-year statute of limitations

under the FDCPA: “[w]ithin one year immediately preceding the filing of this complaint, CMRE

contacted NICHOLAS numerous times via telephone in an attempt to collect . . . .”  (Compl. ¶

22.)  And the content of the telephone communications is described only as a set of omissions or

4
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in terms of generalized falsity.  (Id. ¶¶ 26-28.)  This kind of conclusory pleading, devoid of any

factual detail, fails to meet Rule 8(a)(2)’s requirement that the Complaint make a “showing that

the pleader is entitled to relief.”  Fed. R. Civ. P. 8(a)(2); Phillips, 515 F.3d at 234.  By limiting

itself to the language of the statutes  and failing to provide any facts specific to Nicholas, the

Complaint, as currently constituted, cannot meet the requirements of Rule 8(a)(2), Iqbal, and

Phillips, and this Court grants Defendant’s motion with respect to Plaintiff’s FDCPA claims.

Having found that Defendant’s motion must be granted, however, this Court notes that

the burden on a plaintiff to meet the federal notice pleading requirements remains low.  See In re

Tower Air, Inc., 416 F.3d 229, 236-238 (3d Cir. 2005) (rejecting the Delaware Court of

Chancery’s species of notice pleading and looking to Form 9 (now Form 11) of the Federal Rules

for guidance on the factual detail required by Rule 8(a)).  Forms 10 through 21 of the Federal

Rules of Civil Procedure set forth sample pleadings for a variety of claims.  App. to Fed. R. Civ.

P., Forms 10-21.  The form complaints state few facts, and are admirably brief, but all provide

more facts than Nicholas has provided in this matter.  The patent claim indicates the general

subject matter of the invention; the tort claim indicates that the injuries were sustained due to a

motor vehicle collision; the complaint for recovery on a debt requires at least a summary of the

note.  App. to Fed. R. Civ. P., Forms 10, 11, 18.  While this Court will not require Nicholas to

“inject precision” into her claims at this time, as required under Rule 9(b), she must at least

provide some relevant facts providing the context for her claim to remove vagueness and

ambiguity.  Cf. Federico v. Home Depot, 507 F.3d 188, 200 (3d Cir. 2007) (assessing pleading

under Rule 9(b)).   

5
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B. Plaintiff’s TCPA Claim

The TCPA regulates the activities of telemarketers to avoid the increasing nuisance of

telemarketing and to prevent telemarketers from avoiding individual state regulation by operating

in interstate commerce.  ErieNet, Inc. v. Velocity Net, Inc., 156 F.3d 513, 514 (3d Cir. 1998). 

Because Congress expressly limited jurisdiction under the TCPA to state courts, 15 U.S.C. §

227(b)(3), the Third Circuit Court of Appeals has found that TCPA claims may not be brought in

federal court pursuant to the federal question jurisdiction of this Court.  ErieNet, Inc., 156 F.3d at

519.

Defendant argues that it cannot, from the face of the Complaint, determine whether or not

it has a subject matter jurisdiction defense to Plaintiff’s TCPA claim.  (Def. Br. at 14.)  Plaintiff

admits that she pled in her Complaint that she was a resident of two separate states, New Jersey

and California, and that she did not plead citizenship in either state.  (Pl. Opp. Br. at 10.)  Despite

acknowledging that her novel method of pleading was less appropriate than pleading specific

citizenship, Plaintiff asserts that her pleading is not vague or ambiguous.  (Id. at 10.)  

This Court finds that Plaintiff’s pleading as to citizenship is ambiguous enough to require

a more definite statement under Rule 12(e).  The Complaint rests its jurisdictional pleading

purely upon diversity jurisdiction with respect to the TCPA claim.  (Compl. ¶ 5.)  As Plaintiff,

being an individual, may be a citizen of only one state for purposes of diversity jurisdiction, her

Complaint is ambiguous as to her citizenship due to its references to the two states in which

Plaintiff claims residency in this suit.  See Frett-Smith v. Vanterpool, 511 F.3d 396, 400-01 (3d

Cir. 2008) (equating citizenship in diversity with domicile rather than residency); Pl. Opp. Br. at

10.  This Court finds that in this case, such an ambiguity is sufficiently serious as to require that

6

Case 2:08-cv-04857-JLL-CCC     Document 11      Filed 06/11/2009     Page 6 of 8



Plaintiff file an amended pleading with respect to the jurisdictional basis of her TCPA claim.

In any case, even if Plaintiff’s dual-residency jurisdictional pleading had not been raised

in the instant motion, this Court has an independent duty to raise issues of subject matter

jurisdiction sua sponte.  Three Keys Ltd. v. SR Utility Holding Co., 540 F.3d 220, 225 n.7 (3d

Cir. 2008).  Although Plaintiff dismisses such jurisdictional concerns, mentioning that

supplemental jurisdiction would support its FCPA claim even in the absence of diversity, this

Court notes that under supplemental jurisdiction, dismissal of the federal question claims in this

case could result in the refusal of this Court to hear any remaining state claims.  See Combs v.

Homer-Center School Dist., 540 F.3d 231, 244-45 (3d Cir. 2008) (reciting standard for declining

to exercise supplemental jurisdiction).  Whether the FCPA claim is supported by diversity

jurisdiction, therefore, should be tested and determined as early as possible in this matter, and

this Court finds that its duty to address issues of subject matter jurisdiction forms an independent

ground for Plaintiff to amend her TCPA pleadings.

Additionally, Plaintiff should consider the requirements of Iqbal and Phillips with respect

to the pleading requirements of Rule 8(a) when filing her new TCPA claim.  2009 WL 1361536,

slip op. at 14; 515 F.3d at 232.  Some supporting facts may be required to state a claim under

Rule 8(a).  Phillips, 515 F.3d at 232.  In any case, mere recitation and quotation of statutory

language reframed as legal conclusions does not suffice to state a claim under Rule 8(a).  Iqbal,

2009 WL 1361536, slip op. at 14.

C. Defendant’s Arguments Pertaining to Rule 23

With respect to Nicholas’s class allegations, CMRE claims that it cannot determine its

Rule 12 defenses to class certification based on the complaint, specifically that the purported
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class is national in scope or that it is sufficiently numerous to justify a class action.  (Def. Br. at

15.)  Additionally, Defendant claims that it cannot at present determine based on Nicholas’s

Complaint whether or not a superiority defense to certification exists under Rule 23.  (Id.) 

Nicholas responds by claiming that the burden is on CMRE to deny, based on specific facts, that

a class can be certified in this matter.  (Pl. Opp. Br. at 11.)

After Twombly, courts in this circuit have found that class allegations must also comply

with Rule 8(a) in order to proceed to class discovery.  Hodczak v. Latrobe Specialty Steel Co.,

No. 08-649, 2009 WL 911311, at *9 (W.D. Pa. Mar. 31, 2009); Smith v. Lyons, Doughty &

Velduius, P.C., No. 07-5139, 2008 WL 2885887, at *5 (D.N.J. July 23, 2008).  Defendant is

correct in its argument that the Complaint does not set forth a sufficient factual basis for its class

allegations; indeed, the class allegations under Rule 23 in the Complaint are phrased as legal

conclusions based on the language of the class action pleading requirements.  (Compl. at 14-17.) 

Defendant’s motion is therefore granted with respect to Plaintiff’s class allegations, and a more

definite complaint must be filed in order to comply with Rule 8(a).  

CONCLUSION

For the reasons heretofore given, this Court grants Defendant’s motion for a more definite

statement.  An appropriate Order accompanies this Opinion.

DATED: June 9, 2009    /s/ Jose L. Linares              
United States District Judge
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
DISTRICT OF NEW JERSEY 

 
 
CHRISTINE M. NICHOLAS, an 
individual; on behalf of herself and all 
others similarly situated, 
 
  Plaintiffs, 
 
 vs. 
 
CMRE FINANCIAL SERVICES, INC., 
a California Corporation;  and JOHN 
AND JANE DOES NUMBERS 1 
THROUGH 25,  
 
  Defendants. 
 

Case No.: 2:08-cv-04857-JLL-CCC 
 
 

FIRST AMENDED 
CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT 

 
 Plaintiff, CHRISTINE M. NICHOLAS (“NICHOLAS”), on behalf of herself 

and all those similarly situated, by way of this Amended Class Action Complaint 

against Defendants, says: 

I.  PARTIES 

1. NICHOLAS is a natural person.  

2. At all times relevant to this complaint, NICHOLAS was a resident of 
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the Borough of Upper Saddle River, Bergen County, New Jersey.  

3. At all times relevant to this complaint, NICHOLAS was a citizen of 

the State of New Jersey.  

4. At all times relevant to this complaint, CMRE FINANCIAL 

SERVICES, INC. is a corporation existing pursuant to the laws of the State of 

California. 

5. CMRE maintains its principal business address at CMRE maintains its 

principal business address at 3075 East Imperial Highway, Suite 200, City of Brea, 

Orange County, California. 

6. Defendants, JOHN AND JANE DOES NUMBERS 1 THROUGH 25, 

are sued under fictitious names as their true names and capacities are yet unknown 

to Plaintiff. Plaintiff will amend this complaint by inserting the true names and 

capacities of these DOE defendants once they are ascertained.  

7. The Plaintiff is informed and believes, and on that basis alleges, that 

Defendants, JOHN AND JANE DOES NUMBERS 1 THROUGH 25, are natural 

persons and/or business entities all of whom reside or are located within the United 

States who personally created, instituted and, with knowledge that such practices 

were contrary to law, acted consistent with and oversaw policies and procedures 

used by the employees of CMRE that are the subject of this complaint. Those 

Defendants personally control the illegal acts, policies, and practices utilized by 
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CMRE and, therefore, are personally liable for all of the wrongdoing alleged in this 

Complaint. 

II.  JURISDICTION & VENUE 

8. Jurisdiction of this Court arises under 15 U.S.C. § 1692k(d) and 28 

U.S.C. § 1331.  

9. Declaratory relief is available pursuant to under 28 U.S.C. §§ 2201, 

2202. 

10. Venue is appropriate in this federal district pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 

1391(b) because a substantial part of the events giving rise to Plaintiff’s claims 

occurred within this federal judicial district, and because CMRE resides in the 

State of New Jersey within the meaning of 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b) and (c). 

III.  PRELIMINARY STATEMENT 

11. Plaintiff, on her own behalf and on behalf of the class she seeks to 

represent, brings this action for the illegal practices of the Defendants who used 

false, deceptive and misleading practices, and other illegal practices, in connection 

with their attempts to collect alleged debts from the Plaintiff and others. Plaintiff 

alleges that the Defendants’ collection practices violate the Fair Debt Collection 

Practices Act, 15 U.S.C. §§ 1692 et seq. (“FDCPA”). 
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12. Such practices include, inter alia: 

(a) Leaving telephonic voice messages for consumers and others, which 

fail to provide meaningful disclosure of CMRE’s identity;  

(b) Leaving telephonic voice messages for consumers, which fail to 

disclose that the call is from a debt collector; and 

(c) Leaving telephonic voice messages for consumers, which fail to 

disclose the purpose or nature of the communication (i.e. an attempt to 

collect a debt).  

13. The FDCPA regulates the behavior of collection agencies attempting 

to collect a debt on behalf of another. The United States Congress found abundant 

evidence of the use of abusive, deceptive, and unfair debt collection practices by 

many debt collectors, and has determined that abusive debt collection practices 

contribute to a number of personal bankruptcies, marital instability, loss of jobs, 

and invasions of individual privacy. Congress enacted the FDCPA to eliminate 

abusive debt collection practices by debt collectors, to ensure that those debt 

collectors who refrain from using abusive debt collection practices are not 

competitively disadvantaged, and to promote uniform State action to protect 

consumers against debt collection abuses. 15 U.S.C. § 1692(a) - (e).  

14. The FDCPA is a strict liability statute which provides for actual or 

statutory damages upon the showing of one violation. The Third Circuit has held 
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that whether a debt collector’s conduct violates the FDCPA should be judged from 

the standpoint of the “least sophisticated consumer.” Graziano v. Harrison, 950 

F.2d 107, 111, fn5 (3d Cir. 1991). 

15. To prohibit harassment and abuses by debt collectors the FDCPA, at 

15 U.S.C. § 1692d, provides that a debt collector may not engage in any conduct 

the natural consequence of which is to harass, oppress, or abuse any person in 

connection with the collection of a debt and names a non-exhaustive list of certain 

per se violations of harassing and abusive collection conduct. 15 U.S.C. § 

1692d(1)-(6). Among the per se violations is the placement of telephone calls 

without meaningful disclosure of the caller’s identity, 15 U.S.C. § 1692d(6). 

16. To prohibit deceptive practices, the FDCPA, at 15 U.S.C. § 1692e, 

outlaws the use of false, deceptive, and misleading collection letters and names a 

non-exhaustive list of certain per se violations of false and deceptive collection 

conduct. 15 U.S.C. § 1692e(1)-(16). Among these per se violations are:  the failure 

by debt collectors to disclose in initial oral communications that the debt collector 

is attempting to collect a debt and that any information obtained will be used for 

that purpose, and the failure to disclose in subsequent oral communications with 

consumers that the communication is from a debt collector, 15 U.S.C. § 1692e(11). 

17. The Plaintiff, on behalf of herself and all others similarly situated, 

seeks statutory damages, attorney fees, costs, and all other relief, equitable or legal 
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in nature, as deemed appropriate by this Court, pursuant to the FDCPA and all 

other common law or statutory regimes. The Plaintiff, on behalf of herself and all 

others similarly situated, requests that she and the class members be awarded 

statutory, common law, or actual damages payable by the Defendants. 

IV. FACTS CONCERNING PLAINTIFF 

18. Sometime prior to May 27, 2007, NICHOLAS sought personal 

medical services at East Valley Whittier Community Hospital. 

19. Plaintiff believes that Defendants sought to collect on a claim that 

Plaintiff owes money for some or all of those medical services. 

20. Although Plaintiff denies any obligation with respect to such a claim, 

the alleged obligation arises out of a transaction in which the services which were 

the subject of the transaction were for personal purposes. 

21. Based on the facts as alleged in Paragraphs 18-20, the alleged 

financial obligation to East Valley Whittier Community Hospital is a “debt” as 

defined by 15 U.S.C. §1692a(5). 

22. The Defendants contend that NICHOLAS defaulted on that debt.  

23. Because NICHOLAS is a natural person and the alleged obligation is 

a “debt” as defined by 15 U.S.C. §1692a(5), NICHOLAS is a “consumer” as that 

term is defined by 15 U.S.C. § 1692a(3). 

24. Based on the fact that CMRE has sought to collect the alleged 
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financial obligation, NICHOLAS alleges that the creditor claiming the alleged 

obligation either directly or through intermediate transactions assigned, placed, 

transferred, or sold the debt to CMRE for collection. 

25. CMRE collects, and attempts to collect, debts, such as the alleged 

obligation claimed against NICHOLAS, including alleged defaulted obligations for 

personal medical services on behalf of creditors using the U.S. Mail, telephone, 

and Internet. 

26. Based on the allegations in Paragraph 25, CMRE is a “debt collector” 

as defined by 15 U.S.C. § 1692a(6). 

27. As more particularly set forth infra at Paragraphs 28-31, within the 

one year immediately preceding the filing of the initial complaint, CMRE placed 

telephone calls to NICHOLAS and left pre-recorded telephonic voice messages on 

her cellular voicemail system (“Messages”). 

28. On October 2, 2007, being within the one year immediately preceding 

the filing of the initial complaint, NICHOLAS received the following Message on 

her cellular voicemail system which could only be left by dialing her cellular 

telephone number which bears a “201” area code, and which is embedded in the 

electronic filing of this complaint and can be heard by clicking here and is 

transcribed as follows: 

“We are calling on behalf of - Intercommunity E Slash R M E D 
Group. This message is concerning an important business matter 
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intended only for - Christine Cohen. If you are this person, please 
contact us at 1-800-783-9118, extension - 450. And when calling, 
please refer to Reference Number - 5907994. If you are not this 
person, please disregard this message and hang-up.” 
  
29. On October 9, 2007, being within the one year immediately preceding 

the filing of the initial complaint, NICHOLAS received the following Message on 

her cellular voicemail system which could only be left by dialing her cellular 

telephone number which bears a “201” area code, and which is embedded in the 

electronic filing of this complaint and can be heard by clicking here and is 

transcribed as follows: 

“We are calling on behalf of - Intercommunity E Slash R M E D 
Group. This message is concerning an important business matter 
intended only for - Christine Cohen. If you are this person, please 
contact us at 1-800-783-9118, extension - 450. And when calling, 
please refer to Reference Number - 5907994. If you are not this 
person, please disregard this message and hang-up.”  
 
30. On October 30, 2007, being within the one year immediately 

preceding the filing of the initial complaint, NICHOLAS received the following 

Message on her cellular voicemail system which could only be left by dialing her 

cellular telephone number which bears a “201” area code, and which is embedded 

in the electronic filing of this complaint and can be heard by clicking here and is 

transcribed as follows: 

“We are calling on behalf of - Intercommunity E Slash R M E D 
Group. This message is concerning an important business matter 
intended only for - Christine Cohen. If you are this person, please 
contact us at 1-800-783-9118, extension - 450. And when calling, 
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please refer to Reference Number - 5907994. If you are not this 
person, please disregard this message and hang-up.”  
 
31. On November 15, 2007, being within the one year immediately 

preceding the filing of the initial complaint, NICHOLAS received the following 

Message on her cellular voicemail system which could only be left by dialing her 

cellular telephone number which bears a “201” area code, and which is embedded 

in the electronic filing of this complaint and can be heard by clicking here and is 

transcribed as follows: 

“We are calling on behalf of - Intercommunity E Slash R M E D 
Group. This message is concerning an important business matter 
intended only for - Christine Cohen. If you are this person, please 
contact us at 1-800-783-9118, extension - 450. And when calling, 
please refer to Reference Number - 5907994. If you are not this 
person, please disregard this message and hang-up.”  
 
32. According to the North American Numbering Plan Administration, 

the “201” area code is designated to a portion of the State of New Jersey. 

33. The telephone number “1-800-783-9118” is answered by debt 

collectors employed by CMRE. 

34. Each of the Messages alleged above was left on Plaintiff’s voicemail: 

(a) by CMRE through the use of its authorized employees and/or 

agents; and 

(b) in connection with an attempt to collect the alleged financial 

obligation. 
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35. Each of those Messages is a “communication” as defined by 15 

U.S.C. § 1692a(2). 

36. Each of those Messages failed to: 

(a) identify CMRE by name as the caller; 

(b) disclose that the communication was from a debt collector; and 

(c) disclose the purpose or nature of the communication (i.e., an 

attempt to collect a debt). 

37. At the time NICHOLAS received those Messages, she did not know: 

(a) the identity of caller; 

(b) that the caller was actually CMRE; 

(c) that the caller was a debt collector; 

(d) that the call concerned the collection of a debt; and 

(e) any person named “Intercommunity E Slash R M E D Group.” 

38. Each of those Messages is false, deceptive, and misleading in that the 

natural consequence of these communications is to harass, oppress, or abuse the 

least sophisticated consumer and other persons in violation of the FDCPA. 

39. Each of the Messages is false, deceptive, and misleading insofar as 

CMRE failed to give meaningful disclosure of its identity, disclose the purpose of 

its call, or disclose that CMRE is a debt collector, thereby circumventing 

Congress’s intent to permit the Plaintiff to make an informed decision as to 
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whether she wished to speak with a debt collector. 

V.  POLICIES AND PRACTICES COMPLAINED OF 

40. Each of the Messages transcribed in Paragraphs 28, 29, 30, and 31 is 

identical to the others except for the use of two different voices. The non-italicized 

text is in one voice and the italicized text is in another voice.  

41. The italicized text appears to be variable information which would 

vary depending on the information specific to the debt sought to be collected. 

Thus, (i) “Intercommunity E Slash R M E D Group” appears to be the identification 

of the creditor; (ii) “Christine Cohen” is the name of the consumer; (iii) “450” is 

the extension number to be used by the consumer when returning the call; and (iv) 

“5907994” is the referenced number used by Defendants to identify the debt 

sought to be collected. The non-italicized text appears to be information, which 

would be left with all messages. 

42. Based on the appearance of using pre-recorded messages with 

replacement of variables, it further appears that Defendants used an automated 

system for leaving messages on consumers’ telephone answering devices. 

43. The use of such an automated system is generally not by accident and, 

therefore, it is inferred and Plaintiff so alleges that it is Defendants’ policy and/or 

practice to leave pre-recorded telephonic voice messages for consumers which are 

the same as those left on Plaintiff’s voicemail except for replacing the italicized 
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variable information with the information applicable to the specific debt sought to 

be collected. 

44. Such messages, like the Messages left for Plaintiff, violate the 

FDCPA by uniformly failing to: 

(a) Provide meaningful disclosure of CMRE’s identity as the caller; 

(b) Disclose that the communication was from a debt collector; and 

(c) Disclose the purpose or nature of the communication (i.e., an attempt 

to collect a debt). 

45. It is Defendants’ uniform policy and practice to leave telephonic voice 

messages for consumers and other persons, such as the Messages, for consumers 

like Plaintiff throughout the United States of America.   

46. The Defendants’ uniform policy and practice of leaving automated 

and pre-recorded telephonic voice messages ensures that everyone will receive the 

identical message, each of which does not identify CMRE by name as the caller, 

fails to identify the caller as a debt collector, and fails to state that the call concerns 

an attempt to collect a debt.   

47. Based on Defendants’ use of an automated dialing and messaging 

system, Plaintiff reasonably believes and alleges that such messages were left for at 

least hundreds of consumers throughout the United States of America.  
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VI.  CLASS ALLEGATIONS 

48. This action is brought as a class action. 

49. Plaintiff brings this action on behalf of herself and on behalf of all 

other persons similarly situated pursuant to Rule 23 of the Federal Rules of Civil 

Procedure. 

50. The Plaintiff Class consists of all persons with addresses in the United 

States of America for whom CMRE left a message on the person’s telephone 

answering device in connection with the collection of a debt, which message failed 

to identify CMRE as the caller, disclose that the communication was from a debt 

collector, or state that the purpose or nature of the call was to collect a debt. 

51. The identities of all class members are readily ascertainable from the 

records of CMRE and those companies and governmental entities on whose behalf 

it attempt to collects debts. 

52. Excluded from the Plaintiff Class are the Defendants and all officers, 

members, partners, managers, directors, and employees of CMRE and their 

respective immediate families, and legal counsel for all parties to this action and all 

members of their immediate families. 

53. The class period is one year prior to the filing of the initial complaint 

in this action and continues up to and including the date of preliminary class 

certification. 
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54. There are questions of law and fact common to the Plaintiff Class, 

which common issues predominate over any issues involving only individual class 

members. Those principal issues are whether the Defendants’ telephonic voice 

messages, such as the Messages, violate 15 U.S.C. §§ 1692d(6) and 1692e(11). 

55. The Plaintiff’s claims are typical of the class members, as all are 

based upon the same facts and legal theories. 

56. The Plaintiff will fairly and adequately protect the interests of the 

Plaintiff Class defined in this complaint. The Plaintiff has retained counsel with 

experience in handling consumer lawsuits, complex legal issues, and class actions, 

and neither the Plaintiff nor her attorneys have any interests, which might cause 

them not to vigorously pursue this action. 

57. This action has been brought, and may properly be maintained, as a 

class action pursuant to the provisions of Rule 23 of the Federal Rules of Civil 

Procedure because there is a well-defined community interest in the litigation: 

(a) Numerosity: The Plaintiff is informed and believes, and on that basis 

alleges, that the Plaintiff Class defined above is so numerous that 

joinder of all members would be impractical. 

(b) Common Questions Predominate: Common questions of law and 

fact exist as to all members of the Plaintiff Class and those questions 

predominate over any questions or issues involving only individual 
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class members. The principal issues are whether the Defendants’ 

telephonic voice messages, such as the Messages, violate 15 U.S.C. 

§§ 1692d(6) and 1692e(11). 

(c) Typicality: The Plaintiff’s claims are typical of the claims of the class 

members. Plaintiff and all members of the Plaintiff Class have claims 

arising out of the Defendants’ common uniform course of conduct 

complained of herein. 

(d) Adequacy: The Plaintiff will fairly and adequately protect the 

interests of the class members insofar as Plaintiff has no interests that 

are adverse to the absent class members. The Plaintiff is committed to 

vigorously litigating this matter. Plaintiff has also retained counsel 

experienced in handling consumer lawsuits, complex legal issues, and 

class actions. Neither the Plaintiff nor her counsel has any interests 

which might cause them not to vigorously pursue the instant class 

action lawsuit. 

(e) Superiority: A class action is superior to the other available means 

for the fair and efficient adjudication of this controversy because 

individual joinder of all members would be impracticable. Class 

action treatment will permit a large number of similarly situated 

persons to prosecute their common claims in a single forum efficiently 
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and without unnecessary duplication of effort and expense that 

individual actions would engender. An important public interest will 

be served by addressing the matter as a class action, substantial 

expenses to the litigants and to the judicial system will be realized, 

and the potential inconsistent or contradictory adjudications will be 

avoided as contemplated by Rule 23(b)(1) of the Federal Rules of 

Civil Procedure. 

58. Certification of a class under Rule 23(b)(1)(A) of the Federal Rules of 

Civil Procedure is appropriate because adjudications with respect to individual 

members create a risk of inconsistent or varying adjudications which could 

establish incompatible standards of conduct for CMRE, which, on information and 

belief, collects debts throughout the United States of America.  

59. Certification of a class under Rule 23(b)(2) of the Federal Rules of 

Civil Procedure is also appropriate in that a determination that messages violate 15 

U.S.C. §1692d(6) and/or §1692e(11) is tantamount to declaratory relief and any 

monetary relief under the FDCPA would be merely incidental to that 

determination. 

60. Certification of a class under Rule 23(b)(3) of the Federal Rules of 

Civil Procedure is also appropriate in that the questions of law and fact common to 

members of the Plaintiff Class predominate over any questions affecting an 
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individual member, and a class action is superior to other available methods for the 

fair and efficient adjudication of the controversy. 

VII.  FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION  
VIOLATIONS OF THE FAIR DEBT COLLECTION PRACTICES ACT 

(AGAINST ALL DEFENDANTS) 
 

61. Plaintiff realleges and incorporates by reference the allegations in the 

preceding paragraphs of this Amended Complaint. 

62. Defendants violated the FDCPA. Defendants’ violations with respect 

to the Messages include, but are not limited to, the following: 

(a) Placing telephone calls without providing meaningful disclosure of 

CMRE’s identity as the caller in violation of 15 U.S.C. § 1692d(6); 

and 

(b) Failing to disclose in all oral communications that CMRE is a debt 

collector in violation of 15 U.S.C. §1692e(11). 

VIII.  PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

63. This action has been brought, and may properly be maintained, as a 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff respectfully requests that the Court enter judgment in her 

favor and in favor of the Plaintiff Class as follows: 

(a) An order certifying that the First Cause of Action may be maintained 

as a class pursuant to Rule 23 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure 

and appointing NICHOLAS and the undersigned counsel to represent 
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the Plaintiff Class as previously set forth and defined above. 

(b) An award of the maximum statutory damages for NICHOLAS and the 

Plaintiff Class pursuant to 15 U.S.C. § 1692k(a)(B); 

(c) Declaratory relief adjudicating that CMRE’s telephone messages 

violate the FDCPA; 

(d) Attorney’s fees, litigation expenses, and costs pursuant to 15 U.S.C. § 

1692k(a)(B)(3); and 

(e) For such other and further relief as may be just and proper. 

 
 
Dated: July 9, 2009 

WACKS & HARTMANN, LLC 
 

/s/ Philip D. Stern 
 PHILIP D. STERN 

Attorneys for Plaintiff, Christine M. Nicholas, 
and all others similarly situated 
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Virginia A. Pallotto 

BUDD LARNER, P.C. 

150 J. F. Kennedy Parkway, 3rd floor 

Short Hills, New Jersey 07078-2703 

973-379-4800 

973-379-7734 facsimile 

vpallotto@budd-larner.com  

Attorneys for Defendant 

CMRE Financial Services, Inc. 

 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT  

FOR THE DISTRICT OF NEW JERSEY 
 

 

CHRISTINE M. NICHOLAS, on behalf of 

herself and all others similarly situated, 

 

                                  Plaintiff, 

 

                 - against -  

 

CMRE FINANCIAL SERVICES, INC.,  

and JOHN AND JANE DOE NUMBERS 1  

THROUGH 25, 

 

                                  Defendants. 

 

: 

: 

: 

: 

: 

: 

: 

: 

: 

: 

: 

: 

: 

  

 

 

 

         

Civil Action No.: 08-CV 04857 (JLL) 

 

ORDER 

 

THIS MATTER having come before the Court upon the defendant CMRE Financial 

Services’ motion to dismiss pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b)(6); the Court 

having considered the motion and supporting documents, opposition papers, if any; and for good 

cause shown, 

IT IS on this ______
 
day of ____________, 2009 

ORDERED that the defendant’s motion to dismiss is granted; and it is further 

ORDERED that the Amended Complaint is hereby dismissed in its entirety, including its 

proposed class action, with prejudice. 

       ___________________________________ 

       Honorable Jose L. Linares, U.S.D.J. 
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 Wacks & Hartmann, LLC 
Attorneys at Law 

55 Madison Avenue, Suite 320A 
Morristown, New Jersey 07960 

(973) 644 0770 
DIRECT FAX (973) 532-0866 

pstern@WacksLaw.net 
Managing Members: 
New Jersey Office 
Edward Wacks + 

Christopher E. Hartmann 
 
New York Office 
Rio Guerrero 
Member, NY & NJ Bars 
404 Park Ave. South, 16th Floor 
New York, New York 10001 
(212) 481-2744   Fax: (212) 481-2746 
E-mail: rio@guerrerolawfirm.com 

Counsel: 
Beth C. Manes+ 

National Academy of Elder Law Attorneys 
National Association of Consumer Advocates 

Diane M. Weber+ 

Richard H. Beilin+ 

Philip D. Stern# 

Catherine Sloane* 

 
 
+ Member, NJ Bar Only 
# Member, NJ & DC Bars 
* Member, NY Bar Only 
 

Please reply to: Morristown 
 August 3, 2009 
 
 
U.S. District Court 
District of New Jersey 
Newark Vicinage Clerk’s Office 
Martin Luther King, Jr. Federal Building & U.S. Courthouse 
50 Walnut Street 
Newark, New Jersey 07102 
 
RE: Christine M. Nicholas, et al. v. CMRE Financial Services, Inc. 

Civil Action No.:  2:08-cv-04857-JLL-CCC 
 
Dear Madam/Sir, 
 
This letter is sent invoking the provisions of Local Civil Rule 7.1(d)(5) with respect to the 
pending Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6) Motion to Dismiss [Doc. 14], originally returnable on Monday, 
August 17, 2009. The new motion date is Tuesday, September 8, 2009. 
 
Very truly yours, 

 
Philip D. Stern 
via ECF 
cc: Joseph J. Schiavone, Esq., Budd Larner, PC, via ECF Notice 
 David A. Niles, Esq., Budd Larner, PC, via ECF Notice 
 Virginia A. Pallotto, Esq., Budd Larner, PC, via ECF Notice 

pds1311 
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 Wacks & Hartmann, LLC 
Attorneys at Law 

55 Madison Avenue, Suite 320A 
Morristown, New Jersey 07960 

(973) 644 0770 
DIRECT FAX (973) 532-0866 

pstern@WacksLaw.net 
Managing Members: 
New Jersey Office 
Edward Wacks + 

Christopher E. Hartmann 
 
New York Office 
Rio Guerrero 
Member, NY & NJ Bars 
404 Park Ave. South, 16th Floor 
New York, New York 10001 
(212) 481-2744   Fax: (212) 481-2746 
E-mail: rio@guerrerolawfirm.com 

Counsel: 
Beth C. Manes+ 

National Academy of Elder Law Attorneys 
National Association of Consumer Advocates 

Diane M. Weber+ 

Richard H. Beilin+ 

Philip D. Stern# 

Catherine Sloane* 

 
 
+ Member, NJ Bar Only 
# Member, NJ & DC Bars 
* Member, NY Bar Only 
 

Please reply to: Morristown 
 August 3, 2009 
 
Hon. Jose L. Linares, U.S.D.J. 
U.S. District Court 
District of New Jersey 
Martin Luther King, Jr. Federal Building & U.S. Courthouse 
50 Walnut Street 
Newark, New Jersey 07102 
 
RE: Christine M. Nicholas, et al. v. CMRE Financial Services, Inc. 

Civil Action No.:  2:08-cv-04857-JLL-CCC 
 
Dear Judge Linares, 
 
I am counsel for the Plaintiff. Earlier today I filed a letter request [Doc. 15] pursuant to 
L.Civ.R.7.1(d)(5) with respect to the pending Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6) Motion to Dismiss [Doc. 
14]. That motion was originally returnable on Monday, August 17, 2009, which made Plaintiff’s 
opposition due today, August 3, 2009. Plaintiff’s request for an extension should have been filed 
before today; however, this did not happen due to an inadvertent scheduling error my staff made 
when calendaring the motion. 
 
In light of the above, Plaintiff respectfully requests that Your Honor modify the return date of 
Defendant’s Motion to Dismiss [Doc. 14] so that it is returnable on Tuesday, September 8, 2009. 
I have conferred with counsel for the Defendant, David A. Niles, Esq., and he consents to 
Plaintiff’s request for a modification of the return date to September 8, 2009. 
 
Very truly yours, 

 
Philip D. Stern 
pds1311 

Case 2:08-cv-04857-JLL-CCC     Document 16      Filed 08/03/2009     Page 1 of 2



Philip D. Stern to Hon. Jose L. Linares, U.S.D.J. 
Monday, August 3, 2009 
Page 2 of 2 
 

pds1465 

via ECF 
cc: Joseph J. Schiavone, Esq. via ECF Notice 
 David A. Niles, Esq. via ECF Notice 
 Virginia A. Pallotto, Esq. via ECF Notice 
 Jason T. Watson, Esq. via ECF Notice 
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Wacks & Hartmann, LLC 
Attorneys at Law 
55 Madison Avenue, Suite 320A 
Morristown, NJ 07960-7397 
Telephone: (973) 644-0770 
Attorney of record: Philip D. Stern 
Attorneys for Plaintiff, Christine M. Nicholas 

 

 
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

DISTRICT OF NEW JERSEY 
 

 
CHRISTINE M. NICHOLAS, an 
individual; on behalf of herself and all 
others similarly situated, 
 
  Plaintiffs, 
 
 vs. 
 
CMRE FINANCIAL SERVICES, INC., 
a California Corporation; and JOHN 
AND JANE DOES NUMBERS 1 
THROUGH 25, 
 
  Defendants. 
 

Case No.: 2:08cv04857-JLL-CCC 

 
 

PLAINTIFF’S RESPONDING BRIEF 
OPPOSING DEFENDANT’S DISMISSAL MOTION 
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PROCEDURAL HISTORY 

 Plaintiff, Christine Nicholas, filed the Complaint on September 30, 2008. 

[CM/ECF#1]. Defendant, CMRE Financial Services, Inc., was served on October 

2, 2008. [CM/ECF#3]. On October 21, 2008, CMRE filed a request for additional 

time to respond to the Complaint. [CM/ECF#4]. 

 On November 6, 2008, CMRE filed a motion for a more definite statement 

under Fed.R.Civ.P. 12(e). [CM/ECF#5]. The motion was opposed. [CM/ECF#7]. 

By written decision and order entered on June 11, 2009, the motion was granted 

and Nicholas afforded 30 days to amend her complaint. [CM/ECF#11 & 12] 

Nicholas filed an Amended Complaint on July 9, 2009. [CM/ECF#13]. On 

July 23, 2009, CMRE filed a motion to dismiss to dismiss under Fed.R.Civ.P. 

12(b)(6). [Dkt14]. Plaintiff now opposes CMRE’s dismissal motion. 
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STATEMENT OF FACTS 

 As CMRE’s motion brief correctly observes, for purposes of a motion under 

Fed.R.Civ.P. 12(b)(6), the allegations of Plaintiff’s Amended Complaint must be 

taken as true omitting only unsupported conclusions and unwarranted inferences. 

[CM/ECF#14-2 at p.6]. Thus, Plaintiff relies on the allegations of the Amended 

Complaint [CM/ECF#13] for the factual record on this motion. 

 CMRE’s motion also correctly notes that Plaintiff’s Amended Complaint 

dropped the claim under the Telephone Consumer Protection Act, 47 U.S.C. §227 

et seq. (“TCPA”). Generally, the TCPA prohibits using automatic dialing systems 

to leave pre-recorded voicemail messages on cellular phones unless the consumer 

gives “prior express consent.” On December 27, 2007, the Federal 

Communications Commission issued a declaratory ruling that a consumer who 

gives his or her cell phone number to a creditor when applying for credit impliedly 

gives prior express consent to the creditor’s debt collector. FCC Declaratory 

Ruling, FCC 07-232, 23 F.C.C.R. 559, at p. 9 (Dec. 28, 2007) (“2007 FCC 

Ruling”). 

On May 20, 2008, the Northern District of California held that the 2007 FCC 

Ruling was “manifestly contrary to  the plain language of the [TCPA], is 

unreasonable, and therefore . [sic] is not deserving of deference.” Leckler v. 

Cashcall, Inc., 554 F. Supp. 2d 1025, 1033 (N.D. Cal. 2008) (“Leckler I”). Months 
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later, however, that court vacated Leckler I, concluding that the District Court 

lacked jurisdiction under the Hobbs Act, 28 U.S.C. §2342, which limits review of 

the FCC to the Courts of Appeal. Leckler v. Cashcall, Inc., 2008 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 

97439, *8 (N.D. Cal. Nov. 21, 2008) (“Leckler II”). As a result, the 2007 FCC 

Ruling remains the law and would bar Nicholas’s TCPA claim. 

 The initial complaint in this action was filed after Leckler I, but before the 

Leckler II. Consequently, when Nicholas was provided the opportunity to amend 

her pleading in June 2009, she voluntarily dropped her TCPA claim.  
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LEGAL ARGUMENTS 

POINT I: THE AMENDED COMPLAINT ALLEGES “SUPERIORITY” 
WITH RESPECT TO A RULE 23(b)(1) CLASS ACTION, 
WHICH IS SUFFICIENT TO DEFEAT THE MOTION TO 
DISMISS. 

   
CMRE contends that Plaintiff’s class claims ought to be dismissed. CMRE 

posits that a class could only be certified, if at all, under Fed.R.Civ.P. 23(b)(3), one 

element of which is that the class relief is superior to class members’ individual 

lawsuits. CMRE argues that a class cannot be superior if the class size is so large 

as to render a de minimus recovery for each class member. 

For purposes of its motion, CMRE assumes class damages of $500,000.00, 

which is the maximum statutory damages allowable under the Fair Debt Collection 

Practices Act, 15 U.S.C. §1692 et seq. (“FDCPA”), at §1692k(a)(2)(B). 

Plaintiff’s Amended Complaint alleges that the voicemail “messages were 

left for at least hundreds of consumers throughout the United States of America.” 

[CM/ECF#13 at ¶47]. If correct, the per capita class recovery would be somewhere 

between $500.50 (999 members) and $5,000.00 (100 members) – certainly not a de 

minimis amount. Rather than directly address the allegation in the Amended 

Complaint, CMRE improperly travels aimlessly outside the four corners of that 

pleading. 
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A. CMRE’s Improper Excursions Outside the Amended Complaint. 
 

CMRE’s first stop outside the pleading is Plaintiff’s initial complaint. Bear 

in mind, that CMRE previously moved for a more definite statement under 

Fed.R.Civ.P. 12(e) because it found so non-specific that it was unable to frame a 

response. In the initial complaint, Nicholas’s only allegation of class size was in 

¶54(a): 

The Plaintiff is informed and believes, and on that basis alleges, 
that the classes defined above are so numerous that joinder of 
all members would be impractical. [CM/ECF#1 at p. 14.] 
 

On that prior motion, CMRE argued that Nicholas “fails to 

specify…the…number…of the currently known class members.” [CM/ECF#5-2 at 

p. 6.] It was successful on that motion and Nicholas filed an Amended Complaint 

with more specific allegations. 

Unhappy with the results of the Amended Complaint, CMRE now chooses 

to ignore Plaintiff’s specific allegations and look back to what it previously argued 

was a deficient pleading. 

CMRE cites Plaintiff’s initial complaint for the proposition that Nicholas 

alleged a class size numbering in the “thousands” or “tens of thousands.” CMRE 

completely misreads the unambiguous allegations in the initial complaint. 

Nevertheless, relying on its erroneous reading, CMRE attacks Nicholas personally, 

accusing her of attempting “to downplay the size of the potential class” in her 
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Amended Complaint. Nicholas never alleged that there were thousands or even 

tens of thousands of class members. 

The “thousands” and “tens of thousands” quotes refer to the number of 

telephone calls that were alleged to violate the TCPA – not the number of FDCPA 

class members. The FDCPA provides for individual statutory damages per case 

regardless of the number of violations. In contrast, the TCPA allows recovery of up 

to $1,500.00 for each violation. Compare 15 U.S.C. §1692k(a)(2) with 47 U.S.C. 

§227(b)(3). The Amended Complaint alleges that Plaintiff received four calls 

during the one year period prior to filing the initial complaint and that the class size 

is in the hundreds. Thus, it was reasonable for her to allege in the initial complaint 

that there were thousands of calls. 

The number of calls were important for this Court’s jurisdiction. On its own, 

the TCPA is not a basis for federal question jurisdiction. Congress mandated that 

TCPA claims to be filed in state court. 47 U.S.C. §227(b)(3). Federal jurisdiction 

could be established, however, under the Class Action Fairness Act of 2005 

(“CAFA”), codified at 28 U.S.C. §1332(d)(2). Thus, Plaintiff’s initial complaint 

alleged jurisdiction of the TCPA claims under CAFA by asserting that the number 

of calls violating the TCPA – not the class size – were of sufficient number to meet 

CAFA’s monetary threshold for federal court jurisdiction. Specifically, at ¶5 of the 

initial complaint: 
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With respect to Plaintiff’s claims under the Telephone 
Consumer Protection Act, 47 U.S.C. § 227 et seq. (“TCPA”), 
jurisdiction is proper under 28 U.S.C. § 1332(d)(2) because 
Plaintiff seeks up to $1,500.00 in damages for each telephone 
call in violation of the TCPA, which, when aggregated among a 
proposed class number in the tens of thousands, exceeds the 
$5,000,000.00 threshold required for federal court jurisdiction. 
[Dkt1 at p. 2 (emphasis added).] 
 

CMRE also cites ¶39 of the initial complaint to argue that Nicholas 

recognized that the class size is in the thousands. [Dkt14-2 at p. 8.] Again, the 

“thousands” to which the initial complaint refers is the number of calls violating 

the TCPA – not the number of class members.  Thus, in its entirely, ¶39 alleged: 

On information and belief, the TCPA Calls, as alleged in this 
complaint under the Facts Concerning Plaintiff, number at least 
in the thousands. [Dkt1 at p. 10 (emphasis added).] 
 

Citing two FDCPA cases, CMRE argues that “FDCPA matters are routinely 

comprised of tens of thousands of class members.” [Dkt14-2 at p. 11.] For 

purposes of a Fed.R.Civ.P. 12(b)(6) motion, the allegation, which must be accepted 

as true, is that the messages complained of “were left for at least hundreds of 

consumers.” [CM/ECF#13 at ¶47]. Even if there were as many as 1,000 class 

members, the per capita distribution would be $500 – certainly not a de minimis 

sum. 

Curiously, while CMRE is willing to wanders outside the four corners of the 

Amended Complaint, it has not come forth with the any relevant evidence. For 

example, it has not submitted an affidavit establishing the number of consumers for 
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whom CMRE left messages containing the infirmities cited in the Amended 

Complaint. 

CMRE, arguing that individual claims are superior, incorrectly assumes 

those claims would automatically result in $1,000.00 awards – the maximum 

individual statutory damages allowable under the FDCPA. A court or jury, after 

considering the factors under 15 U.S.C. §1692k(b)(1), could award anything 

between zero and a thousand dollars. Thus, $5, $10, $25, $50 or $100 in class 

distribution might well be deemed plenty considering that class members did not 

have to preserve evidence, find an attorney knowledgeable in the FDCPA, incur 

the risks of litigation, or spend time as a litigant. Moreover, those who wish to 

pursue an individual claim would have the right to opt out if they believe that they 

are better off pursuing an individual claim. See, Fed.R.Civ.P. 23(c)(2)(B)(v). 

 

B. CMRE’s False Assumption that De Minimus Recovery is an Absolute 
Bar to Class Certification. 
 

It is premature to guess whether there will be a de minimus recovery and, if 

so, whether it should bar certification. Even if discovery suggests such a recovery, 

Nicholas does not concede that a de minimis recovery automatically prevents 

certification. Even CMRE’s brief acknowledges that the few pertinent FDCPA 

decisions differ in their treatment of de minimus recovery. [Dkt14-2 at p. 11]. 
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In Weiss v. Regal Collections, 385 F.3d 337, 345 (3rd Cir. 2004), the Third 

Circuit Court of Appeals discussed the class action device in FDCPA cases: 

Congress explicitly provided for class damages in the FDCPA. 
Congress also intended the FDCPA to be self-enforcing by 
private attorney generals. Representative actions, therefore, 
appear to be fundamental to the statutory structure of the 
FDCPA. Lacking this procedural mechanism, meritorious 
FDCPA claims might go unredressed because the awards in an 
individual case might be too small to prosecute an individual 
action. [Internal citations omitted; emphasis added.] 

 
 Indeed, the FDCPA expressly authorizes class actions notwithstanding a de 

minimus recovery. Congress provided that statutory damages in class cases be 

“such amount as the court may allow for all other class members, without regard to 

a minimum individual recovery, not to exceed” $500,000. 15 U.S.C. 

§1692k(a)(2)(B) (emphasis added). It must be presumed that Congress concluded 

that other statutory policies would be promoted by a class action even if there were 

“a minimum individual recovery.” 

Class statutory damages serve the deterrent policies of the FDCPA. 

Allowing a debt collector to escape all class liability because its unlawful conduct 

is so widespread frustrates the FDCPA. The Court has the tools to address just such 

a situation. The Court can direct a cy pres payment, provide for an opt-in of those 

who want to assert their claims, or it can refine the class definition to be limited to, 

for example, New Jersey consumers or those whose creditor is Intercommunity 

E/R Med. 
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CMRE’s argument is, ultimately, disingenuous. In effect, CMRE says that, 

when it violates the rights of only some consumers, a class action might be 

appropriate but, when it violates the rights of lots of consumers, it is absolved from 

paying any class damages. 

None of these issues, however, can be resolved on a Fed.R.Civ.P. 12(b)(6) 

motion and CMRE’s motion should be denied. 
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POINT II: TELEPHONE MESSAGES FROM A DEBT COLLECTOR 
WHICH “CONVEY INFORMATION REGARDING A DEBT” 
MUST DISCLOSE THAT THE MESSAGE IS LEFT BY A 
DEBT COLLECTOR. CMRE’S MESSAGES CONVEYED 
INFORMATION REGARDING A DEBT BUT FAILED TO 
CONTAIN THE REQUIRED DISCLOSURE. THEREFORE, 
THE AMENDED COMPLAINT STATES A CLAIM FOR 
VIOLATIONS OF FDCPA.  

 
CMRE argues that the voicemail messages which it left in the course of 

attempting to collect a debt from Plaintiff do not constitute a “communication” as 

defined under the at 15 U.S.C. §1692a(2). This argument has been repeatedly 

litigated and, with one exception, rejected. In the one exception, which has been 

criticized but never followed, the facts are quite distinguishable from those at bar. 

This case presents what both sides of the FDCPA bar call “Foti cases” –

named after Foti v. NCO Financial Systems, Inc., 424 F.Supp.2d 643 (S.D.N.Y. 

2006). These cases address what a debt collector must say in a telephone message 

left on an answering machine or in a voicemail to comply with 15 U.S.C. 

§§1692d(6) and 1692e(11). 

 

A. CMRE Does Not Challenge Plaintiff’s Claim Under §1692d(6). 
 

The obligation to comply with 15 U.S.C. §1692d(6) is not triggered by a 

“communication.”  Thus, CMRE’s motion, which addresses whether the messages 

are a “communication,” does not seek to dismiss Nicholas’s claims under 15 

U.S.C. §1692d(6). 
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The FDCPA prohibits debt collector from engaging “in any conduct the 

natural consequence of which is to harass, oppress, or abuse any person in 

connection with the collection of a debt.” 15 U.S.C. §1692d. It then articulates a 

list of six actions which are deemed to constitute a violation. The last one provides: 

Except as provided in section 1692b of this title [calling a third 
party to acquire a consumer’s residence, telephone number or 
place of work], the placement of telephone calls without 
meaningful disclosure of the caller’s identity. [15 U.S.C. 
§1692d(6).] 

 
The calls here do not fall under 15 U.S.C. §1692b and, therefore, “meaningful 

disclosure” was required. 

In a case in which individual employees of a collection agency used 

pseudonyms (called “desk names”), it was held that “meaningful disclosure” is 

satisfied when “an individual debt collector who is employed by a debt collection 

company accurately discloses the name of her employer and the nature of her 

business and conceals no more than her real name.” Wright v. Credit Bureau of 

Ga., Inc., 548 F. Supp. 591, 597 (N.D. Ga. 1982); see also, Joseph v. J.J. Mac 

Intyre Cos., 281 F. Supp. 2d 1156, 1163 (N.D. Cal. 2003). Section 1692d(6) 

“requires that the caller must state his or her name and capacity, and disclose 

enough information so as not to mislead the recipient as to the purpose of the call 

or the reason the questions are being asked.” Hosseinzadeh v. M.R.S. Associates, 

387 F. Supp. 2d 1104, 1112 (C.D. Cal. 2005); see also, Costa v. Nat’l Action Fin. 
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Servs., 2007 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 93230 (E.D. Cal., Dec. 19, 2007); and Glover v. 

Client Servs., 2007 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 73604, *14-16 (W.D. Mich., Oct. 2, 2007). 

 The messages alleged in Plaintiff’s Amended Complaint identify neither the 

caller (i.e. CMRE) nor purpose of the call (i.e. collection of a debt, not “an 

important business matter”). The messages appear in the Amended Complaint at 

¶¶28-31 [Dkt13].  

 Additionally, the Amended Complaint further alleges that, at the time 

Plaintiff received the telephone messages, she did not know: (1) the identity of 

caller; (2) that the caller was actually CMRE; (3) that the caller was a debt 

collector; (4) that the call concerned the collection of a debt; and (4) any person 

named “Intercommunity E Slash R M E D Group.” [Dkt13 at ¶37]. 

 

B. The Amended Complaint Adequately Pleads a Violation of §1692e(11). 
 

Unlike §1692d(6), the obligations under 15 U.S.C. §1692e(11) apply only to 

a “communication.” That section provides: 

The failure to disclose in the initial written communication with 
the consumer and, in addition, if the initial communication with 
the consumer is oral, in that initial oral communication, that the 
debt collector is attempting to collect a debt and that any 
information obtained will be used for that purpose, and the 
failure to disclose in subsequent communications that the 
communication is from a debt collector, except that this 
paragraph shall not apply to a formal pleading made in 
connection with a legal action. 
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 “The term ‘communication’ means the conveying of information regarding 

a debt directly or indirectly to any person through any medium.” 15 U.S.C. 

§1692a(2). The statute does not define “information,” which should be construed 

“so as to effect its [the FDCPA’s] purpose.” Brown v. Card Serv. Ctr., 464 F.3d 

450, 453 (3rd Cir. 2006).  

[T]he plain language of the definition of ‘communication’ is 
extremely broad, thus encompassing a wide range of acts. Any 
medium can be used to classify as a communication, and it 
includes all information regarding a debt. Thus, the logical 
interpretation of what constitutes communication includes 
relaying a phone number for the purposes of having the call 
returned to discuss a debt.” [Stinson v. Asset Acceptance, LLC, 
2006 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 42266, *7 (E.D. Va. June 12, 2006) 
(emphasis added).] 
 

Here, the messages admittedly left by CMRE contained information about the debt 

– namely, the callback telephone number used to discuss collection of the debt, the 

reference number which CMRE used to identify the debt, and the creditor 

(“Intercommunity E Slash R M ED”; probably, “Intercommunity E/R Med”). 

Thus, the messages were “communications.” 

Arguments that “communications” require specific information about a debt 

has been rejected. 

[A] narrow reading of the term “communication” to exclude 
instances such as the present case where no specific information 
about a debt is explicitly conveyed could create a significant 
loophole in the FDCPA, allowing debtors to circumvent the 
§1692e(11) disclosure requirement, and other provisions of the 
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FDCPA that have a threshold “communication” requirement, 
merely by not conveying specific information about the debt.  

 
Foti, 424 F.Supp.2d at 657 (S.D.N.Y. 2006). A broad reading of §1692e(11) 

promotes the statutory purposes of eliminating abusive practices and insuring that 

competitive debt collectors play by the same rules. 

 In Leyse v. Corporate Collection Services, Inc., 2006 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 

67719 (S.D.N.Y. September 18, 2006), on reconsideration, 2007 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 

30685 (S.D.N.Y., Apr. 19, 2007), “[t]he Messages did not mention anything 

pertaining to debt collection, or for that matter, anything pertaining to finances.” 

Id. at 15. The debt collector in Leyse argued that its messages were not 

communications – an argument which the court concluded “belies the FDCPA’s 

intent.” Id. at 16. 

Were this Court to determine that CCS’ Messages did not 
constitute communications “regarding [Leyse’s] debt”, the 
Court would be creating an exception to swallow the rule. 
Under such an exception, debt collectors would be able to abuse 
and harass consumers with phone calls and other forms of 
correspondence so long as there is no express mention of the 
consumers’ debts. But messages like the ones left by CCS were 
intended to initiate further dialogue regarding Plaintiff's alleged 
debt, and therefore constitute “communications”. [Id. at *18]. 

 
In Edwards v. Niagara Credit Solutions, Inc., 586 F. Supp. 2d 1346 (N.D. 

Ga. 2008) the court rejected the debt collector’s argument that the messages were 

not communications, reasoning that the messages conveyed information about a 
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debt simply by advising – as do the messages in the instant action – whom to call 

back and by giving a file number. 

 In Anchondo v. Anderson, Crenshaw & Assoc., 583 F.Supp.2d (D.N.M. 

2008), the message left by the debt collector stated: 

Hello. This message is for Elsa Anchondo. This is not a sales call. 
You have an important matter with our company that deserves your 
immediate attention. Please call me back as soon as possible at the 
following number: 866-400-3550. When returning this call, please 
refer to reference number 423635. If you wish to speak to someone 
now regarding your account, press zero. Thank you. [Id. at 1280] 
 

The court observed that, when the plaintiff proves that “the reference number … 

pertained to a debt, then the voicemail message was a ‘communication’ subject to 

the disclosure requirements of the FDCPA.” Id. at *5. 

 In Belin v. Litton Loan Svc’g., 2006 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 47953, *12 (M.D. 

Fla., July 14, 2006), the court rejected the no-communication argument “since 

courts have found that messages left on answering machines that did not directly 

convey information about a debt were still communications under the FDCPA, 

because they conveyed information about a debt indirectly, since the purpose of the 

message is to get the debtor to return the call to discuss the debt.” 

In Costa v. National Action Financial Services, 2007 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 

93230 (E.D.Ca. December 19, 2007), the message that “there was a matter that she 

should attend to and instructions on how to do so” was sufficient to indirectly 
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convey information regarding a debt and, therefore, was a “communication” under 

15 U.S.C. §1692a(2). Id. at *16. 

 All alone on this issue is District Judge Stephen Friot, sitting in the Western 

District of Oklahoma. That court issued the only opinion – albeit unreported – 

holding that the debt collector’s voice messages were not a communication. In 

Biggs v. Credit Collection Corp., 2007 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 84793 (W.D. Okla. Nov. 

15, 2007), Judge Friot concluded that the messages had not conveyed any 

information about a debt. No court has followed Biggs or cited it with approval; 

three courts, however, expressly rejected it. See, Mark v. J.C. Christensen & 

Assocs., 2009 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 67724 (D. Minn. Aug. 4, 2009); Edwards v. 

Niagara Credit Solutions, Inc., supra; and Ramirez v. Apex Fin. Mgmt., L.L.C., 567 

F. Supp. 2d 1035, 1040-41 (N.D. Ill. 2008). 

Even if Biggs were a correct statement of the law regarding the live 

messages before it, those messages materially differ from the pre-recorded 

messages at bar. The Biggs opinion does not quote the messages. According to the 

motion papers available through PACER (Western District of Oklahoma, Case 

5:07-cv-00053-F, Document 21-6, filed 10/01/2007), the voicemail or answering 

machine messages in Biggs were: 

Trying to reach Diana Biggs. This is Robert Sullivan calling from 
Oklahoma City. Please return my call at 290-2018. Thank you. 

[and] 
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I am trying to reach Diana Biggs. This is Robert Sullivan. Please 
return my call at 290-2018. Thank you. 
 

The messages in our case differ materially because they identify the creditor, a 

reference number and falsely represent that the calls concern “an important 

business matter.” Thus, Biggs is distinguishable on its facts.  

 Consequently, the only conclusion is each of CMRE’s pre-recorded 

messages, as alleged, is a “communication” within the meaning of 15 U.S.C. 

§1692a(2), that the disclosures under §1692e(11) are not in those messages, and 

the motion to dismiss should, therefore, be denied. 
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CONCLUSION 

 For the foregoing reasons, Plaintiff, Christine Nicholas, respectfully requests 

that the Motion to Dismiss under Fed.R.Civ.P. 12(b)(6) filed by Defendant, CMRE 

Financial Services, Inc., be denied. 

 
 
Dated: August 24, 2009 

WACKS & HARTMANN, LLC 
 

/s/ Philip D. Stern 
 PHILIP D. STERN 

Attorneys for Plaintiff, Christine M. Nicholas, 
and all others similarly situated 
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PROOF OF SERVICE 

I, Philip D. Stern, certify as follows: 

1. I am the attorney for Plainitff, Christine M. Nicholas. 

2. On August 24, 2009, I caused the following items to be electronically filed 
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this Court. Pursuant to such Policies and Procedures, all Filing Users associated 

with this case have been served: 

Virginia A. Pallotto, Esq. 
Budd Larner, P.C. 
150 John F. Kennedy Parkway 
Short Hills, NJ 07078-2703 

 
3. To my knowledge all parties appearing in this case have appeared 

through counsel who are Filing Users. 

Pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §1746, I hereby certify I certify under penalty of perjury that 
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 /s/ Philip D. Stern 
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Please reply to: Morristown 
  September 17, 2009 
 

REQUEST, UNDER L.Civ.R. 7.1(d)(6), 
FOR PERMISSION TO FILE SUR-REPLY 

 
Honorable Jose L. Linares, U.S.D.J. 
United States District Court 
50 Walnut Street 
P.O. Box 999 
Newark, NJ 07101 
 
RE: Christine M. Nicholas vs. CMRE Financial Services, Inc. 

Case 2:08-cv-04857-JLL-CCC 
 
Dear Judge Linares, 
 

I represent the Plaintiff. Kindly accept this letter as Plaintiff’s request for permission to 
file a sur-reply brief pursuant to L.Civ.R. 7.1(d)(6). 

 
Defendant offered new evidence and asserted new arguments in its reply papers; more 

particularly, the following three matters were not previously raised: 
 

First, Defendant submits an affidavit of its President in which she identifies hearsay 
(from Defendant’s contractor) which Defendant would like to be judicially noticed. The 
information relates to the putative class size. A Motion to Dismiss, however, tests the allegations 
of the complaint, which should be accepted as true along with consideration of documents 
referenced in the complaint and those matters which are judicially noticeable. By going outside 
of that limited record with this new affidavit, Defendant, in effect, seeks summary judgment (see, 
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Fed.R.Civ.P. 12(d)) as to a potential element for class certification in reply papers without any 
opportunity for Plaintiff to object or respond. Plaintiff seeks permission to respond.  
 
 Second, in Point IV of the Reply Brief, Defendant argued, for the very first time, that 
Plaintiff failed to plead an element of her claim. Plaintiff disagrees. Having failed to raise the 
argument in its Motion, Plaintiff is unable to explain why Defendant’s new argument is wrong. 
 
 Third, in Point IV of the Reply Brief, Defendant also argues, for the very first time, that 
the Foti line of cases only apply when messages are “used to initiate collection activities.” [Dkt. 
20 at pp. 11-12 (emphasis added).] Defendant cites four decisions as supporting that argument. 
Plaintiff contends that Defendant has misread those cases and, in one situation, taken a quote out 
of context. Again, Plaintiff seeks permission to explain the errors in Defendant’s argument. 
 
 For these reasons, Plaintiff respectfully requests that she be afforded the opportunity to 
address the reply papers by way of a sur-reply. 
 
Respectfully, 
s/ Philip D. Stern 
Philip D. Stern 
via ECF and U.S. Mail 
cc: David A. Niles, Esq., Budd Larner, P.C. via ECF 

Virginia A. Pallotto, Esq., Budd Larner, P.C. via ECF 
Joseph J. Schiavone., Budd Larner, P.C. via ECF 
Jason T. Watson, Esq., Budd Larner, P.C. via ECF 
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Legal Arguments 

POINT I: Defendant’s New Affidavit is Improper and Does Not Further 
Establish Any Basis to Dismiss the Class Claims. 

   
Defendant’s reply asks that “the Court take judicial notice of the Affidavit of 

Sandra Lawrence.” [Doc. 20 at page 13 of 20.] The Affidavit should be excluded 

as double hearsay of data told to the affiant based on records. If considered, the 

motion must be one for summary judgment. Fed.R.Civ.P. 12(d). Raised in the 

reply papers, however, Plaintiff has no opportunity “to present all the material that 

is pertinent to the motion.” Id. Consequently, the motion should be denied under 

Fed.R.Civ.P. 56(f) to permit pertinent discovery. 

Even if the Affidavit establishes class size and a de minimis recovery, it 

would not bar class certification. In Mace v. Van Ru Credit Corp., 109 F.3d 338 

(7th Cir. 1997), the District Court concluded that a nationwide class was required 

under the FDCPA and calculated a 28¢ per capita recovery. It then denied 

certification because, as Defendant argues here, a class action would not be  

superior. The Seventh Circuit disagreed and reversed, holding that the FDCPA 

does not compel only nationwide classes.  

But even if a nation-wide class were appropriate, we believe that a de 
minimis recovery (in monetary terms) should not automatically bar a class 
action. * * * 
 True, the FDCPA allows for individual recoveries of up to $ 1000. But 
this assumes that the plaintiff will be aware of her rights, willing to subject 
herself to all the burdens of suing and able to find an attorney willing to take 
her case. These are considerations that cannot be dismissed lightly in 
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assessing whether a class action or a series of individual lawsuits would be 
more appropriate for pursuing the FDCPA’s objectives. 
 The attorney’s fees provision of the FDCPA is another factor that must 
be considered in connection with a de minimis bar. * * * The attorney’s fee 
provision makes the class action more likely to proceed, thereby helping to 
deter future violations. When individual class members are offered the right 
and opportunity  to opt out of the class action, the statutory language 
“without regard to a minimum individual recovery” generally controls. 
[Mace, supra, at 344-345 (emphasis added, footnotes and citations omitted).] 

 
Thus, contrary to Defendant’s argument, a de minimis per capita recovery to a two 

million member class is not a per se bar to class certification.  

POINT II: Defendant’s New Arguments of Additional, But Unpled, Elements 
of Plaintiff’s Claims are Without Merit.  

 
Defendant argues that Plaintiff must allege her prior contacts because “the 

factual context of the contact between the debt collector and debtor prescribes the 

contours of the FDCPA’s reach.” [Doc. 20, at 15 of 20.] It cites Dikeman v. 

National Educators, 81 F.3d 949 (10th Cir. 1996) and Ignatowski v. GC Servs., 3 

F.Supp.2d 187 (D.Conn. 1990) which do not support Defendant’s argument but, to 

Plaintiff’s benefit, underscore Defendant’s FDCPA disclosure obligations. 

In both cases the debt collector responded to a request to send written 

materials to the consumer’s lawyer and held that repeated disclosures were not 

needed when dealing with a “learned intermediary.” Dikeman, supra, at 950; 

Ignatowski, supra, at 189 and note 5. Significantly, both decisions expressly stated 

that disclosures must be made to consumers regardless of their sophistication:  
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We do not by this decision hold that the disclosure requirement can be 
satisfied without a verbal statement in the case of a direct communication 
with the debtor simply because the debtor happens to be knowledgeable 
about the law or even a practicing lawyer. [Dikeman, supra, at 954n14.] 
 
This decision does not hold that the disclosure requirement can be satisfied 
without fulfilling the statutory requirements in the case of direct 
communication with the debtor merely because the debtor is a sophisticated 
consumer or is informed about the law or a practicing lawyer. [Ignatowski, 
supra, at 190n7 (emphasis in original).] 
 
Defendant then cites Foti v. NCO Financial Systems, Inc., 424 F.Supp.2d 

643, 670 (S.D.N.Y. 2006) regarding a January 26 returned call to the debt collector 

who made sufficient disclosures to satisfy 15 U.S.C. §1692e(11). By contrast, the 

messages here, like the January 18 message in Foti, violate 15 U.S.C. §1692e(11). 

Defendant also says that the disclosures are only required for initial 

communications. [Doc. 20 at 16-17 of 20.] In the space permitted for this sur-reply, 

Plaintiff cannot discuss each case. A reading of those cases reveals that they do not 

stand for the proposition that disclosures are limited to initial communications. 

Conclusion 

 For the foregoing reasons, Plaintiff, Christine Nicholas, respectfully requests 

that the Motion to Dismiss be denied. 

 WACKS & HARTMANN, LLC 
/s/ Philip D. Stern 

Dated: October 9, 2009 PHILIP D. STERN 
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 /s/ Philip D. Stern 
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:
:
:

Hon. Dennis M. Cavanaugh

OPINION

Civil Action No. 08-CV-4857 (DMC)

DENNIS M. CAVANAUGH, U.S.D.J.:

This matter comes before the Court upon motion by CMRE Financial Services, Inc.

(“Defendant”) to dismiss the Amended Complaint pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6).  Pursuant

to Fed. R. Civ. P. 78, no oral argument was heard.  After considering the submissions of all parties,

it is the decision of this Court for the reasons herein expressed that Defendant’s motion is denied.

I. BACKGROUND1

On September 30, 2008, Christine M. Nicholas (“Plaintiff”) filed an initial class action

Complaint, individually and on behalf of all other putative class members.  Plaintiff asserted claims

pursuant to the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act (“FDCPA”) and the Telephone Consumer

Protection Act (“TCPA”) against moving Defendant and twenty-five other fictitious Defendants. On

November 6, 2008, Defendant filed a motion for a more definite statement.  On July 9, 2009,
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Plaintiff filed an Amended Complaint (“Am. Compl.”), abandoning the original TCPA claims as no

longer viable in light of applicable case law.  On July 23, 2009, Defendant filed a motion to dismiss

in connection with the Amended Complaint.  

Prior to May 27, 2007, Plaintiff sought medical services at East Valley Whittier Community

Hospital.  Thereafter, Plaintiff began to receive pre-recorded telephonic messages transcribed as

follows: 

We are calling on behalf of - Intercommunity E Slash R M E D Group. This message
is concerning an important business matter intended only for - Christine Cohen. If you
are this person, please contact us at 1-800-783-9118, extension - 450. And when
calling, please refer to Reference Number - 5907994. If you are not this person, please
disregard this message and hang-up.

Am. Compl., ¶ 28-31.  The respective dates of these messages, as alleged by Plaintiff, include

October 2, 2007, October 9, 2007, October 30, 2007 and November 15, 2007.  Plaintiff alleges that

the telephone number contained in the voicemail is answered by debt collectors from CMRE.

Plaintiff believes that the calls were the product of an alleged and disputed debt arising from the

medical services previously sought by Plaintiff at East Valley Whittier Community Hospital.

Plaintiff contends that the voicemails constituted false, deceptive and misleading communications.

The Amended Complaint identifies a nationwide class, subject to certain exceptions, consisting of

all persons who received a voicemail from CMRE “in a connection with the collection of a debt,

which message failed to identify CMRE as the caller, disclose that the communication was from a

debt collector, or state that the purpose or nature of the call was to collect a debt.”  

II. STANDARD OF REVIEW

“The [d]istrict [c]ourt, in deciding a motion under Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6), [is] required to

accept as true all factual allegations in the complaint and draw all inferences in the facts alleged in

Case 2:08-cv-04857-DMC-MF   Document 26    Filed 03/16/10   Page 2 of 9



3

the light most favorable to the [Plaintiff].” Phillips v. County of Allegheny, 515 F.3d 224, 228 (3d

Cir. 2008).   “While a complaint attacked  by a Rule 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss does not need

detailed factual allegations, [ ] a plaintiff’s obligation to provide the ‘grounds’ of his ‘entitle[ment]

to relief’ requires more than labels and conclusions, and a formulaic recitation of the elements of a

cause of action will not do.”  Bell Atl. Corp. v. Twombly,  550 U.S. 544, 555 (2007).  “[A court is]

not bound to accept as true a legal conclusion couched as a factual allegation.”  Papasan v. Allain,

478 U.S. 265, 286 (1986).   “Factual allegations must be enough to raise a right to relief above a

speculative level, [ ] on the assumption that all factual allegations in the complaint are true (even if

doubtful in fact).”  Bell at 555-56. 

III. DISCUSSION

A. Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(b)(3) - Superiority Requirement 

Defendant contends that Plaintiff’s Amended Complaint fails to satisfy the superiority

requirement of Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 23(b)(3).  Specifically, Defendant alleges that the

alleged prospective class is likely to consist of thousands, or even millions of members, and

therefore, any prospective relief would result in de minimus recovery as a consequence of the

statutory cap on damages authorized pursuant to the “FDCPA.”  Therefore, Defendant claims that

the Amended Complaint should be dismissed with respect to the putative class because the proposed

class action is not the superior method of adjudication.    Plaintiff contends that the proposed class

likely numbers in the hundreds, and perhaps thousands, but not the tens of thousands or even

millions as suggested by Defendant. Further, Plaintiff argues that even if the putative class number

rose to the millions, de minimus recovery is not an automatic bar to a class action.  

“The FDCPA sets a $1000 statutory limit on damages awarded in a private actions.”  Weiss
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v. Regal Collections, 385 F.3d 337, 340 n.3 (3d Cir. 2004) (citing 15 U.S.C. § 1692k(a)). “The

statute also limits the amount of damages recoverable in a class action to the ‘lesser of $ 500,000 or

1 per centum of the net worth of the debt collector.’” Id. (citing 15 U.S.C. § 1692k(a)(2)(B)).

To certify a class, Rule 23(a) requires that there be numerosity, commonality, typicality and

adequacy of representation. Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(a).  If Rule 23(a) is satisfied, a class action may be

maintained where “the court finds that the questions of law or fact common to class members

predominate over any questions affecting only individual members, and that a class action is superior

to other available methods for fairly and efficiently adjudicating the controversy.”  Fed. R. Civ. P.

23(b)(3).  Relevant considerations include the following:

(A) the class members' interests in individually controlling the prosecution or defense
of separate actions;

(B) the extent and nature of any litigation concerning the controversy already begun by
or against class members;

(C) the desirability or undesirability of concentrating the litigation of the claims in the
particular forum; and

(D) the likely difficulties in managing a class action.

“The superiority requirement ‘asks the court to balance, in terms of fairness and efficiency, the

merits of a class action against those of alternative available methods of adjudication.’” In re Warafin

Sodium Antitrust Litig., 391 F.3d 516, 534 (3d Cir. 2004). In that case, the Warafin Court stated, 

[n]otably, there are a potentially large number of class members in this matter,
including some 2 million consumers and potentially thousands of TPPs. However,
individual consumer class members have little interest in "individually controlling
the prosecution or defense of separate actions," Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(b)(3)(A), because
each consumer has a very small claim in relation to the cost of prosecuting a lawsuit.
Thus, from the consumers' standpoint, a class action facilitates spreading of the
litigation costs among the numerous injured parties and encourages private
enforcement of the statutes. [internal citation omitted].  
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Id.  Assuming, without concluding, as Defendants contend that the putative class members number

in the millions, efficiency and fairness militate toward class action litigation, rather than timely,

duplicative and costly adjudication in potentially millions of suits by individual claimants.   

Similarly, in Stair v. Thomas & Cook, the United States District Court for the District of New

Jersey certified a class in a FDCPA claim consisting of 46 members and permitting recovery on an

individual basis of $59.78 per claimant from a fund of $2,750.  2010 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 48706, at

*5 n.2 (D.N.J. June 10, 2009); compare Leyse v. Corporate Collection Services, 2006 U.S. Dist.

LEXIS 67719, at *25 n.5. (S.D.N.Y. Sep. 18, 2006).  At this time, reading the Amended Complaint

in the light most favorable to Plaintiff, the Court declines to dismiss the putative class based on an

alleged de minimus recovery.  Therefore, Defendant’s motion is denied.  

B. 15 U.S.C. § 1692 - Communication

Defendant contends that the disputed messages do not convey information regarding debt,

therefore, the messages do not constitute communications pursuant to the FDCPA.  Further,

Defendant alleges that in the absence of a viable claim pursuant to the FDCPA, the representative

action must be dismissed for lack of typicality.  Additionally, Defendant asserts that Plaintiff fails

to plead the factual context in which the communication arose, specifically whether the voicemail

constituted an initial contact or a continuation of prior collection efforts.

By contrast, Plaintiff asserts that the message, identifying a creditor and debt collection

reference number, qualifies as a communication in connection to an alleged debt.  Further, in contrast

to 15 U.S.C. § 1692e, a ‘communication’ as defined by that provision is not required with respect

to the application of the disclosure provisions contained in 15 U.S.C. § 1692d. 

The goal of the FDCPA is to "eliminat[e] abusive debt collection practices by debt collectors
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. . . [and] insur[e] that those debt collectors who refrain from using abusive debt collection practices

are not competitively disadvantaged." Campuzano-Burgos v. Midland Credit Mgmt, 550 F.3d 294,

298 (3d Cir. 2008).  Pursuant to 15 U.S.C. § 1692a, “[t]he term ‘communication’ means the

conveying of information regarding a debt directly or indirectly to any person through any medium.”

“[G]iven the choice language by Congress,”

the FDCPA should be interpreted to cover communications that convey, directly or
indirectly, any information relating to a debt, and not just when the debt collector
discloses specific information about the particular debt being collected. Indeed, a
narrow reading of the term ‘communication’ to exclude instances such as the present
case where no specific information about a debt is explicitly conveyed could create
a significant loophole in the FDCPA, allowing debtors to circumvent the § 1692e(11)
disclosure requirement, and other provisions of the FDCPA that have a threshold
‘communication’ requirement, merely by not conveying specific information about
the debt.

Foti v. NCO Fin. Sys., 424 F. Supp.643, 657 (S.D.N.Y. 2006).  At the same time, “[a] phone call by

a debt collector that in no way regards, or relates to, an outstanding debt would not violate the Act.”

Id. “In determining whether there is a violation of § 1692e, courts apply the least sophisticated

consumer test.”  Id. at 668.

The voicemail left on Plaintiff’s cell phone may be transcribed as follows:

We are calling on behalf of - Intercommunity E Slash R M E D Group. This message
is concerning an important business matter intended only for - Christine Cohen. If you
are this person, please contact us at 1-800-783-9118, extension - 450. And when
calling, please refer to Reference Number - 5907994. If you are not this person, please
disregard this message and hang-up.

Am. Compl., ¶ 28-31.  

Defendant does not assert that voicemail on Plaintiff’s cell phone was in relation to something

other than debt collection, but instead contends that in failing to convey words concerning the alleged
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debt, the message is exempt from the definition of communication within the FDCPA.  Defendant also

seeks to impose a heightened pleading standard, requiring that Plaintiff plead the context in which the

individual messages arose.  The Court disagrees. 

With respect to Defendant’s argument that Plaintiff is required to plead the context of the

communication, the Court disagrees.  First, Defendant is misguided in citing the Costa v. Nat’l Action

Fin. Servs case.  634 F. Supp. 2d 1069 (E.D. Cal. 2007). That case holds that subsequent calls

initiated by a debtor to a creditor, not a creditor to a debtor, do not require a creditor to extend the

standard requisite disclosures mandated by 15 U.S.C. § 1692e.  Id. at 1076.  Defendant’s reliance

upon  Leyse is similarly misplaced.  There, the  Leyse Court determined that pre-recorded messages,

despite the failure of the caller to identify itself as a creditor, or agent of a creditor, and despite the

failure to identify the message as pertaining to debt or finance, constituted a communication with the

meaning of the § 1692e.   Defendant attempts to present the Court with a convoluted argument

hinging on the context in which the communication arose.  Regardless of whether the communication

is an effort to initiate communication or subsequent to an initial communication, it is clear that the

conveyance is subject to the provisions of 15 U.S.C. § 1692e(11).  In accordance with that provision,

[t]he failure to disclose in the initial written communication with the consumer and,
in addition, if the initial communication with the consumer is oral, in that initial oral
communication, that the debt collector is attempting to collect a debt and that any
information obtained will be used for that purpose, and the failure to disclose in
subsequent communications that the communication is from a debt collector
[constitutes a violation].

15 U.S.C. § 1692e(11).  Despite this provision, Defendant seeks to impose an unfounded contextual

distinction and heightened pleading standard that is not otherwise required with respect to Plaintiff’s

FDCPA claim.  
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Moreover, to the extent that Reference Number - 5907994 relates to collection of a debt, the

message constitutes a direct communication in accordance with the definition articulated by 15 U.S.C.

§ 1692e.  At the same time, if debt collection serves as the underlying purpose of the messages

extended to Plaintiff, then the voicemails constitute an indirect communication in accordance with the

definition articulated by 15 U.S.C. § 1692e.  The Court will not permit Defendant to obviate liability

by encrypting messages otherwise intended to extend communications concerning debt collection. On

this ground, Defendant’s motion is denied. 

C. Judicial Notice 

Pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(d), “[i]f, on motion under Rule 12(b)(6) [ ], matters outside the

pleadings are presented to and not excluded by the court, the motion must be treated as one for

summary judgment under Rule 56.   All parties must be given a reasonable opportunity to present all

the material that is pertinent to the motion.”  

Pursuant to that Fed. R. Evid. 201, “[a] judicially noticed fact must be one not subject to

reasonable dispute in that it is either (1) generally known within the territorial jurisdiction of the trial

court or (2) capable of accurate and ready determination by resort to sources whose accuracy cannot

reasonably be questioned.”  Fed. R. Evid. 201.  Further, "[a] 'document integral to or explicitly relied

upon in the complaint' may be considered 'without converting the motion [to dismiss] into one for

summary judgment.'” Kent v. Tabafunda, 2008 U.S. Dist. LEXIS  47649, *9 (D.N.J. June 19, 2008);

See Pension Benefit Guar. Corp. v. White Consul. Indus., 998 F.2d 1192, 1196 (3d Cir. 1993) (“We

now hold that a court may consider an undisputedly authentic document that a defendant attaches as

an exhibit to a motion to dismiss if the plaintiff's claims are based on the document.”).  “Any further
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expansion beyond the pleading, however, may require conversion of the motion into one for summary

judgment.”  Id.; Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(d).  

By way of reply, Defendant requests that the Court take judicial notice of the original

Complaint and an affidavit filed by Defendant in accordance with the instant motion.  Although the

initial Complaint is a matter of public record, the Complaint has been amended.  The Court is

cognizant of the inconsistency underscored by Defendant with respect to the alleged population of the

prospective class.  At the same time, pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6), the Court is required to treat

the allegations contained in the Amended Complaint as true for purposes of this motion.  Further, the

affidavit Defendant seeks to admit is premised upon the contention that an excessive amount of

potential claimants exist diluting prospective recovery.  This allegation is in direct contrast to

Plaintiff’s contention that around a thousand claimants exist.  In light of this disputed claimant

population, judicial notice of the affidavit is improper.   For purposes of the instant motion,

Defendant’s request for judicial notice is denied.

IV. CONCLUSION   

For the foregoing reasons, Defendants’ motion to dismiss Plaintiff’s Amended Complaint is

denied. An appropriate Order accompanies this Opinion. 

 S/ Dennis M. Cavanaugh                        
            Dennis M. Cavanaugh, U.S.D.J.

Dated: March   16  ,   2010
Original: Clerk
cc: All Counsel of Record

Hon. Mark Falk, U.S.M.J.
File  
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OPINION

Civil Action No. 08-CV-4857 (DMC)

DENNIS M. CAVANAUGH, U.S.D.J.:

This matter comes before the Court upon motion by CMRE Financial Services, Inc.

(“Defendant”) to dismiss the Amended Complaint pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6).  Pursuant

to Fed. R. Civ. P. 78, no oral argument was heard.  After considering the submissions of all parties,

it is the decision of this Court for the reasons herein expressed that Defendant’s motion is denied.

I. BACKGROUND1

On September 30, 2008, Christine M. Nicholas (“Plaintiff”) filed an initial class action

Complaint, individually and on behalf of all other putative class members.  Plaintiff asserted claims

pursuant to the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act (“FDCPA”) and the Telephone Consumer

Protection Act (“TCPA”) against moving Defendant and twenty-five other fictitious Defendants. On

November 6, 2008, Defendant filed a motion for a more definite statement.  On July 9, 2009,
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Plaintiff filed an Amended Complaint (“Am. Compl.”), abandoning the original TCPA claims as no

longer viable in light of applicable case law.  On July 23, 2009, Defendant filed a motion to dismiss

in connection with the Amended Complaint.  

Prior to May 27, 2007, Plaintiff sought medical services at East Valley Whittier Community

Hospital.  Thereafter, Plaintiff began to receive pre-recorded telephonic messages transcribed as

follows: 

We are calling on behalf of - Intercommunity E Slash R M E D Group. This message
is concerning an important business matter intended only for - Christine Cohen. If you
are this person, please contact us at 1-800-783-9118, extension - 450. And when
calling, please refer to Reference Number - 5907994. If you are not this person, please
disregard this message and hang-up.

Am. Compl., ¶ 28-31.  The respective dates of these messages, as alleged by Plaintiff, include

October 2, 2007, October 9, 2007, October 30, 2007 and November 15, 2007.  Plaintiff alleges that

the telephone number contained in the voicemail is answered by debt collectors from CMRE.

Plaintiff believes that the calls were the product of an alleged and disputed debt arising from the

medical services previously sought by Plaintiff at East Valley Whittier Community Hospital.

Plaintiff contends that the voicemails constituted false, deceptive and misleading communications.

The Amended Complaint identifies a nationwide class, subject to certain exceptions, consisting of

all persons who received a voicemail from CMRE “in a connection with the collection of a debt,

which message failed to identify CMRE as the caller, disclose that the communication was from a

debt collector, or state that the purpose or nature of the call was to collect a debt.”  

II. STANDARD OF REVIEW

“The [d]istrict [c]ourt, in deciding a motion under Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6), [is] required to

accept as true all factual allegations in the complaint and draw all inferences in the facts alleged in

Case 2:08-cv-04857-DMC-MF   Document 26    Filed 03/16/10   Page 2 of 9



3

the light most favorable to the [Plaintiff].” Phillips v. County of Allegheny, 515 F.3d 224, 228 (3d

Cir. 2008).   “While a complaint attacked  by a Rule 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss does not need

detailed factual allegations, [ ] a plaintiff’s obligation to provide the ‘grounds’ of his ‘entitle[ment]

to relief’ requires more than labels and conclusions, and a formulaic recitation of the elements of a

cause of action will not do.”  Bell Atl. Corp. v. Twombly,  550 U.S. 544, 555 (2007).  “[A court is]

not bound to accept as true a legal conclusion couched as a factual allegation.”  Papasan v. Allain,

478 U.S. 265, 286 (1986).   “Factual allegations must be enough to raise a right to relief above a

speculative level, [ ] on the assumption that all factual allegations in the complaint are true (even if

doubtful in fact).”  Bell at 555-56. 

III. DISCUSSION

A. Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(b)(3) - Superiority Requirement 

Defendant contends that Plaintiff’s Amended Complaint fails to satisfy the superiority

requirement of Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 23(b)(3).  Specifically, Defendant alleges that the

alleged prospective class is likely to consist of thousands, or even millions of members, and

therefore, any prospective relief would result in de minimus recovery as a consequence of the

statutory cap on damages authorized pursuant to the “FDCPA.”  Therefore, Defendant claims that

the Amended Complaint should be dismissed with respect to the putative class because the proposed

class action is not the superior method of adjudication.    Plaintiff contends that the proposed class

likely numbers in the hundreds, and perhaps thousands, but not the tens of thousands or even

millions as suggested by Defendant. Further, Plaintiff argues that even if the putative class number

rose to the millions, de minimus recovery is not an automatic bar to a class action.  

“The FDCPA sets a $1000 statutory limit on damages awarded in a private actions.”  Weiss
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v. Regal Collections, 385 F.3d 337, 340 n.3 (3d Cir. 2004) (citing 15 U.S.C. § 1692k(a)). “The

statute also limits the amount of damages recoverable in a class action to the ‘lesser of $ 500,000 or

1 per centum of the net worth of the debt collector.’” Id. (citing 15 U.S.C. § 1692k(a)(2)(B)).

To certify a class, Rule 23(a) requires that there be numerosity, commonality, typicality and

adequacy of representation. Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(a).  If Rule 23(a) is satisfied, a class action may be

maintained where “the court finds that the questions of law or fact common to class members

predominate over any questions affecting only individual members, and that a class action is superior

to other available methods for fairly and efficiently adjudicating the controversy.”  Fed. R. Civ. P.

23(b)(3).  Relevant considerations include the following:

(A) the class members' interests in individually controlling the prosecution or defense
of separate actions;

(B) the extent and nature of any litigation concerning the controversy already begun by
or against class members;

(C) the desirability or undesirability of concentrating the litigation of the claims in the
particular forum; and

(D) the likely difficulties in managing a class action.

“The superiority requirement ‘asks the court to balance, in terms of fairness and efficiency, the

merits of a class action against those of alternative available methods of adjudication.’” In re Warafin

Sodium Antitrust Litig., 391 F.3d 516, 534 (3d Cir. 2004). In that case, the Warafin Court stated, 

[n]otably, there are a potentially large number of class members in this matter,
including some 2 million consumers and potentially thousands of TPPs. However,
individual consumer class members have little interest in "individually controlling
the prosecution or defense of separate actions," Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(b)(3)(A), because
each consumer has a very small claim in relation to the cost of prosecuting a lawsuit.
Thus, from the consumers' standpoint, a class action facilitates spreading of the
litigation costs among the numerous injured parties and encourages private
enforcement of the statutes. [internal citation omitted].  
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Id.  Assuming, without concluding, as Defendants contend that the putative class members number

in the millions, efficiency and fairness militate toward class action litigation, rather than timely,

duplicative and costly adjudication in potentially millions of suits by individual claimants.   

Similarly, in Stair v. Thomas & Cook, the United States District Court for the District of New

Jersey certified a class in a FDCPA claim consisting of 46 members and permitting recovery on an

individual basis of $59.78 per claimant from a fund of $2,750.  2010 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 48706, at

*5 n.2 (D.N.J. June 10, 2009); compare Leyse v. Corporate Collection Services, 2006 U.S. Dist.

LEXIS 67719, at *25 n.5. (S.D.N.Y. Sep. 18, 2006).  At this time, reading the Amended Complaint

in the light most favorable to Plaintiff, the Court declines to dismiss the putative class based on an

alleged de minimus recovery.  Therefore, Defendant’s motion is denied.  

B. 15 U.S.C. § 1692 - Communication

Defendant contends that the disputed messages do not convey information regarding debt,

therefore, the messages do not constitute communications pursuant to the FDCPA.  Further,

Defendant alleges that in the absence of a viable claim pursuant to the FDCPA, the representative

action must be dismissed for lack of typicality.  Additionally, Defendant asserts that Plaintiff fails

to plead the factual context in which the communication arose, specifically whether the voicemail

constituted an initial contact or a continuation of prior collection efforts.

By contrast, Plaintiff asserts that the message, identifying a creditor and debt collection

reference number, qualifies as a communication in connection to an alleged debt.  Further, in contrast

to 15 U.S.C. § 1692e, a ‘communication’ as defined by that provision is not required with respect

to the application of the disclosure provisions contained in 15 U.S.C. § 1692d. 

The goal of the FDCPA is to "eliminat[e] abusive debt collection practices by debt collectors
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. . . [and] insur[e] that those debt collectors who refrain from using abusive debt collection practices

are not competitively disadvantaged." Campuzano-Burgos v. Midland Credit Mgmt, 550 F.3d 294,

298 (3d Cir. 2008).  Pursuant to 15 U.S.C. § 1692a, “[t]he term ‘communication’ means the

conveying of information regarding a debt directly or indirectly to any person through any medium.”

“[G]iven the choice language by Congress,”

the FDCPA should be interpreted to cover communications that convey, directly or
indirectly, any information relating to a debt, and not just when the debt collector
discloses specific information about the particular debt being collected. Indeed, a
narrow reading of the term ‘communication’ to exclude instances such as the present
case where no specific information about a debt is explicitly conveyed could create
a significant loophole in the FDCPA, allowing debtors to circumvent the § 1692e(11)
disclosure requirement, and other provisions of the FDCPA that have a threshold
‘communication’ requirement, merely by not conveying specific information about
the debt.

Foti v. NCO Fin. Sys., 424 F. Supp.643, 657 (S.D.N.Y. 2006).  At the same time, “[a] phone call by

a debt collector that in no way regards, or relates to, an outstanding debt would not violate the Act.”

Id. “In determining whether there is a violation of § 1692e, courts apply the least sophisticated

consumer test.”  Id. at 668.

The voicemail left on Plaintiff’s cell phone may be transcribed as follows:

We are calling on behalf of - Intercommunity E Slash R M E D Group. This message
is concerning an important business matter intended only for - Christine Cohen. If you
are this person, please contact us at 1-800-783-9118, extension - 450. And when
calling, please refer to Reference Number - 5907994. If you are not this person, please
disregard this message and hang-up.

Am. Compl., ¶ 28-31.  

Defendant does not assert that voicemail on Plaintiff’s cell phone was in relation to something

other than debt collection, but instead contends that in failing to convey words concerning the alleged
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debt, the message is exempt from the definition of communication within the FDCPA.  Defendant also

seeks to impose a heightened pleading standard, requiring that Plaintiff plead the context in which the

individual messages arose.  The Court disagrees. 

With respect to Defendant’s argument that Plaintiff is required to plead the context of the

communication, the Court disagrees.  First, Defendant is misguided in citing the Costa v. Nat’l Action

Fin. Servs case.  634 F. Supp. 2d 1069 (E.D. Cal. 2007). That case holds that subsequent calls

initiated by a debtor to a creditor, not a creditor to a debtor, do not require a creditor to extend the

standard requisite disclosures mandated by 15 U.S.C. § 1692e.  Id. at 1076.  Defendant’s reliance

upon  Leyse is similarly misplaced.  There, the  Leyse Court determined that pre-recorded messages,

despite the failure of the caller to identify itself as a creditor, or agent of a creditor, and despite the

failure to identify the message as pertaining to debt or finance, constituted a communication with the

meaning of the § 1692e.   Defendant attempts to present the Court with a convoluted argument

hinging on the context in which the communication arose.  Regardless of whether the communication

is an effort to initiate communication or subsequent to an initial communication, it is clear that the

conveyance is subject to the provisions of 15 U.S.C. § 1692e(11).  In accordance with that provision,

[t]he failure to disclose in the initial written communication with the consumer and,
in addition, if the initial communication with the consumer is oral, in that initial oral
communication, that the debt collector is attempting to collect a debt and that any
information obtained will be used for that purpose, and the failure to disclose in
subsequent communications that the communication is from a debt collector
[constitutes a violation].

15 U.S.C. § 1692e(11).  Despite this provision, Defendant seeks to impose an unfounded contextual

distinction and heightened pleading standard that is not otherwise required with respect to Plaintiff’s

FDCPA claim.  
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Moreover, to the extent that Reference Number - 5907994 relates to collection of a debt, the

message constitutes a direct communication in accordance with the definition articulated by 15 U.S.C.

§ 1692e.  At the same time, if debt collection serves as the underlying purpose of the messages

extended to Plaintiff, then the voicemails constitute an indirect communication in accordance with the

definition articulated by 15 U.S.C. § 1692e.  The Court will not permit Defendant to obviate liability

by encrypting messages otherwise intended to extend communications concerning debt collection. On

this ground, Defendant’s motion is denied. 

C. Judicial Notice 

Pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(d), “[i]f, on motion under Rule 12(b)(6) [ ], matters outside the

pleadings are presented to and not excluded by the court, the motion must be treated as one for

summary judgment under Rule 56.   All parties must be given a reasonable opportunity to present all

the material that is pertinent to the motion.”  

Pursuant to that Fed. R. Evid. 201, “[a] judicially noticed fact must be one not subject to

reasonable dispute in that it is either (1) generally known within the territorial jurisdiction of the trial

court or (2) capable of accurate and ready determination by resort to sources whose accuracy cannot

reasonably be questioned.”  Fed. R. Evid. 201.  Further, "[a] 'document integral to or explicitly relied

upon in the complaint' may be considered 'without converting the motion [to dismiss] into one for

summary judgment.'” Kent v. Tabafunda, 2008 U.S. Dist. LEXIS  47649, *9 (D.N.J. June 19, 2008);

See Pension Benefit Guar. Corp. v. White Consul. Indus., 998 F.2d 1192, 1196 (3d Cir. 1993) (“We

now hold that a court may consider an undisputedly authentic document that a defendant attaches as

an exhibit to a motion to dismiss if the plaintiff's claims are based on the document.”).  “Any further
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expansion beyond the pleading, however, may require conversion of the motion into one for summary

judgment.”  Id.; Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(d).  

By way of reply, Defendant requests that the Court take judicial notice of the original

Complaint and an affidavit filed by Defendant in accordance with the instant motion.  Although the

initial Complaint is a matter of public record, the Complaint has been amended.  The Court is

cognizant of the inconsistency underscored by Defendant with respect to the alleged population of the

prospective class.  At the same time, pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6), the Court is required to treat

the allegations contained in the Amended Complaint as true for purposes of this motion.  Further, the

affidavit Defendant seeks to admit is premised upon the contention that an excessive amount of

potential claimants exist diluting prospective recovery.  This allegation is in direct contrast to

Plaintiff’s contention that around a thousand claimants exist.  In light of this disputed claimant

population, judicial notice of the affidavit is improper.   For purposes of the instant motion,

Defendant’s request for judicial notice is denied.

IV. CONCLUSION   

For the foregoing reasons, Defendants’ motion to dismiss Plaintiff’s Amended Complaint is

denied. An appropriate Order accompanies this Opinion. 

 S/ Dennis M. Cavanaugh                        
            Dennis M. Cavanaugh, U.S.D.J.

Dated: March   16  ,   2010
Original: Clerk
cc: All Counsel of Record

Hon. Mark Falk, U.S.M.J.
File  
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NOT FOR PUBLICATION

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
DISTRICT OF NEW JERSEY

CHRISTINE M. NICHOLAS, an individual;
on behalf of herself and all others similarly
situated

Plaintiff,

v. 

CMRE FINANCIAL SERVICES, INC., a
California Corporation; and JOHN and
JANE DOES NUMBERS 1 THROUGH
25,

Defendants.

:
:
:
:
:
:
:
:
:
:

Hon. Dennis M. Cavanaugh

ORDER

Civil Action No. 08-CV-4857 (DMC)

DENNIS M. CAVANAUGH, U.S.D.J.:

This matter comes before the Court upon motion by CMRE Financial Services, Inc.

(“Defendant”) to dismiss the Amended Complaint pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6).  Pursuant

to Fed. R. Civ. P. 78, no oral argument was heard.  After considering the submissions of the parties,

and based upon the Court’s Opinion filed this day;

IT IS this   16th      day of March, 2010;

ORDERED Defendant’s motion to dismiss the Amended Complaint is denied.

ORDERED Defendant’s request for judicial notice is denied.

  S/ Dennis M. Cavanaugh                                                                                 Dennis M. Cavanaugh, U.S.D.J.

Original: Clerk
cc: All Counsel of Record

Hon. Mark Falk, U.S.M.J.
File
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
DISTRICT OF NEW JERSEY

                    CHAMBERS OF         USPO & COURTHOUSE
        MARK FALK                   1 FEDERAL SQ., ROOM 457

UNITED STATES MAGISTRATE JUDGE             NEWARK, NJ 07101
                 (973) 645-3110

April 13, 2010

Philip D. Stern, Esq.
697 Valley Street, Suite 2D
Maplewood, NJ 07040

Joseph J. Schiavone, Esq.
Budd  Larner, PC
150 JFK Parkway, CN 1000
Short Hills, NJ 07078-0999

LETTER ORDER PURSUANT TO RULE 16

Re: Nicholas v. CMRE Financial Services, et al.
Civil Action No. 08-4857  (DMC)                    

Dear Counsel:

A scheduling conference shall be conducted before the undersigned on Thursday, May 13,
2010 at 11:00 a.m. at the U.S. Post Office and Courthouse, 1 Federal Square, Fourth Floor, Newark,
New Jersey.  See Fed. R. Civ. P. 16.1 and L.Civ.R. 16.1(a).

Counsel are advised that the early disclosure requirements of Fed. R. Civ. P. 26 will be
enforced.  Therefore, counsel shall immediately exchange the following information without a
formal discovery request:

• contested facts,

• identities of individuals likely to have knowledge of discoverable facts,

• documents and things in the possession of counsel or the party,

• identities of experts and their opinions,

• insurance agreements in force, and
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• statement of the basis for any damages claimed.

At least fourteen (14) days prior to the conference scheduled herein, counsel shall personally
meet and confer pursuant to Fed .R. Civ .P. 26(f), and shall submit a discovery plan to the
undersigned not later than 72 hours prior to the conference with the Court.  The discovery plan may
include a summary of the status of settlement negotiations.

The parties shall immediately serve interrogatories, limited to twenty-five (25) questions, and
requests for production of documents (no limit).

At the conference with the Court, all parties who are not appearing pro se must be
represented by counsel who shall have full authority to bind their client in all pretrial matters.
Clients or persons with authority over the matter shall be available by telephone.  See L. Civ.R.
16.1(a).

Counsel for plaintiff(s) shall notify any party who hereafter enters an appearance of
the above conference and forward to that party a copy of this Order. 

The parties must advise this Court immediately if this action has been settled or terminated
so that the above conference may be cancelled.

Failure to comply with the terms herein may result in the imposition of sanctions. 

SO ORDERED.

s/Mark Falk                                     
MARK FALK
United States Magistrate Judge
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT  

FOR THE DISTRICT OF NEW JERSEY 
__________________________________________ 
CHRISTINE M. NICHOLAS,    : 
an individual; on behalf of     : 
herself and all others similarly   : 
situated,      : 
       : 
   Plaintiffs,   :   Civ. Action No.  
       :   08-cv-4857 (DMC-MF)  
  - against -    :  
       :   
CMRE FINANCIAL SERVICES, INC.,   : DISCOVERY CONFIDENTIALITY 
a California Corporation; and    : ORDER 
JOHN AND JANE DOES NUMBERS 1   : 
THROUGH 25,     : 
                            :   
   Defendants.   : 
__________________________________________:   
 
 It appearing that discovery in the above-captioned action is likely to involve the disclosure 
of confidential information, it is ORDERED as follows:   
 
 1. Any party to this litigation and any third-party shall have the right to designate as 
“Confidential” and subject to this Order any information, document, or thing, or portion of any 
document or thing:  (a) that contains trade secrets, competitively sensitive technical, marketing, 
financial, sales or other confidential business information, or (b) that contains private or 
confidential personal information, or (c) that contains information received in confidence from 
third parties, or (d) which the producing party otherwise believes in good faith to be entitled to 
protection under Rule 26(c)(1)(G) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure and Local Civil Rule 5.3  
Any party to this litigation or any third party covered by this Order, who produces or discloses any 
Confidential material, including without limitation any information, document, thing, 
interrogatory answer, admission, pleading, or testimony, shall mark the same with the foregoing or 
similar legend: “CONFIDENTIAL” or “CONFIDENTIAL – SUBJECT TO DISCOVERY 
CONFIDENTIALITY ORDER” (hereinafter “Confidential”). 
 
 2. Any party to this litigation and any third-party shall have the right to designate as 
“Attorneys’ Eyes Only” and subject to this Order any information, document, or thing, or portion 
of any document or thing that contains highly sensitive business or personal information, the 
disclosure of which is highly likely to cause significant harm to an individual or to the business or 
competitive position of the designating party.  Any party to this litigation or any third party who is 
covered by this Order, who produces or discloses any Attorneys’ Eyes Only material, including 
without limitation any information, document, thing, interrogatory answer, admission, pleading, or 
testimony, shall mark the same with the foregoing or similar legend: “ATTORNEYS’ EYES 
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ONLY” or “ATTORNEYS’ EYES ONLY – SUBJECT TO DISCOVERY CONFIDENTIALITY 
ORDER” (hereinafter “Attorneys’ Eyes Only”). 

 

 
 3. All Confidential material shall be used by the receiving party solely for purposes of 
the prosecution or defense of this action, shall not be used by the receiving party for any business, 
commercial, competitive, personal or other purpose, and shall not be disclosed by the receiving 
party to anyone other than those set forth in Paragraph 4, unless and until the restrictions herein are 
removed either by written agreement of counsel for the parties, or by Order of the Court. It is, 
however, understood that counsel for a party may give advice and opinions to his or her client 
solely relating to the above-captioned action based on his or her evaluation of Confidential 
material, provided that such advice and opinions shall not reveal the content of such Confidential 
material except by prior written agreement of counsel for the parties, or by Order of the Court.   
 

4.  Confidential material and the contents of Confidential material may be disclosed only 
to the following individuals under the following conditions:  

a. Outside counsel (herein defined as any attorney at the parties’ outside law 
firms) and relevant in-house counsel for the parties;    
b. Outside experts or consultants retained by outside counsel for purposes of this 
action, provided they have signed a non-disclosure agreement in the form attached 
hereto as Exhibit A;  
c. Secretarial, paralegal, clerical, duplicating and data processing personnel of the 
foregoing;  
d.     The Court and court personnel;  
e. Any deponent may be shown or examined on any information, document or 
thing designated Confidential if it appears that the witness authored or received a copy 
of it, was involved in the subject matter described therein or is employed by the party 
who produced the information, document or thing, or if the producing party consents to 
such disclosure;  
f. Vendors retained by or for the parties to assist in preparing for pretrial 
discovery, trial and/or hearings including, but not limited to, court reporters, litigation 
support personnel, jury consultants, individuals to prepare demonstrative and 
audiovisual aids for use in the courtroom or in depositions or mock jury sessions, as 
well as their staff, stenographic, and clerical employees whose duties and 
responsibilities require access to such materials; and  
g. The parties.  In the case of parties that are corporations or other business 
entities, “party” shall mean executives who are required to participate in decisions with 
reference to this lawsuit.  

 
5. Confidential material shall be used only be individuals permitted access to it under 

Paragraph 4.  Confidential material, copies thereof, and the information contained therein, shall 
not be disclosed in any manner to any other individual, until and unless (a) outside counsel for the 
party asserting confidentiality waives the claim of confidentiality, or (b) the Court orders such 
disclosure. 
 

6.  With respect to any depositions that involve a disclosure of Confidential material of a 
party to this action, such party shall have until thirty (30) days after receipt of the deposition transcript 
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within which to inform all other parties that portions of the transcript are to be designated Confidential, 
which period may be extended by agreement of the parties.  No such deposition transcript shall be 
disclosed to any individual other than the individuals described in Paragraph 4(a), (b), (c), (d) and (f) 
above and the deponent during these thirty (30) days, and no individual attending such a deposition 
shall disclose the contents of the deposition to any individual other than those described in Paragraph 
4(a), (b), (c), (d) and (f) above during said thirty (30) days.  Upon being informed that certain portions 
of a deposition are to be designated as Confidential, all parties shall immediately cause each copy of 
the transcript in its custody or control to be appropriately marked and limit disclosure of that transcript 
in accordance with Paragraphs 3 and 4.  

 

 
 7.  Material produced and marked as Attorneys’ Eyes Only may be disclosed only to 
outside counsel for the receiving party and to such other persons as counsel for the producing party 
agrees in advance or as Ordered by the Court.  
 

8.  If counsel for a party receiving documents or information designated as Confidential 
or Attorneys’ Eyes Only hereunder objects to such designation of any or all of such items, the 
following procedure shall apply:  

(a)  Counsel for the objecting party shall serve on the designating party or third 
party a written objection to such designation, which shall describe with particularity the documents or 
information in question and shall state the grounds for objection.  Counsel for the designating party or 
third party shall respond in writing to such objection within ten (10) days, and shall state with 
particularity the grounds for asserting that the document or information is Confidential or Attorneys’ 
Eyes Only.  If no timely written response is made to the objection, the challenged designation will be 
deemed to be void.  If the designating party or nonparty makes a timely response to such objection 
asserting the propriety of the designation, counsel shall then confer in good faith in an effort to resolve 
the dispute.  

(b)  If a dispute as to a Confidential or Attorneys’ Eyes Only designation of a 
document or item of information cannot be resolved by agreement, the proponent of the designation 
being challenged shall present the dispute to the Court initially by telephone or letter, in accordance 
with Local Civil Rule 37.1(a)(1), before filing a formal motion for an order regarding the challenged 
designation.  The document or information that is the subject of the filing shall be treated as originally 
designated pending resolution of the dispute.  
 

9.  All requests to seal documents filed with the Court shall comply with Local Civil Rule 
5.3.  
 

10.  If the need arises during trial or at any Hearing before the Court for any party to 
disclose Confidential or Attorneys’ Eyes Only information,  it may do so only after giving notice to 
the producing party and as directed by the Court.  
 

11.  To the extent consistent with applicable law, the inadvertent or unintentional 
disclosure of Confidential material that should have been designated as such, regardless of whether the 
information, document or thing was so designated at the time of disclosure, shall not be deemed a 
waiver in whole or in part of a party’s claim of confidentiality, either as to the specific information, 
document or thing disclosed or as to any other material or information concerning the same or related 
subject matter.  Such inadvertent or unintentional disclosure may be rectified by notifying in writing 
counsel for all parties to whom the material was disclosed that the material should have been 
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designated Confidential within a reasonable time after disclosure. Such notice shall constitute a 
designation of the information, document or thing as Confidential under this Discovery Confidentiality 
Order.  
 

12.  When the inadvertent or mistaken disclosure of any information, document or thing 
protected by privilege or work-product immunity is discovered by the producing party and brought to 
the attention of the receiving party, the receiving party’s treatment of such material shall be in 
accordance with Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 26(b)(5)(B).  Such inadvertent or mistaken 
disclosure of such information, document or thing shall not by itself constitute a waiver by the 
producing party of any claims of privilege or work-product immunity.  However, nothing herein 
restricts the right of the receiving party to challenge the producing party’s claim of privilege if 
appropriate within a reasonable time after receiving notice of the inadvertent or mistaken disclosure.  
 

13.  No information that is in the public domain or which is already known by the receiving 
party through proper means or which is or becomes available to a party from a source other than the 
party asserting confidentiality, rightfully in possession of such information on a non-confidential basis, 
shall be deemed or considered to be Confidential material under this Discovery Confidentiality Order.  
 

14.  This Discovery Confidentiality Order shall not deprive any party of its right to object to 
discovery by any other party or on any otherwise permitted ground.  This Discovery Confidentiality 
Order is being entered without prejudice to the right of any party to move the Court for modification or 
for relief from any of its terms.   
 

15.  This Discovery Confidentiality Order shall survive the termination of this action and 
shall remain in full force and effect unless modified by an Order of this Court or by the written 
stipulation of the parties filed with the Court.  
 

16.  Upon final conclusion of this litigation, each party or other individual subject to the 
terms hereof shall be under an obligation to assemble and to return to the originating source all 
originals and unmarked copies of documents and things containing Confidential material and to 
destroy, should such source so request, all copies of Confidential material that contain and/or constitute 
attorney work product as well as excerpts, summaries and digests revealing Confidential material; 
provided, however, that counsel may retain complete copies of all transcripts and pleadings including 
any exhibits attached thereto for archival purposes, subject to the provisions of this Discovery 
Confidentiality Order.  To the extent a party requests the return of Confidential material from the 
Court after the final conclusion of the litigation, including the exhaustion of all appeals therefrom and 
all related proceedings, the party shall file a motion seeking such relief.   
 

IT IS SO ORDERED.  
 
 
Dated:                  , 2010  __________________________________________ 
      Mark Falk, U.S.M.J.
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EXHIBIT A  
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT  

FOR THE DISTRICT OF NEW JERSEY  
__________________________________________ 
CHRISTINE M. NICHOLAS,    : 
an individual; on behalf of     : 
herself and all others similarly   : 
situated,      : 
       : 
   Plaintiffs,   :   Civ. Action No.  
       :   08-cv-4857 (DMC-MF)  
  - against -    :  
       :    AGREEMENT TO BE BOUND BY  
CMRE FINANCIAL SERVICES, INC.,   : DISCOVERY CONFIDENTIALITY 
a California Corporation; and    : ORDER 
JOHN AND JANE DOES NUMBERS 1   : 
THROUGH 25,     : 
                            :   
   Defendants.   : 
__________________________________________:   
I, _______________________________, being duly sworn, state that:  
 
1.  My address is _______________________________________________.  
 
2.  My present employer is ___________________________ and the address of my present 
employment is _______________________________________________.  
 
3.  My present occupation or job description is _______________________.  
 
4.  I have carefully read and understood the provisions of the Discovery Confidentiality Order in 
this case signed by the Court, and I will comply with all provisions of the Discovery Confidentiality 
Order.  
 
5.  I will hold in confidence and not disclose to anyone not qualified under the Discovery 
Confidentiality Order any Confidential Material or any words, summaries, abstracts, or indices of 
Confidential Information disclosed to me.  
 
6.  I will limit use of Confidential Material disclosed to me solely for purpose of this action.  
 
7.  No later than the final conclusion of the case, I will return all Confidential Material and 
summaries, abstracts, and indices thereof which come into my possession, and documents or things 
which I have prepared relating thereto, to counsel for the party for whom I was employed or retained.  
 

I declare under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and correct.  
 
Dated:______________________   _______________________________________  

[Name]  
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT  
FOR THE DISTRICT OF NEW JERSEY 

__________________________________ 

 CHRISTINE NICHOLAS, individually 
 and on behalf of herself and all others  
similarly situated 
 

Plaintiff, 
 

v. 
 
CMRE FINANCIAL SERVICES, INC., 
a California Corporation; and JOHN 
AND JANE DOES NUMBERS 1               
THROUGH 25, 
 

Defendants. 

: 
: 
: 
: 
: 
: 
: 
: 
: 
: 
: 
: 
: 
: 

CIVIL ACTION  
 
Docket No.   08-CV-4857 (DMC)(MF) 
 
 
 
 

JOINT DISCOVERY PLAN 
 
            INITIAL CONFERENCE: 
            MAY 13, 2010, 11 A.M. 
 

__________________________________ 
  

 
The parties hereby submit the following joint discovery plan: 

 
1. Set forth the name of each attorney appearing, the firm name, address and 

telephone number and facsimile number of each, designating the party represented. 
 
Counsel for Plaintiff:   PHILIP D. STERN, ESQ. 
     Philip D. Stern & Associates, LLC 
     697 Valley Street, Suite 2d  
     Maplewood, NJ 07040-2642 

(973) 379-7500 
 

Counsel for Defendant:  VIRGINIA A. PALLOTTO, ESQ. 
     Budd Larner, P. C. 
     150 J. F. Kennedy Parkway, 3rd Fl. 
     Short Hills, NJ 07078 
      (973) 379-4800, ext. 4450 
                                                             (973)379-7734 Fax 
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2. Set forth a brief description of the case. 
  
 Plaintiff’s Description of the Case 

 
 Plaintiff asserts claims based on Defendant’s pre-recorded telephone messages left on 

Plaintiff’s voice mail and argues that those messages constitute Defendant’s violations of the 

Fair Debt Collection Practices Act (“FDCPA”), 15 U.S.C. §§1692d(6) and 1692e(11). 

Specifically, Plaintiff alleges that the messages failed to meaningfully identify the Defendant as 

required under 15 U.S.C. §1692d(6) and, as a “communication” under the FDCPA, required the 

disclosures mandated under 15 U.S.C. §1692e(11). 

 On Defendant’s motion to dismiss, the Court ruled that the messages, as alleged, are 

communications under the FDCPA thereby triggering the disclosures under §1692e(11). 

 In its opinion on that same motion, the Court rejected Defendant’s argument that the 

possibility of a de minimis individual recovery in a Fed.R.Civ.P. 23(b)(3) class does not bar class 

certification. 

 Plaintiff does not assert any claim for actual damages either on behalf of herself or on 

behalf of the putative class. Statutory damages under the FDCPA are limited to (1) a maximum 

of $1,000 on Plaintiff’s individual claim, (2) the lesser of (a) 1% of Defendant’s net worth or (b) 

$500,000 for the class. In addition, if Plaintiff prevails, Plaintiff is entitled to recovery of 

attorney’s fees and costs. 

  With respect to class certification, Plaintiff’s amended complaint sought a national class 

but noted the potential for a b(1), b(2) or b(3) class. 

 Defendant’s Description of the Case 

 While contesting liability and the appropriateness of any class certification, Defendant 

CMRE Financial Services, Inc., (“CMRE”) notes that the maximum statutory liability under the 

FDCPA for the individual plaintiff is $1,000 (as plaintiff has not asserted any actual damages) 

and, for the class, damages are capped at the lesser of one percent (1%) of the net worth of the 

defendant or $500,000.  15 U.S.C. § 1692k (2)(A) & (B).  In this matter, one percent (1%) of the 

net worth of the defendant will control and it is substantially less than the $500,000.  The size of 

the proposed nationwide class is estimated to be well over a million individuals.   It is disputed 

Case 2:08-cv-04857-DMC-MF   Document 31    Filed 05/05/10   Page 2 of 6



 
 

Page 3 of 6 
 

that the Court, in its opinion on defendant’s Motion to Dismiss under Rule 12(b)(6), rejected the 

argument that a de minimus recovery for class members precluded class certification; rather, the 

Court noted that there were disputed issues of fact, including as to class size, that could not be 

decided on a Rule 12(b)(6) motion.  

3. Status of Settlement Discussions. 

 The parties have discussed settlement and wish to continue to discuss settlement at the 

upcoming conference.  

4. Description of all discovery conducted to date by the parties, including Rule 26 (a) 
disclosures. 

 
The parties have (or by the Initial Conference will have) exchanged the mandatory 

disclosures pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 26 (a)(1).  

5.        Description of all discovery problems encountered to date, the efforts undertaken by 
the parties to remedy these problems, and the parties suggested resolution.  

 
 None. 
 

6.         The anticipated scope of discovery.  
 
The defendant believes that additional, formal discovery should be stayed pending 

settlement discussions.  Defendant is in need of a Discovery Confidentiality Order that would 

permit it to exchange financial and other information with the plaintiff.  The parties have agreed 

to the form of the Confidentiality Order from Appendix S, which has been or will be submitted 

to the Court at or before the upcoming conference, along with a Declaration from a 

representative at CMRE as to the need for the Confidentiality Order.  Should the case not settle, 

then defendant anticipates the use of interrogatories, document demands and depositions. 

Plaintiff has already communicated her consent to a confidentiality order substantially in 

the form provided in Appendix S to the Local Rules. Plaintiff believes that the requirements of 

discovery is a motivator for bringing about settlement but also recognizes that the costs 
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associated with discovery can impede settlement. Therefore, Plaintiff has no objection to a short 

stay of discovery to allow the parties to explore settlement and, if settlement is not reached, then 

discovery should proceed.   

7.          Whether any party will likely request or produce computer-based or other digital 
information, and if so, the parties’ discussion of the issues listed under the Duty to 
Meet/Confer in L. Civ. R. 26.1(d)(3).  

 
 See discussion above regarding efforts to resolve the case.  It is anticipated that if the 

case is not settled, defendant will produce computer-based information, stored electronically.     

8.        Date by which discovery should be completed. 

 The defendant proposes that a deadline be set to allow for the filing of any joint motion 

for preliminary class approval, and that if the matter does not settle by that date, that the parties 

then engage in formal, additional discovery. See discussion below in paragraph 12. 

 Plaintiff does not object to Defendant’s proposal but states that merits and class 

certification discovery should be completed within six months. Plaintiff does not request 

bifurcation in light of (1) the evidentiary requirements and interplay of merits and class issues 

following In re Hydrogen Peroxide Antitrust Litig., 552 F.3d 305  (3rd Cir. 2008), and (2) many, 

if not all, of the merits issues are also relevant to class certification issues.  

9.     Statement regarding whether expert testimony will be necessary, and the parties’  
anticipated schedule for retention of experts and submission of their reports.  

 
The parties do not anticipate that expert testimony will be needed. Plaintiff requests the ability to 

proffer expert testimony. Plaintiff expects that expert testimony, if any, will relate to Defendant’s 

information technologies with respect to telephone systems and/or automated telephone dialers. 

10.    Statement regarding whether there should be any limitation placed upon the use of 
any discovery device and, if so, the reasons the limitation is sought.  
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  The parties do not seek to change the limitation on discovery imposed by the Fed. R. Civ. 

P. and L. Civ. R.  The parties understand that certain documents provided or to be provided by 

the defendant may include non-public financial, proprietary information and personal 

information.  Therefore, the defendant will be requesting, and the plaintiff has consented to, a 

Discovery Confidentiality Order from Appendix S.     

11.      Any orders, such as data preservation orders, protective orders, etc. which should 
be  entered.  

          In addition to the need for a Discovery Confidentiality Order, the defendant proposes that 

should settlement be unsuccessful and formal discovery be necessary, that any depositions of its 

representatives, all of whom are out-of-state and located in or around the Brea, California area, 

be taken via teleconferencing or videoconferencing to avoid the anticipated expenses and time of 

travel. 

 Plaintiff intends to take, at the very least a Fed.R.Civ.P. 30(b)(6) deposition of 

Defendant’s representative. Plaintiff prefers to conduct that deposition at Defendant’s place of 

business. Plaintiff would have no objection to defense counsel appearing, at Defendant’s 

expense, via teleconference or videoconference, however, Plaintiff intends to take that deposition 

through counsel by personal appearance. Alternatively, Plaintiff has no objection to Defendant 

appearing, at Defendant’s expense, at a mutual agreeable location in New Jersey.   

12.    Proposed dates for filing motions.  

          As the parties are engaged in settlement discussions, the parties propose that a date be set 

for the filing of any joint motion for preliminary class approval by August 13, 2010.   Should the 

parties be unable to settle the matter by that date, then the parties propose to contact the Court 

with an agreed schedule for completion of discovery, dispositive and/or contested class motions 

and the like.   
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 Plaintiff requests that the Court hold a status conference about six weeks prior to the 

discovery end date to resolve any outstanding discovery issues and to set a date for the 

simultaneous consideration of both class certification and dispositive motions. Plaintiff requests 

that dispositive motions be prohibited until that status conference.  

13.    Proposed date for trial.  

        Please see above.  The parties wish to explore settlement.  

  

Dated:  May 4, 2010  

/s/ Philip D. Stern______ 
PHILIP D. STERN, ESQ.  
Attorney for Plaintiff  
 
 
 

Dated:  May 4, 2010 
/s/ Virginia A. Pallotto  
 VIRGINIA A. PALLOTTO, ESQ. 
 Attorney for Defendant 
 CMRE Financial Services, Inc. 
 
 
 

820037.doc 
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PHILIP D. STERN & ASSOCIATES, LLC 

697 Valley Street, Suite 2-D 

Maplewood, NJ 07040 

(973) 379-7500 

Attorney of Record: Philip D. Stern 

Attorneys for Plaintiff, Christine Nicholas 

 

 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

DISTRICT OF NEW JERSEY 

 

 

CHRISTINE M. NICHOLAS, an individual; 

on behalf of herself and all others similarly 

situated, 

 

  Plaintiffs, 

 

 vs. 

 

CMRE FINANCIAL SERVICES, INC., a 

California Corporation; and JOHN AND JANE 

DOES NUMBERS 1 THROUGH 25, 

 

  Defendants. 

 

Case 2:08-cv-04857-JLL-CCC 

 

NOTICE OF APPEARANCE 

 

TO: The Clerk of this Court and all parties of record: 

I am admitted to practice in this Court and I appear in this action on behalf of: 

Plaintiff, Christine Nicholas. 

 Philip D. Stern & Associates, LLC 

Attorneys for Plaintiff, Christine Nicholas 

s/Inna Ryu 

Dated: August 10, 2010 Inna Ryu 
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Ryu, Inna <iryu@philipstern.com>

Activity in Case 2:08-cv-04857-DMC -JAD NICHOLAS v.
CMRE FINANCIAL SERVICES, INC. et al Order
1 message

njdefiling@njd.uscourts.gov <njdefiling@njd.uscourts.gov> Wed, Oct 27, 2010 at 10:03 AM
To: ecfhelp@njd.uscourts.gov

This is an automatic e-mail message generated by the CM/ECF system. Please DO NOT RESPOND to
this e-mail because the mail box is unattended. 
***NOTE TO PUBLIC ACCESS USERS*** Judicial Conference of the United States policy permits
attorneys of record and parties in a case (including pro se litigants) to receive one free electronic copy
of all documents filed electronically, if receipt is required by law or directed by the filer. PACER access
fees apply to all other users. To avoid later charges, download a copy of each document during this
first viewing. However, if the referenced document is a transcript, the free copy and 30 page limit do
not apply.

U.S. District Court

District of New Jersey [LIVE]

Notice of Electronic Filing 

The following transaction was entered on 10/27/2010 at 10:03 AM EDT and filed on 10/27/2010 
Case Name: NICHOLAS v. CMRE FINANCIAL SERVICES, INC. et al
Case Number: 2:08-cv-04857-DMC -JAD
Filer:
Document Number:36(No document attached)

Docket Text: 
TEXT ORDER: A telephone status conference has been scheduled for Tuesday,
11/16/10 at 3:30 p.m. Counsel for plaintiff is to initiate the call to 973-645-2580. SO
ORDERED by Magistrate Judge Joseph A. Dickson on 10/27/10. (nm, )

2:08-cv-04857-DMC -JAD Notice has been electronically mailed to: 

DAVID A. NILES &nbsp &nbsp dniles@budd-larner.com 

INNA RYU &nbsp &nbsp iryu@philipstern.com 

JASON THOR WATSON &nbsp &nbsp jtwatson@panynj.gov, jasontwatson@yahoo.com, mhluch@panynj.gov,
panylit@panynj.gov 

JOSEPH J. SCHIAVONE &nbsp &nbsp jschiavone@budd-larner.com 

PHILIP D. STERN &nbsp &nbsp pstern@philipstern.com 

VIRGINIA A. PALLOTTO &nbsp &nbsp vpallotto@budd-larner.com 

2:08-cv-04857-DMC -JAD Notice will not be electronically mailed to:: 

10/27/2010 Philip D. Stern & Associates, LLC Mail -…

mail.google.com/a/philipstern.com/?ui… 1/2



10/27/2010 Philip D. Stern & Associates, LLC Mail -…

mail.google.com/a/philipstern.com/?ui… 2/2
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